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Corporate Information
KFIEH
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEEFIWE S

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited (“Company”)
and its subsidiaries (“Group”) faced a challenging operating
environment due to fierce competition in the educational services
industry in the last financial year. The declining number of
candidates participating in the Diploma of Secondary Education
Examination (“DSE”) and the difficulty in tutor recruitment and
retention has led to tough market conditions during the year ended
30 June 2018 (“Year").

For the Year, the Group recorded revenue of approximately
HK$109.03 million, representing a decrease of approximately
29.14% compared to the previous year. Loss attributable to owners
of the Company for the Year amounted to approximately HK$8.25
million (2017: loss of approximately HK$333.33 million). During
the Year, the Group recorded gain arising from change in fair value
of financial assets at FVTPL of approximately HK$31.52 million
(2017: loss of approximately HK$210.58 million). In addition,
gain on disposal of subsidiaries and an associate of approximately
HK$13.73 million and HK$55.83 million were recorded
respectively. On the other hand, the Group has impaired (i)
available-for-sale investments of approximately HK$23.77 million;
and (ii) loan and other receivables, in aggregate, of approximately
HK$15.14 million during the Year.

Although revenue has decreased as compared to the previous year,
the Group remained one of the leading private tuition providers in
Hong Kong. The Group maintained its emphasis on optimizing the
provision of private educational services. In line with diversified
business strategy, the Group invested in skill courses business
by acquiring Wind Fly Dragon Int'l Limited (“Wind Fly”), which
specializes in providing a wide range of dancing classes. The
Group is confident that the acquisition will bolster the long-term
competitiveness of its operation and the businesses will bring
synergy effect to the Group.

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited &&#E (B KEEEER A A
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This year has been a challenging yet remarkable year for the
Group. Looking ahead, the Group remains optimistic about the
development prospect of the educational services industry. The
Group will continue to strengthen its core businesses by enhancing
education quality and sustaining good reputation in the industry.

BUSINESS REVIEW
Provision of private educational services

Secondary Tutoring Services

The operating environment of secondary tutoring industry in Hong
Kong was challenging. Affected by the 334 education reform, a
drop in birth rate, and an increasing trend of studying abroad, the
market demand for secondary tutoring service continued to shrink
significantly. This brought huge impact to the Group’s secondary
tutoring service business segment. Facing the severe atmosphere,
the Group actively fine-tuned its marketing strategy and further
enhanced its teaching quality to increase market competitiveness.
During the Year, the Group recorded revenue of approximately
HK$71.64 million, representing a decrease of approximately
33.92% as compared with last year.

Management Discussion and Analysis
EEEMRR S
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEEMRR S

The following table sets forth the number of course enrolments, the TREAMNE Z2018F6 A30H I MEFE S BHE
number of tutors and the average course fees of each category of I ERIZHRIZMZ AN BRI AR FHEE

secondary tutoring courses for the two years ended 30 June 2018:

Year ended 30 June

HE6A30HILLEE

2018 2017
Number of course enrolments (in thousands) RIBWRAB AKX (AFET)
Regular courses EIRGRIE 95 138
Intensive courses BT 10 13
Summer courses ZHIRE 15 25
T.I.P.S. courses e TIIE 4 8
Special courses HRIRE 10 11
Number of tutors (Note 1) BEDAS (H5E1)
Regular courses B ERE 37 42
Intensive courses 1 E I 33 34
Summer courses ZHRIE 37 42
T.I.P.S. courses FER R TIIE 23 28
Special courses HRIRE 23 26
Average course fees (HK$) (Note 2) FHEE (KoL) (MiE2)
Regular courses BHRE 538 560
Intensive courses TERE I 563 572
Summer courses EHRE 454 487
T.I.PS. courses FER BT 596 631
Special courses ERRRE 261 312
Note 1: Tutors may provide secondary tutoring services for all or certain BraEl - BRI AMASRE TEANNREZRETREHER

categories of courses. Thus, the sum of the number of tutors
for the provision of regular courses, intensive courses, summer
courses, T.I.LP.S. courses and special courses is not equal to the
total number of tutors for the year.

Note 2: Being revenue divided by course enrolments for the year. Kraz2 -

%o At AFERREERRE FEL 28
RIE AT R HERRIZOE DA
WARERGENE NS -

BNARFERARARERSE AR -

As of 30 June 2018, the Group had 8 learning centres operated R2018F6 A30H  AEEBSHEMNU [BRRHUE | RigE
under the brand of “Modern Education” IR 5 . BERHERD-

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited &&#E (B KEEEER A A



English Language Training and Test Preparation Courses

Over the past ten years, the Group has been delivering high-quality
English language training and preparation courses to students
and professionals. These courses, such as International English
Language Testing System (IELTS) and Test of English for
International Communication (TOEIC), help students improve
their English skills and prepare for the standardized international
English examinations. During the Year, the Group recorded revenue
of approximately HK$11.24 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 49.90% as compared with last year, and there
were approximately 6,700 (2017: approximately 14,000) course
enroliments during the Year. The significant decrease in number
of enrollments was mainly due to the reduction in the number of
students referred from external agents. The Group continued to
raise its teaching quality. In addition, the Group has been closely
monitoring changes in the market and exploring the feasibility of
further cooperation with existing or potential agents and strategic
alliances in order to boost the revenue in this segment.

Primary Tutoring Services, SkKill Courses and Test Preparation
Courses

Early childhood education has shown enormous positive economic
and social impacts as the Group has striven to expand its
primary tutoring services. It is as important as secondary and
tertiary education. Parents are willing to send their children for
primary tutoring services in the hope of boosting their grades
and enhancing the competitiveness for Secondary School Places
Allocation. In addition, due to long working hours for parents and
an increasing number of cross-border students, the private primary
tuition market has certainly grown over recent years. The Group
has continued to improve its educational quality in order to diversify
and deepen the student learning experience. As of 30 June 2018,
there were 7 directly-owned education centres and 36 franchised
centres operated under the brand “Modern Bachelor Education”
A /NE+ . During the Year, there were approximately 14,400
(2017: approximately 12,700) course enrollments recorded from
directly-owned learning centres and total revenue contributed by
the franchised centres to the Group was approximately HK$4.51
million (2017: approximately HK$4.50 million). The Group will
make continuous investment in this business segment and explore
opportunities for further cooperation with potential business
partners to lay a foundation for greaterer market share and income
source.

Management Discussion and Analysis
EEEMRR S
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEEMRR S

Dance tuition services

On 30 April 2018, the Group completed the acquisition of Wind
Fly, which is running Shelly Lo Jazz & Ballet School, a professional
dancing college for the provision of a wide range of courses
including ballet, jazz dance, yoga, Latin dance and belly dance.
Apart from the adult market, there has also been an increase in the
number of teenagers and children participating in dance exercises.
Dance is one of the approved activities under physical education
under the New Senior Secondary School Curriculum in Hong Kong.
The Group is optimistic about the professional dancing college
and believes crossover programs between the business segments
could generate synergy effect. The Group will actively explore
other cooperation opportunities in this segment and work closely
with potential strategic partners to drive more revenue. During the
Year, the Group recorded revenue from dance tuition services of
approximately HK$2.44 million.

Investments

Properties Investments
During the Year, the Group has completed the disposal of its
interest in two properties.

(i) On 28 August 2017, the Group has completed the disposal
of 60% of the issued share capital of Ultimate Elite
Investments Limited and its subsidiary (“UE Group”), at an
aggregate consideration of approximately HK$89,568,000
(after adjustment) with an independent third party
purchaser and other parties, with its interest in the
properties held by UE Group situated at (i) Offices A-H, J-N
& P on 21/F (Whole Floor); and (ii) Car parking space Nos.
P47, P48 and P49 on the basement floor of Kings Wing
Plaza 1, No. 3 On Kwan Street, Sha Tin, New Territories. An
audited gain on such disposal of approximately HK$13.63
million was recorded during the Year.

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited &&#E (B KEEEER A A

FENBRE
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(i) On 29 September 2017, the Group has completed the
disposal of the entire interest of a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Group, at an aggregate consideration of approximately
HK$30,366,000 (after adjustment), with its interest in
the property situated at Office No. 1303 on 13th Floor of
Argyle Centre Phase |, No. 688 Nathan Road and No. 65
Argyle Street, Mong Kok, Kowloon. An audited gain on such
disposal of HK$100,000 was recorded during the Year.

Subsequent to the above completions, no property has been held
by the Group as at 30 June 2018.

Assets Investments
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL")

The Group has adopted a diversification attitude and allocated
more resources in securities investment during the Year. The Group
acquired listed securities in 7 listed companies in Hong Kong
and disposed of several listed securities in its investment portfolio
during the Year. As at 30 June 2018, the Group had financial
assets at FVTPL with a fair value of approximately HK$74.65
million.

Management Discussion and Analysis
EEEMRR S

(i) ~ M2017F9A29R - AEBTEREEREE2EW
B AR 2 Ef e - 4L {8 4930,366,000/8 7T
(FHER) BRI E AR SLBEE A T 2 E68855
Ko 55 B £ 16557 i A 0 — 1312 1303E ¥
EWEm AFERZLERGRER KR
100,000/ 7T °

R Ll FIRTTRE AR ER2018F6 A30H & #F
BERYE-

EERE

B FlEGAE ([BAFEFAAEBZ]) 2 HE
B

RAFE RAEERRZTENEREYDEEZER
REFRE -RAFE AEEUBEE7THA LT AR
MEMER THEEREHEEFNET LTES-
R2018%F6A30H  AEBERAFEFABEN SR
BEN R TERK74,650,00078 7T ©
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EHE RS

Details of the significant investments in the portfolio under financial ~ R2018F6A30H ' I A FEF ABEZN SR EEMR
assets at FVTPL as at 30 June 2018 are as follows: AANMEXREEFBEOT:
Percentage
held to the total Percentage to
issued share the Group's
capital of Investment audited total
Number of the company/ cost/cost of  Fair value as at assets as at
Description of investment Principal businesses shares held investment acquisiton 30 June 2018 30 June 2018
#2018%
6A30H
EATERT 1#2018% EKE
&/ wE#H RERE/ 6A30H HEERHEE
REEd TERHB FERHBE HERESL {023 HAFE HESL
(approximately) HK$000 HK$000  (approximately)
(#4) FHET FET (#47)
Significant investments
EXRE
Convoy Global Holdings Limited Independent financial advisory business, 348,904,000 2.67% 122,116 38,100 12.06%
(“Convoy”) (stock code: 1019) money lending business, proprietary
investment business, asset management
business, corporate finance advisory
services and securities dealing.
RERFZERERLA BUBMBREK REEH aEREER
(T&E]) (BRHR:1019) BEERER CEREBRRBRESR
==
Other investments
AURE
EJE (Hong Kong) Holdings Limited Manufacture of custom-made furniture, design, 47,500,000 1.64% 4,060 11,638 3.68%
(“EJE Holdings") (stock code: 8101) manufacture and sale of mattress and soft
bed products, securities investment, property
investment and money lending in Hong Kong.
EREm(BR)ERERAA REBRSITHRARE Rt HERBEER
(IERZm]) (RIHRE:8101) BRBRED EARE NEREREE-
Other listed shares* - - - 20,824 15,433 4.88%
ity LR
Unlisted convertible bonds - - - 9,300 8,998 2.85%
FrmAaRES
Heemin Capital Global Enhanced Yield  Invest in low-risk investment grade bonds (above 64 - 503 477 0.15%
Bond Fund (“Heemin Bond Fund”) BB- S&P credit rating) worldwide to generate  participating
stable but more attractive income than those shares
offered by bond market in the Greater China
region.
RERRERERRERES (BELARE 64
HRABB-M E)AERE AR ENREST  R2ERR
HEIRERARSI AHMRA -
Grand total for financial assets at FVTPL 156,803 74,646 23.62%
BATEFABRNEREELS
e Other listed shares included 5 companies whose shares are listed E i F TR 17 BRI RE B A 3 \Eﬁﬁﬁ R

on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Stock Exchange”) and 2 companies whose shares are listed on
GEM of Stock Exchange.

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited &&#E (B KEEEER A A
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During the Year, the Group recorded a gain on the change in fair

value of financial assets at FVTPL of approximately HK$31.52

million. Such gain consists of net realised gain of approximately

HK$31.37 million and net unrealised gain of approximately

HK$0.15 million on fair value changes in financial assets at FVTPL

as detailed below.

Management Discussion and Analysis

EHEFRE S

RAFER AEESFFRAFEFABENERE

ERNRFE

B U 55 4931,520,00078 7T ° LA TR 5 H

RS BREAFEFARENEREEN R FEE
BB B IR W EF FEAI31,370,00008 7T I R # 3R W A
FREZI150,000/ 7T ©

Realised Unrealised

fair value fair value

gain/(loss) gain/(loss)

for the Year for the Year

FEED XEE

SHRATE REBATE

Description of investments (stock code) BEEE (B RR) k& (5i\) k& (5\)

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Convoy (1019) (Note 1) 7 (1019) (Afit1) 28,306 (2,024)

EJE Holdings (8101) SEXR=m (8101) 2,845 7,577
Universe International Financial Holdings Limited EFEE & ®RIZKER A A

(“Universe Int'") (1046) (Note 2) (IBFBEE]) (1046) (HtiE2) (740) -

Heemin Bond Fund (Note 3) Heemin Bond Fund (#/723) 677 (25)

Unlisted convertible bonds LA RRES - (302)

Other listed shares* Hih EmR* 284 (5,077)

Grand total BET 31,372 149

Notes:

(1)

(2)

(3)

Other listed shares included 7 companies whose shares are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and 4 companies whose
shares are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange.

The Group disposed of an aggregate of 351,092,000 shares
of Convoy for an aggregate consideration of approximately
HK$68,682,000 during the Year.

The Group disposed of an aggregate of 9,000,000 shares of
Universe Int'l for an aggregate consideration of HK$7,450,000
during the Year.

The Group redeemed of an aggregate of approximately 7,686
participating shares of Heemin Bond Fund in June and July 2017
at an aggregate redemption price of US$7,850,540.

(2)

& £ B

X Z 2%

By E TR BIE7FR OB FER LT A]
YRR FTGEM_F T 9 2 B] ©

A& B PR EE & A #£351,092,0000% A M -

# (B /R #68,682,0007% 7T ©

A& B R AR E E HE A 9,000,000/ 5 F BB AR
1+ R {E8 57,450,000/ 7T ©

KEBRK2017%6 A &7 A EEB Heemin Bond Fund&
f& 15 - 48 8E [0 (& A7,850,540% 7T
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEEMRR S

Available-for-sale investments

The Group also held significant investments under available-for-sale
investments as at 30 June 2018 as below:

A HHERE

M2018F6A308  AEE R A HEEREE T
BEREEWMT:

Percentage
held to the total Percentage to
issued share the Group's
capital of Investment Carrying audited total
Number of the company/ cost/cost of amount as at assets as at
Description of investment Principal businesses shares held investment acquisition 30 June 2018 30 June 2018
HEKER
EATERT 1#2018% 2018%6A30A
&/ wE#H RERE/ 6A30H WRERAREN
REGHL TERE FERHBE  BERESL {023 HIREE B
(approximately) HK$000 HK$000  (approximately)
(#4) FET FET (#4)
Significant investments
EXRE
Unlisted securities of a company Dealing in securities, securities advisory, - - 30,831 16,114 5.10%
(“Investee”) incorporated corporate finance advisory, asset
outside Hong Kong management and wealth management
services and money lending in Hong Kong.
—BREBBINIMRIZ AR REBREEFER FHER CERE
(IBREF]) 2 FLTESR R BEERRMEERRBIREE.
Other investments
RURE
GET Holdings Limited” Research, develop and distribute computer 21,858,235 4.92% 51,037 9,181 2.90%
("GET") (stock code: 8100) software, mobile phone applications and
toolbar advertisement; invest in securities;
money lending; provide corporate
management solutions and IT contract
services.
BHERBERLT ([85)) RERSHEREN RHEFEAEAR
(B3 145% - 8100) TARES E#RE BE RHCE
ERBAARREAREANRS -
Grand total for the available-for-sale 81,868 25,295 8.00%
investments
AR HERER
# During the Year, the Group disposed of 26,010,000 shares of GET # R GF [ KL B4 E26,010,0008 £ Z 8217 - 441

at an aggregate consideration of HK$13,375,500. The Company
further disposed of all the remaining 21,858,235 shares of GET
held by it after the reporting period. Please refer to note 47 to the
consolidated financial statements for further details.

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited &&#E (B KEEEER A A

187313 375,500/8 7T  RIR & Btk - K2 Al — 2
E R H R FEF21,858 235/ E SR 17 - HRG#E—2
g B2 BFHAMNEAT



During the Year, the Group has fully impaired an unlisted
investment fund established in the Cayman Islands of
approximately HK$9.05 million due to the uncertainty in the
prospect of this investment, the management considered that the
probability to fully recover investment in the investment fund would
be remote.

Performance and future prospects of the Company’s significant

investments

(1)  Convoy
The Convoy shares has been halted since 7 December
2017 and remain suspended up to the date of this report.
The Group noted from the announcement of Convoy dated
1 August 2018 that, since the shares of Convoy have been
suspended from trading on the Stock Exchange for less than
12 months as at 1 August 2018 (“Effective Date”), under
Rule 6.01A(2)(b)(i) of the Listing Rules, the Stock Exchange
may cancel listing of Convoy if the trading in its shares has
remained suspended for 18 continuous months from the
Effective Date. Therefore, if Convoy fails to resume trading
in its shares by 31 January 2019, the Stock Exchange may
proceed to cancel the listing of Convoy, subject to the Stock
Exchange’s right to impose a shorter specific remedial
period under Rule 6.10 of the Listing Rules if appropriate.

In addition, there were a number of changes in the
directorship of Convoy and a number of litigations involving
Convoy and its subsidiaries, whether as plaintiff or
defendant during the recent year. The Directors noted from
the announcement of Convoy dated 19 March 2018 that the
publication of annual results and annual report for the year
ended 31 December 2017 of Convoy will be delayed and
the board of directors of Convoy expected that Convoy and
its subsidiaries may record a loss substantially worse than
the loss recorded in the previous financial year. Up to the
date of this report, no further financial information of Convoy
has been updated. The Directors would continue to closely
monitor the situation of Convoy and formulate appropriate
strategies to protect the interest of the Group.
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EHBEHRR SR
(2) Unlisted securities of the Investee

According to the subscription agreement entered into
among Fastek Investments Limited (“Fastek”), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, being the
subscriber, the Investee and the guarantor in November
2016, the guarantor has guaranteed to Fastek that
the consolidated net profit after tax (“NPAT”) of the
Investee and its subsidiaries (“Investee Group”) for the
year ended 31 December 2017 should be not less than
HK$28,000,000, failing which the guarantor shall pay to
Fastek the shortfall in cash with a multiplier. Based on
the financial information provided from the management
of the Investee Group (“Investee Management”), the
consolidated NPAT of the Investee Group for the year ended
31 December 2017 reached not less than HK$28,000,000
and has met the profit guarantee.

However, the Directors noted from the financial information
provided from the Investee Management that the
unaudited financial results of the Investee Group for the
six months ended 30 June 2018 has a downtrend and
a significant drop in revenue as compared to the year of
2017 and recorded a loss for the period. The Investee
Management explained that the drop in revenue is due to
the fluctuation and uncertainties of the Hong Kong stock
market (including the IPO market) in the first half of year
2018 and other unfavourable factors which significantly and
adversely impacted the Investee’s business. The Investee
Management is actively modifying the business strategies
for the second half of year 2018 to lead the Investee Group
out of the red.
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Other Investments

(i)

(i)

Early Education

Since the ban on “doubly non-permanent resident babies”
in 2012, the number of students from cross border family
has been decreasing continuously. As a consequence,
market demand for the early education in Hong Kong
has continued to shrink significantly. This also brought
negative impact to this business segment. Full Profit Hong
Kong Development Limited and its subsidiary (“Full Profit
Group”), being joint ventures of the Group, are specialized
in providing management and consultancy services in early
education. During the Year, the drop in student enrollment
has led to a decrease in revenue to the Full Profit Group.
The Group will work closely with the joint venture partner
and monitor changes in the market and strive to develop
alternative quality early childhood programs to diversify
revenue of Full Profit Group.

Investment in associate

Interactive Entertainment China Cultural Technology
Investments Limited (“IE China”), whose shares are listed
on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8081), was
accounted for as an associate of the Group (owned as to
approximately 26.66% by the Group) during the Year. On
6 April 2018, the Group through Fastek entered into a sale
and purchase agreement with a vendor, an independent
third party, to dispose of its entire interest in IE China,
representing approximately 26.66% of the issued share
capital of IE China, at the aggregate consideration of
HK$66,860,892. Details of the disposal were disclosed in
the announcement and the circular of the Company dated
6 April 2018 and 25 May 2018 respectively. Completion of
the disposal took place on 15 June 2018 and the Group
ceased to hold any interest in IE China with effect on the
same date.
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Money Lending Business

China Rich Finance Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Group, is a holder of money lender’s license under the Money
Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the Laws of Hong Kong).
The Group has adopted money lending policies and procedures
for handling and/or monitoring the money lending business in
compliance with the Money Lenders Ordinance.

During the Year, the Group recorded loan interest income of
approximately HK$3.46 million (2017: approximately HK$2.98
million) from granting loans to both corporate and individual clients.
The outstanding principal amount of loan receivables as at 30 June
2018 was approximately HK$31.30 million (2017: approximately
HK$26.08 million).

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

During the Year, the Group recorded revenue of approximately
HK$109.03 million, representing a decrease of approximately
29.14% as compared with approximately HK$153.86 million
recorded last year. Such decrease was primarily due to the
decrease in revenue from secondary tutoring services to
approximately HK$71.64 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 33.92% as compared to approximately HK$108.41
million recorded last year. In addition, there was a drop in the
revenue from English language training and test preparation
courses to approximately HK$11.24 million, representing a
decrease of approximately 49.90% as compared to approximately
HK$22.44 million recorded last year. Due to the suspension of the
secondary day school education, no revenue from secondary day
school education was recorded during the Year.

On the other hand, revenue from primary tutoring services, skill
courses and test preparation courses (including franchising
income) was approximately HK$19.67 million, representing an
increase of approximately 12.82% as compared to approximately
HK$17.44 million recorded last year.
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During the Year, the Group recorded loan interest income from
the money lending business of approximately HK$3.46 million
(2017: approximately HK$2.98 million), representing an increase
of approximately 16.33% as compared to last year. Due to the
disposal of relevant subsidiaries during the Year, the Group
recorded rental income of approximately HK$0.57 million (2017:
approximately HK$1.44 million) from investment properties.

Other income, gains and losses

For the Year, the Group’s other income, gains and losses recorded
net gain of approximately HK$55.89 million (2017: net gain of
approximately HK$6.15 million). Such significant increase was
due to the net effect of, among other things, (i) a gain on disposal
of subsidiaries of approximately of HK$13.73 million; (ii) a gain
on disposal of an associate of approximately HK$55.83 million;
and (iii) the impairment loss on loan and other receivables, in
aggregate, of approximately HK$15.14 million being recorded
during the Year.

Staff costs

The Group’s staff costs decreased by approximately HK$16.82
million or approximately 29.02% compared with the last financial
year. Such decrease was mainly attributable to the decrease in
Directors’ remuneration and other staff salaries during the Year.

Tutor contractor fee

The Group’s tutor contractor fee decreased by approximately
HK$16.09 million or approximately 36.73% compared with the
last financial year. Such decrease was in line with the decline in
revenue derived from secondary tutoring services.

Operating lease payments

The Group’s operating lease payments decreased by approximately
HK$4.17 million or approximately 11.02% compared with the
previous year. Such decrease was due to the decrease in monthly
rental payments of the Group as a result of the reduction in number
of secondary learning centres.
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Marketing expenses

The Group’s marketing expenses decreased by approximately
HK$4.09 million or approximately 25.89% compared with last year.
Such decrease was mainly attributable to the reduction in media
placement and various marketing activities during the Year.

Other operating expenses

The Group’s other operating expenses decreased by approximately
HK$2.98 million or approximately 7.14% compared with the
previous year. During the Year, the Group recorded a drop in
various operating expenses, in which building management fees,
consultancy fee, repair and maintenance, sales commission paid
to external party, share-based payment expenses and sundry
expenses, in aggregate, decreased by approximately HK$12.22
million. On the other hand, there was an increase in legal and
professional fee by approximately HK$5.11 million as compared
with last year and a write off of promissory note receivable of
approximately HK$5.53 million was recorded for the Year.

Finance costs

The Group incurred finance costs of approximately HK$3.42 million
from loan notes and bank borrowings during the Year (2017:
approximately HK$16.60 million).

Loss attributable to owners of the Company

Loss attributable to owners of the Company for the Year was
approximately HK$8.25 million (2017: loss of approximately
HK$333.33 million). The decrease in loss was mainly due to the
net effect of, among other things, (i) a gain arising on change in
fair value of financial assets at FVTPL of approximately HK$31.52
million (2017: loss of approximately HK$210.58 million); (ii)
gain on disposal of subsidiaries and associate of approximately
HK$13.73 million and HK$55.83 million respectively; (iii)
impairment loss on available-for-sale investments of approximately
HK$23.77 million; and (iv) impairment loss on loan and other
receivables of approximately HK$15.14 million.
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LOOKING FORWARD

Going forward, the Group will further consolidate its education
business and accelerate the expansion of its primary tutoring
services and skills courses segment. Due to intensifying
competition for the admission to elite secondary schools and
universities and the increasing demand for private tutoring services
from working parents, the Group is confident in the growth prospect
of the education industry. In order to achieve sustainable growth
and positive performance amidst fierce competition, the Group
will enhance the quality of educational services by provision of
comprehensive learning materials and recruitment of professional
tutors. Meanwhile, the Group will also improve the course design
and format of delivery, and maintain reasonable courses fees. The
Group will take cautious steps to carry out business expansion and
operation enhancement in order to unleash market potentials.

The commitment to all-round development of students is another
important strategy of the Group. Dancing is included in the New
Senior Secondary School Curriculum of physical education as one
of the approved activities. To cater for the future development
of this segment, the Group will continue to explore new market
opportunities and expand the scope of educational services.
Despite tough market conditions ahead, the Group will further
strengthen its comparative advantages in tackling difficulties and
challenges.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group has established an appropriate liquidity risk
management system to manage its short, medium and long-term
funding and to satisfy its liquidity management requirements.

As at 30 June 2018, the Group’s total balance of cash and cash
equivalents amounted to approximately HK$42.71 million (30 June
2017: approximately HK$16.28 million), of which 95.35% is held
in Hong Kong dollars and 4.65% is held in Renminbi. Current ratio
(defined as total current assets divided by total current liabilities)
was 8.53 times (30 June 2017: 1.96 times).

As at 30 June 2018, the gearing ratio of the Group was 8.74%
(30 June 2017: 37.79%). Gearing ratio is total debts divided by
the sum of total equity and total debts. Total debts refer to total
liabilities minus the sum of tax payable, deferred tax liabilities and
dividend payable (if any).
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FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES
Previous fund raising activity

The Group had no fund raising activity during the Year. The
Company has fully utilised the net proceeds from the rights issue
of the Company completed on 7 August 2015. During the Year,
the remaining balance from the net proceeds of the rights issue in
the amount of approximately HK$6.14 million (as disclosed in the
annual report of the Company for the year ended 30 June 2017)
has been utilised as intended for the payment of interest and/or
repayment of principal of the loan notes issued by the Company on
17 December 2015.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND TREASURY POLICIES

The Group consistently employed a prudent treasury policy during
its development and generally financed its operations and business
development with internally generated resources and equity and/
or debt financing activities. The Group also adopted flexible and
prudent fiscal policies to effectively manage the Group’s assets and
liabilities and strengthen its financial position.

EXPOSURE TO FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The income and expenditure of the Group are mainly denominated
in Hong Kong dollars and as such the impact of foreign exchange
exposure of the Group was considered minimal. Hence, no hedging
or other arrangements to reduce the currency risk have been
implemented.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 30 June 2018, the Group had a total of 309 employees
(30 June 2017: 196 employees). They receive competitive
remuneration packages that are constantly monitored with
reference to the market circumstances, with incentives such
as discretionary bonuses based on the Group’s and individual
performance. The Group provides comprehensive benefits
packages and career development opportunities.

Pursuant to a share option scheme adopted by the Company on
11 June 2011 (“Share Option Scheme”), the Board may grant
options to eligible persons, including employees and Directors, to
subscribe for shares of the Company. During the Year, no share
options have been granted by the Company pursuant to the Share
Option Scheme.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 30 June 2018, the Group had no significant contingent
liabilities (30 June 2017: nil).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 30 June 2018, there was no capital commitments contracted
for but not provided in the consolidated financial statements
(30 June 2017: HK$9.75 million).

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

The Group had neither asset pledged nor any general banking
facility as at 30 June 2018 (30 June 2017: investment properties
which was classified as “Assets associated with disposal group
classified as held for sale” with carrying value of HK$151.50 million
were pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the
Group).

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
Year.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

During the Year, the Group had the following material acquisition
and disposals:

(i) On 1 June 2017, the Group through Rosy Lane Investments
Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as
vendor) (“Rosy Lane”) and the Company (as guarantor)
entered into a memorandum of understanding with
(among other parties) Keen Elite Developments Limited (as
purchaser), an independent third party, to dispose of 60%
of the issued share capital of Ultimate Elite Investments
Limited, which directly held 100% of the issued share
capital of Vision Smart Limited (i.e. the UE Group) at a
cash consideration of HK$89,568,000 (after adjustment).
The conditional sale and purchase agreement was entered
amongst the parties on 31 July 2017. Details of the disposal
were disclosed in the announcements of the Company
dated 1 June 2017, 17 July 2017, 31 July 2017 and
28 August 2017. Completion of the disposal took place on
28 August 2017 and the Group has ceased to hold any
interest in the UE Group.
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(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

On 27 June 2017 and 28 July 2017, Wise Action Limited
(“Wise Action”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, served notice to redeem its interest in Heemin
Bond Fund respectively in the amount of US$3,875,000
and US$3,975,540, representing approximately 3,794 and
3,892 participating shares in Heemin Bond Fund, both
at the redemption price of US$1,021.36 per participating
share. Details of the redemptions were set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 28 July 2017.

On 24 August 2017 and 25 August 2017, Fastek disposed
of an aggregate of 26,010,000 shares of GET for an
aggregate consideration of HK$13,375,500 (excluding
stamp duty and related expenses). Details of the disposals
were set out in the announcement of the Company dated
25 August 2017.

During the period from August 2017 to October 2017,
Fastek disposed of an aggregate of 351,092,000 shares of
Convoy on the market through the Stock Exchange for an
aggregate consideration of approximately HK$68,682,000
(excluding stamp duty and related expenses). Details
of the disposals were set out in the announcements of
the Company dated 13 September 2017, 20 September
2017, 29 September 2017 and 20 October 2017. Given
that a substantial loss in fair value of the shares of Convoy
(“Convoy Shares”) held by the Group was recorded
during the year ended 30 June 2017, on 20 October
2017, the Company proposed to seek the approval from
Shareholders for the disposal of the Convoy Shares on the
market through the Stock Exchange at the minimum selling
price of not less than HK$0.19 per Convoy Shares. On
23 January 2018, the Board decided not to proceed with
the proposed disposal since trading of the Convoy Shares
has been suspended since 7 December 2017 and there
were a number of changes of directors and management
of Convoy and Convoy and its subsidiaries are involved in
a number of litigations, and the Company considered that
there was inadequate publicly available information for the
Company to provide all necessary information to allow the
Shareholders to make a properly informed decision. For
details, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 20 October 2017 and 23 January 2018.
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(v) During the Year, Fastek disposed of an aggregate of
9,000,000 shares in Universe Int'l on the market through
the Stock Exchange for an aggregate consideration
of HK$7,450,000 (excluding stamp duty and related
expenses). Details of the disposal were set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 8 November 2017.

(vi)  On 6 April 2018, the Group through Fastek (as vendor)
and the Company (as guarantor) entered into a conditional
sale and purchase agreement with Ms. Cheng Hei Yu
(as purchaser), an independent third party, to dispose
of 1,422,572,191 shares of IE China representing
approximately 26.66% of the issued share capital of IE China
at a cash consideration of approximately HK$66,861,000.
Details of the disposal were disclosed in the announcement
and circular of the Company dated 6 April 2018 and
25 May 2018 respectively. Completion of the disposal took
place on 15 June 2018 and the Group ceased to hold any
interest in IE China with effect on the same date.

(vii)  On 22 December 2017, Motion King Holdings Limited
(an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as
potential purchaser) and Azure Swan Limited (“Azure
Swan”, as potential vendor), an independent third party,
entered into a memorandum of understanding in relation
to the possible acquisition of the entire issued share capital
in Wind Fly by the Group. On 13 April 2018, the Group
through Diligent Lush Holdings Limited, an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, as purchaser entered
into a conditional sale and purchase agreement with Azure
Swan as vendor and the guarantor to acquire the entire
issued share capital of Wind Fly at the consideration of
HK$34,000,000. Details of the acquisition were disclosed
in the announcement of the Company dated 22 December
2017 and 13 April 2018. Completion of the acquisition
took place on 30 April 2018 and Wind Fly has become an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, the Group had no other material
acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures during the Year.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENT

As at 30 June 2018, the Group did not have any other plans for
material investment or capital assets save as disclosed in this
report.

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Profiles of Directors and Senior Management

ESRESREEHEBRERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tsang Ka Wai, aged 31, is an executive Director. Mr. Tsang
was appointed as an executive Director on 24 October 2017.
Mr. Tsang obtained a Bachelor of Economics and Finance Degree
from the University of Hong Kong in 2010. Mr. Tsang has been a
senior manager of a publisher of a newspaper focusing on finance
and investments news since 2015.

Mr. Yip Chung Yin Jeffrey, aged 43, is an executive Director.
Mr. Yip was appointed as an executive Director on 10 November
2017. Mr. Yip has over 15 years of experience in the information
technology and marketing sectors, in particular, online marketing,
offline events organizing and big data analysis.

Mr. Wong King Hoi, aged 31, is an executive Director. Mr. Wong
was appointed as an executive Director on 10 November 2017.
Mr. Wong obtained a Bachelor of Nursing degree from the
University of Hong Kong in 2011. Mr. Wong was the president
of a newspaper in Hong Kong which focused on finance and
investments from 2015 to 2017 and is currently a financial
columnist in various newspapers and magazines in Hong Kong.
Mr. Wong has over 10 years of experience in the investment sector.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Jor Stephanie Wing Yee, aged 36, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 10 November 2017.
Ms. Jor obtained a Bachelor of Engineering (Honours) degree and
a Bachelor of Commerce degree from the University of Auckland,
New Zealand in 2005. Ms. Jor is qualified as a Chartered Financial
Analyst of the CFA Institute and as a Chartered Accountant of the
Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand. Ms. Jor has
over 12 years of experience in the accounting and finance sector,
in particular, corporate finance and financial advisory services.

Mr. Leung Ki Chi James, aged 42, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 19 January 2018.
Mr. Leung obtained a Master of Commerce degree from Macquarie
University, Australia and a Bachelor of Business (Accounting)
degree from the Central Queensland University, Australia in 1999
and 1998 respectively. Mr. Leung is a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the CPA Australia.
Mr. Leung has over 16 years of experience in the accounting and
finance sector, in particular, internal control and corporate financial
management.

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited &&#E (B KEEEER A A

PITES

BREEE 31K RWTEF - BLER2017F
I0R24BERERMITES - B R EN010FEBE
BRBEENEMBE LB - BEEB2015FERN
—HKEFRPREREMEORELRBERS AL
He

RAREE 435 RMITEF -EEERN2017F
11AI0RBZEARTESR - EREREMBE LT
LEBEESEERIGFRLR LENBREH A8
RTESRAREB ST @E -

BHULEE 31 AARTES -FHELAER2017F
11BI0HEZ T ARNITESZ -HRENR01IFERE
BRI EEL BT o HA A N20152 20174
EFEE—FRUSBREREATNBRER - BENA
BEREABERANVLEERER - BLERKRER
BEBIOFLS -

BIFRITESE

ERtELL 3657 H2017F11 A 10B EZ T ABL
EMITEE - AL T R2005FESFH B RAEEH S
TRE (%8 )BT2MUREHEEL BN L THE
BB AE 2SN BEOTAIERE U RR
MR ARSI SRS 2T MER LXK
THREFRERBEEBBI2FLER  LEARDER
& RSB RAS 5 e

RHEESE 425 M2018F 1198 BEZEAB L
FENTTE F o 2% £ 5 BIF 19994 K 19984 Y158
MNZEE B KE (Macquarie University) 2 i 218 - £
7 LA KRB R E T3 K (Central Queensland
University) 2% (5 2T 82 - REEREAE
R AE KBNS A rE8E REERETR
CRIASEABLIOF LR LERANBEERDER
BER M-



INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(Continued)

Mr. Fenn David, aged 38, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 10 May 2018. Mr. Fenn obtained his
bachelor of laws degree with honours from the University of Hong
Kong in December 2002. He was awarded the postgraduate
certificate in laws by The University of Hong Kong in June 2003.
Mr. Fenn further obtained a master of laws degree in banking and
finance from University College London, University of London in
the United Kingdom in November 2006. Mr. Fenn was admitted as
a solicitor in Hong Kong in September 2005 and is specialised in
the field of securities compliance, disputes resolution, winding-up
and restructuring. He has been appointed as an adjudicator of the
Registration of Persons Tribunal of Hong Kong since November
2013, a disciplinary panel member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants since February 2016, and a
member of the Appeal Panel (Housing) of the Transport and
Housing Bureau of Hong Kong since April 2017. He is currently an
independent non-executive director of Stream Ideas Group Limited,
a limited company whose shares are listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 8401).

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Lam Yick Tung Philip, aged 44, joined the group in November
2017. He is currently the financial controller and the company
secretary of the Company. Mr. Lam holds a Bachelor of Arts degree
and a Master of Commerce degree from the University of New
South Wales, Australia. Mr. Lam is a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the CPA Australia.
Mr. Lam has over 16 years of experience in the accounting and
finance sector, in particular, financial advisory services.
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Report of the Directors
EFRERE

The directors (“Directors”) of Hong Kong Education (Int'l)
Investments Limited (“Company”) present their annual report and
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company
and its subsidiaries (“Group”) for the year ended 30 June 2018
(“Year”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Details of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries as of
30 June 2018 are set out in note 44 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group as well as discussion
and analysis of the Group's performance during the Year and the
material factors underlying its financial performance can be found
in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” in
this annual report. These discussions form part of this report of the
Directors.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The principal risks and uncertainties related to the business of the
Group are as below:

Talent search risk

The Group depends on its tutors to provide tutoring services
to its students who look for quality test-taking skills, unique
complementary teaching methods and stable tutor-student
relationship. The service contracts of the Group’s tutors with
the Group may not be renewed upon expiry. The business may
be adversely affected if the Group is unable to recruit other
experienced tutors or retain the tutors to support the tutoring
services. The Group will keep searching quality tutors to join us
and will engage new tutors in order to reduce the concentration
of revenue generated from our existing tutors who received the
highest tutor contractor fees.
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Business interruption risk

The Group rents education centres for its business to provide
tutoring services to students. Renewal of leases of education
centres at reasonable price is important for stable development
of the business. The leases may not be renewed upon expiry and
relocation of education centres may be needed. The business may
be adversely affected if the Group is unable to maintain the existing
education centres or to find suitable locations for new education
centres. The Group will renew such leases or licences situated
in prime locations in a timely manner before their expiration
and maintain an updated portfolio of potential premises as back
up options in order to minimise the adverse effect on business
re-location.

Competitor risk

The industry in which the Group operates is in fierce competition.
Decrease in the number of students and increase of small-scale
tutoring centres in the market have deteriorated the market
competition. The Group also faces significant competition in major
programmes offered and geographical locations operated by its
competitors. If the Group fails to retain and attract students, the
market share may drop and the profitability may be adversely
affected. The Group will enhance its competitive advantage through
maintaining of a high-quality teaching team and a good brand
image continuously in order to keep and further increase its market
share.

Infringement risk

Protection of intellectual property rights is of great significance
in society and to the Group’s business. Generally, the laws and
regulations affecting the Group include the Trade Marks Ordinance
(Chapter 559 of the Laws of Hong Kong (“HK Laws”) (“Trade
Marks Ordinance”)) and Copyright Ordinance (Chapter 528 of
the HK Laws (“Copyright Ordinance”)). Violation of such laws and
regulations may expose the Group to litigation risks, which will
adversely affect the financial position as well as the brand image of
the Group. The Group will stay alert to the relevant legal issues and
update its internal policies when necessary to avoid any breach of
the regulatory requirements.

In addition, the financial risk management objectives and policies
of the Group are shown in note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is committed to long term environmental sustainability.
We strive to encourage higher environmental protection awareness
at our offices and education centres by promoting the culture
to consume electricity and natural resources wisely among our
employees. The Group also commits to the principle and practice
of recycling and reduction. The Group implements green office
practices such as encouraging the use of recycled paper for
printing and copying, double-sided printing and copying, reducing
energy consumption by switching off idle lightings, air-conditioning
and electronic and electrical appliances.

The Group will continually review its green practices to integrate
environmental, health and safety management and compliance
considerations into operational processes. The Group also promotes
green awareness amongst and maintains dialogue with employees
and business partners. The Group is determined to improve
environmental performance of the daily business operations
towards establishing a sustainable environment.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory
requirements and has taken measures to minimise the risk of
non-compliance with such requirements which may otherwise lead
to adverse impact on business operation and financial position
of the Group. The Group, which has on-going review on the
newly enacted laws and regulations and has established various
management systems and measures such as internal control
procedures and staff training, constantly monitors the operation
of its business to ensure compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations.

On the corporate level, the Group has complied with the
requirements under the Rules (“Listing Rules”) Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Stock Exchange”) including the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) under
the Listing Rules and the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the HK Laws (“SFQ")), relating to, among others,
disclosure of information, dealings in securities, and corporate
governance.
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On the operational level, the Group has complied with the
Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Chapter 486 of the HK Laws)
and the guidelines recommended by the Office of the Privacy
Commissioner for Personal Data when collecting and processing
data from students. The Group has also paid attention to the
Copyright Ordinance when preparing and delivering teaching
materials. Besides, the Group has complied with the Education
Ordinance (Chapter 279 of the HK Laws) in application of
applicable certificates for running education centres and the
Trade Descriptions Ordinance (Chapter 362 of the HK Laws) in
preparation and publication of advertisements.

On the human resources level, the Group has abided by the
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the HK Laws), Employees’
Compensation Ordinance (Chapter 282 of the HK Laws) Minimum
Wage Ordinance (Chapter 608 of the HK Laws), Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the HK
Laws), equal opportunity legislations (including Sex Discrimination
Ordinance (Chapter 480 of the HK Laws), Disability Discrimination
Ordinance (Chapter 487 of the HK Laws),
Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 527 of the HK Laws) and Race
Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 602 of the HK Laws)) and
Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Chapter 509 of the HK
Laws) to safeguard the health, safety, interests and benefits of the

Family Status

Group’s employees. Details of the Group’s compliance with relevant
laws and regulations are set out in the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report which is set out on pages 58 to 73 of this
annual report.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, the Group has complied
with the relevant laws and regulations during the Year. The Group is
not aware of any material breach or non-compliance with the laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on the business and
operations of the Group.

Relationship with Employees, Customers and Suppliers

(a) Employees

The Group believes that employees are valuable assets. The
Group provides competitive remuneration packages to attract
and motivate the employees. The Group regularly reviews the
remuneration package of the employees and makes necessary
adjustments to conform to the market standard. The Group
is also passionately committed to developing the staff and
provides them with rewarding career paths and people-friendly
working environment.
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(b) Customers

The Group strives to achieve corporate sustainability in
providing quality services to our customers. To ensure
continuous improvement of the quality of services, the Group
regularly reviews its teaching materials in order to meet the
students’ demand and the market trend. The Group believes
that maintaining good relationship with students can help
strengthen its market competitiveness in the industry.

(c) Suppliers
The Group understands the importance to work closely
with our suppliers (who are mainly our tutors) to ensure the
sustainability of our business. The Group has established long
standing relationships with our suppliers and ensure they
share our commitment to quality and ethics.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s operation for the Year by business
activities is set out in note 7 to the consolidated financial
statements and the paragraphs headed “Business Review” under
of this

the section of “Management Discussion and Analysis”

annual report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
financial statements on pages 86 to 87 of this annual report.

The board of the Company (“Board”) does not recommend the
payment of a final dividend for the Year (2017: nil).

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published consolidated results and assets and
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on
page 240 of this annual report. This summary does not form part of
the audited consolidated financial statements.

DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group during the Year amounted
to HK$123,816 (2017: HK$437,870).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in note 15 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the Year are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the bye-laws
of the Company (“Bye-laws”) or the laws of Bermuda, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to
existing shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”).

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief on taxation available to
the Shareholders by reason of their holdings of the shares of the
Company (“Shares”). If the Shareholders are unsure about the
taxation implications of purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing
in, or exercising of any rights in relation to the Shares, they are
advised to consult their professional advisers.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the Year are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on page 91 of this annual report and the
statement of financial position of the Company in note 46 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves available for distribution of the
Company during the Year are set out in note 46 to the consolidated
financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Income from the Group’s five largest customers in aggregate
contributed to less than 30% of the Group’s total income during the
Year.

During the Year, tutor contractor fee paid/payable to the Group’s
top five tutors, who entered into service contracts with the Group,
accounted for 55.07% of the Group’s total tutor contractor fee for
the Year (2017: 62.10%), and tutor contractor fee paid/payable to
the Group’s topmost tutor accounted for 25.18% of the Group’s
total tutor contractor fee for the Year (2017: 23.87%). None of the
Directors, their close associates as well as substantial Shareholders
(which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital) was anyone out of such top five
tutors (2017: none).
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Contracts with the other five largest suppliers of the Group,
excluding the independent tutors, combined by values which are
not of a capital nature, contributed to less than 30% of the total
value of supplies purchased by the Group during the Year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and as at the date of this annual
report are as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Tsang Ka Wai (appointed on 24 October 2017)
Mr. Yip Chung Yin Jeffrey (appointed on 10 November 2017)
Mr. Wong King Hoi (appointed on 10 November 2017)
Mr. Lee Wai Lok Ignatious

(resigned with effect from 9 November 2017)
Mr. Wong Yuk Tong (retired with effect from 19 December 2017)
Ms. Wu Mei Chu (resigned with effect from 21 December 2017)

Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Ms. Jor Stephanie Wing Yee (appointed on 10 November 2017)
Mr. Leung Ki Chi James (appointed on 19 January 2018)
Mr. Fenn David (appointed on 10 May 2018)
Mr. Pun Kwok Shan (resigned with effect from 26 October 2017)
Mr. Ong Chi King (resigned with effect from 9 November 2017)
Mr. Lee Shu Fai (retired with effect from 19 December 2017)
Mr. Fong Chak Kiu (appointed on 24 October 2017 and

resigned with effect from 10 May 2018)

Pursuant to Bye-law 84 of the Bye-laws, at each annual general
meeting of the Company (“Annual General Meeting”), one-third of
the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple
of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall
be subject to retirement at least once every three years and the
retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election. Mr. Tsang Ka Wai
and Ms. Jor Stephanie Wing Yee will retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming Annual General
Meeting.
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INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE

DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, the Company has

BUFRTEEZEHIUE
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received from each of Ms. Jor Stephanie Wing Yee, Mr. Leung ZREEELENBEELESEMREB I EMELNE

Ki Chi James and Mr. Fenn David an annual confirmation of
independence. Based on these confirmations, the Company

considers each of such Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the Directors has entered into either a service contract or a

letter of appointment with the Company as follows.

Name

4]

Contract type
CLokokd

BB AL

EENREENH

Directorship term

EEEN

ERHERH -REZFERK ARAARBZFTEFTY

REZCDHARFFTLATRESHOHEERM -

Prior notice of
termination

BiEZEREHN

Mr. Tsang Ka Wai

BRERE

Mr. Yip Chung Yin Jeffrey

REExLE

Mr. Wong King Hoi

BHIRE

Ms. Jor Stephanie Wing Yee

ERfert

Mr. Leung Ki Chi James

REBRE

Mr. Fenn David

Service contract

R & 4

Service contract

AR 7%

op

g
4

Service contract

R & 4

Letter of appointment

ZER

Letter of appointment

RERMH

Letter of appointment

ZAER 1

Fixed term of three years commenced on
24 October 2017
B2017F10A24B TR E R A=F

Fixed term of three years commenced on
10 November 2017
B2017F11R10E Bt BEE R A =5F

Fixed term of three years commenced on
10 November 2017
B2017F11R10B st EE R R =5

Fixed term of three years commenced on
10 November 2017
B2017F11 108 TR EHRA=F

Fixed term of three years commenced on
19 January 2018
B2018F1A19B BB FEHRA=F

Fixed term of three years commenced on
10 May 2018
B2018F5A 108 st EIE R A=

Two-month notice in
writing
W{EAZmBA

Two-month notice in
writing

i {E A & EE A

Two-month notice in
writing

w8 A & i A

Two-month notice in
writing
W{E A ZmBA

Two-month notice in
writing

W& A EmBA
Two-month notice in

writing

w8 A & i A
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These appointments are subject to directors’ retirement from
office and retirement by rotation under the Bye-laws. None of
the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting has entered into a service contract with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation other
than statutory compensation.

UPDATE OF INFORMATION PURSUANT TO RULE
13.51(B)

Since 1 February 2018, the emolument payable to Mr. Yip
Chung Yin Jeffrey, an executive Director, has been increased
from HK$30,000 per month to HK$50,000 per month due to his
increased duties and work load in the business and other aspects
of the Group. Save as disclosed, there is no information relating to
the Directors which is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
13.51(B)(1) of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Group are set out on pages 24 to 25 of this annual report.

DIRECTOR’S INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

The Company or its subsidiaries entered into a number of
transactions with entities in which an executive Director had
substantial shareholding. On 30 April 2016, Mr. Lee Wai Lok
Ignatious (“Mr. Lee”), a former executive Director (resigned
with effect from 9 November 2017) and the sole shareholder of
Sense Publishing Company Limited (“Sense Publishing”), and
Sense Publishing entered into a service contract with the Group,
pursuant to which Sense Publishing agreed to (i) procure Mr. Lee
to provide tutoring services to students of the Group; and (ii) grant
a sole, exclusive and non-transferable licence to the Group to use
and reproduce the teaching materials prepared by Mr. Lee for
the tutorial courses organised by the Group for secondary school
students and conducted by teaching assistants with the said
teaching materials for a term of three years from 1 July 2016 to
30 June 2019. Further details of the transaction are disclosed in
note 43 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Save as disclosed above, no transaction, arrangement or contract of
significance, to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a
party, and in which a Director or an entity connected with a Director
had a material interest, directly or indirectly, subsisted during or at
the end of the Year, nor was there any contract of significance in
relation to the Group’s business between the Company or any of its
subsidiaries and a controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 30 June 2018, none of the Directors or chief executive of
the Company had any interest or short position in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO; or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as the share option scheme of the Company disclosed in
note 36 to the consolidated financial statements, at no time during
the Year and up to the date of this annual report was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement that would
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate, and none of the Directors or any of their spouses or
children under the age of 18 were granted any right to subscribe
for equity or debt securities of the Company or any other body
corporate, nor had exercised any such right.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ OR OTHERS'’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 30 June 2018, the Company has not been notified of any
person (other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company)
who had or was deemed or taken to have any interests or short
positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which were recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
336 of the SFO, or which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
and the Stock Exchange under provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into by the Company or subsisted during the Year.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS

As set out in the prospectus of the Company dated 20 June
2011, according to the non-competition deed (“Non-competition
Deed”) entered between the Company and the then controlling
shareholders of the Company (“Controlling Shareholders”)
and certain non-competing covenantors (“Non-Competing
Covenantors”) on 7 June 2011, the non-compete period under the
Non-Competition Deed refers to the period during which:

(a) in the case of the Controlling Shareholders, any of the
Controlling Shareholders or his/its respective associate is a
controlling shareholder of the Company within the meaning of
the Listing Rules in force from time to time;

(b) in the case of the other Non-Competing Covenantors, any
of them is interested in 5% or more of the total issued
share capital of the Company from time to time or such
Non-Competing Covenantor is a Director or member of the
senior management of the Group; and

(c) the Shares are and remain listed on the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Lee resigned as an executive Director with effect from
9 November 2017 and Beautiful Choice Investments Limited
(“Beautiful Choice”, a company wholly-owned by Mr. Lee) ceased
to be a shareholder interested in 5% or more of the total issued
share capital of the Company with effect from 23 October 2017.
Accordingly, the non-compete period for Mr. Lee and Beautiful
Choice respectively expired on 9 November 2017 and 23 October
2017.As at 30 June 2018, the non-compete period has expired for
all covenantors of the Non-Competition Deed.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

During the Year and up to 1 April 2018, permitted indemnity
provision (as defined in section 9 of the Companies (Directors’
Report) Regulation (Chapter 622D of the HK Laws)) was in force for
the benefit of the Directors.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY OF THE GROUP

The emolument policy for the employees of the Group is set up
by the management on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence, and comparable market statistics. The Directors’
fees and other emoluments shall be subject to shareholders’
approval at general meetings or determined by the Board with the
recommendation of the Remuneration Committee with reference
to the Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and
the results of the Group. The employees and directors of the
Group may be rewarded with share options for the securities of
the Company under the share option scheme of the Company as
detailed in the section headed “EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENTS -
Share option scheme” below.

EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed below, during the Year, the Company has not
entered into any other equity-linked agreement (as defined in
section 6 of the Companies (Director’'s Report) Regulation (Chapter
622D of the HK Laws)).

Share option scheme

The Company adopted a share option scheme (“Scheme”)
pursuant to a resolution passed on 11 June 2011 so as to attract
and retain the best available personnel and to provide additional
incentive to the eligible participants under the Scheme. Pursuant to
the Scheme, the Board is authorised, at its absolute discretion and
subject to the terms of the Scheme, to grant options to subscribe
for the shares of the Company (in such form then existing and
subject to adjustment) to any employees (full-time or part-time),
directors, consultants, supplier(s), customer(s), joint venture
partner(s), business associate(s) and advisor(s) of the Group.
The Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten years
commencing on 4 July 2011 (“Effective Date”) and expiring on the
business day immediately preceding the 10th anniversary of the
adoption date of the Scheme, i.e. 10 June 2021.
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An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within 21 days
inclusive of the day on which such offer is made. The amount
payable for the grant of an option by the grantee to the Company
on acceptance of the offer is HK$1.00. The subscription price of a
share of the Company in respect of any particular option granted
under the Scheme shall be a price solely determined by the Board
and notified to a participant and shall be at least the highest of:
(i) the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of the
option; (ii) the average of the closing prices of the shares of the
Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets
for the 5 business days immediately preceding the date of grant of
the option; and (iii) the nominal value of a share of the Company on
the date of grant of the option.

The initial total number of shares of the Company which may
be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
must not exceed 10% of the shares in issue on the Effective Date.
The Company may at any time refresh such limit, subject to the
Shareholders’ approval and issue of a circular in compliance with
the Listing Rules, provided that the total number of shares of the
Company which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under all the share option
schemes of the Company does not exceed 30% of the shares
of the Company in issue from time to time. The total number of
shares of the Company issued and to be issued upon exercise of
the options granted to each participant (including both exercised
and outstanding options) in any 12-month period up to and
including the date of grant must not exceed 1% of the shares of
the Company then in issue unless approved by the Shareholders in
accordance with the Listing Rules.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Scheme at any time during a period as the Board may determine
which shall not exceed ten years from the date of grant subject to
the provisions of early termination thereof.
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On 23 January 2017, options to subscribe for 45,631,488 new
ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each in the share capital of the
Company were granted under the Scheme. During the Year, none
of such share options was exercised. All of the 45,631,488 share
options have lapsed on 22 January 2018 under the conditions of
grant. During the Year, save as disclosed above, no share option
was granted, outstanding, cancelled, lapsed or exercised under the
Scheme.

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of securities
available for issue under the Scheme was 54,757,088 Shares of
HK$0.05 each, which represented 10% of the total issued Shares.

Further details of the Scheme and details of movements in the
share options are set out in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

OTHER RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions for the Year set out in note 43 to
the consolidated financial statements, the tutor contractor fee to
Mr. Lee and the loan interest income from Progress Ever Limited
constituted connected transactions or continuing connected
transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Directors
confirm that the Company has, where applicable, complied with the
disclosure and independent shareholders’ approval requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

PENSION SCHEME

Details of the pension scheme of the Group are set out in note 45
to the consolidated financial statements.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the significant events occurring after the reporting period
of the Group are set out in note 47 to the consolidated financial
statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has applied the principles in and adopted the code
provisions of the corporate governance code set out in Appendix 14
to the Listing Rules as its own corporate governance code (“CG
Code”). During the Year, the Company has complied with all the
provisions of the CG Code except for the deviations as disclosed in
the Corporate Governance Report which is set out on pages 41 to
57 of this annual report.

Report of the Directors
EEERE

R2017%1A23R EREBEZTERE AT RBEARR A
% A F45,631,4880% & A% T H0.057%8 7T #T & & A &Y
BRE-RAFE ZEZBRERRETE-MEZX
£45,631,48817 & Ak 1 B AR 1B 4% I 15 14 70 20184F 1 A
RAKRM-RAFE B EXHBEEI ZFHEIR
TREERBREER L  WARTTE Bl KRBT
e

RAFHRBAE ZA BT HBETNESRER
54,757,088 & I E1{H0.0578 7T 8 I £ 1h 2 B 1TAX
7 HEH10% °

ZETEIME— PR B RBREESHNFBREN A FR
e MR HmR M TES6 -

HthEALRS
REMBMRMTBAARFENBEALRS ([
FRESNEBRABBARKREEXRERARNER
ME)RIE LR RAE VAT BREER ZAFFERE
RP-EEFHR ARRCRERBRTET LR
AIE14AT IR TR KB IR VLR TE

Btk & et E
AEBENRAREET BTN E M HRRM 45 -

BEN®RER

AEENHERROBEAEHFBHNRAMBEER
BEE47 -

fTxER

ARTFIEFEM LR R ER14P7 8 & %58 57 Rl
BRI R ERAETRERXERER G EE AT
(TEEERTA]) -RAFEAR KRB ETEE
BORST IR 1630 HEARFREBALESTAAEA D
EERMEMEENREESHERIN

ANNUAL REPORT 2018 4 #

39



40

Report of the Directors
EEERE

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, there is sufficient public
float of not less than 25% of the Company’s issued shares as
required under the Listing Rules during the Year and as at the date
of this annual report.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the two years ended
30 June 2017 were audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
(“HLB"), who resigned as the auditors of the Group on 23 May
2018.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June
2018 were audited by Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited (“Baker
Tilly”), who were appointed as the auditors on 23 May 2018 to fill
the casual vacancy following the resignation of HLB. Baker Tilly
will retire at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the
re-appointment of Baker Tilly as auditors of the Company is to be
proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Yip Chung Yin Jeffrey
Executive Director
Hong Kong, 26 September 2018
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Corporate Governance Report

The board (“Board”) of directors (“Directors”) of Hong Kong
Education (Int'l) Investments Limited (“Company”) is committed
to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance within
a sensible framework with an emphasis on the principles of
transparency, accountability and independence. The Board
believes that good corporate governance is essential to the
success of the Company and its subsidiaries (“Group”) and the
enhancement of shareholders’ value.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has applied the principles in and adopted the code
provisions of the corporate governance code set out in Appendix 14
to the Rules (“Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) as
its own corporate governance code (“CG Code”). During the year
ended 30 June 2018 (“Year”), the Company has complied with all
the provisions of the CG Code and the Listing Rules except for the
deviations as disclosed below:

Following the resignation of Mr. Lee Wai Lok Ignatious (“Mr. Lee”)
as a Director and the chief executive officer of the Company
(“CEQ”) on 9 November 2017, the role of the CEO was and
remains outstanding as at the date of this annual report, which
constitutes deviation from Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.
Following the resignations of Mr. Lee and Mr. Ong Chi King
(who also resigned as a Director on 9 November 2017), the
Company had only two independent non-executive Directors and
two members of the audit committee of the Company (“Audit
Committee”), who did not have the appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise, and there were only two members and without a
chairman for the remuneration committee of the Company
(“Remuneration Committee”). This constituted non-compliance
with the minimum number requirement and requirement of
professional qualifications under Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.21
of the Listing Rules, and non-compliance with the requirement that
the Remuneration Committee must be chaired by an independent
non-executive Director under Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules. Please
refer to the Company’s announcement dated 9 November 2017 for
further details.
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Following the appointment of Mr. Yip Chung Yin Jeffrey, Mr. Wong
King Hoi and Ms. Jor Stephanie Wing Yee each as a Director on
10 November 2017, the Board comprised five executive Directors
and three independent non-executive Directors. As a result,
the composition of the Board, the Audit Committee and the
Remuneration Committee has met with the requirements under
Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2), 3.21 and 3.25 of the Listing Rules. Please
refer to the Company’s announcement dated 10 November 2017
for further details.

Following the retirement of Mr. Wong Yuk Tong as a Director and
the chairman of the Board (“Chairman”) at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 19 December 2017, the role of
the Chairman was and remains outstanding as at the date of this
annual report, which constitutes deviation from Code Provision A.2
of the CG Code. In addition, following the retirement of Mr. Wong
Yuk Tong and Mr. Lee Shu Fai (who also retired as a Director on
19 December 2017), the Company had only two independent
non-executive Directors and two members for the Audit Committee.
This constituted non-compliance with the minimum number
requirement under Rule 3.10(1) and Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules.
Please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 19 December
2017 for further details.

Following the appointment of Mr. Leung Ki Chi James as a Director
on 19 January 2018, the Board comprised three executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors. As a
result, the composition of the Board and the Audit Committee has
met with the requirements under Rules 3.10(1) and 3.21 of the
Listing Rules. Please refer to the Company’s announcement dated
19 January 2018 for further details.

As at the date of this report, the positions of the Chairman and
the CEO remained vacated as the Company has not been able to
identify suitable candidates for the positions.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors. Having made
specific enquiries of the Directors, each of the Directors confirmed
his/her compliance with the required standard set out in the Model
Code throughout their term of office during the Year.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises six
members, three of whom are executive Directors, namely Mr. Tsang
Ka Wai, Mr. Yip Chung Yin Jeffrey and Mr. Wong King Hoi. The
other three members are independent non-executive Directors,
namely Ms. Jor Stephanie Wing Yee, Mr. Leung Ki Chi James and
Mr. Fenn David.

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in “Profiles
of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 24 to 25 of this
annual report.

Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company and overseeing the Group's businesses, strategic
decisions and performance. The Board has established various
Board committees and has delegated to these Board committees
various responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of
reference. All Directors have carried out their duties in good faith
and in compliance with the standards of applicable laws and
regulations, and have acted in the interests of the Company and its
shareholders (“Shareholders”) as a whole at all times.

The Board takes responsibility for all major matters of the Company
including: the approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall
strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management
systems, material transactions (in particular those that may involve
conflicts of interest), financial information, appointment of Directors
and other significant financial and operational matters. During the
Year, 14 Board meetings were held to perform the above mentioned
duties and responsibilities.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information
as well as the advice and services of the company secretary of
the Company (“Company Secretary”), with a view to ensuring
that Board procedures and all applicable rules and regulations
are followed. Each Director is normally able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s
expense, upon making request to the Board.
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Management Functions

While the Board is responsible for the overall strategic direction and
governance by considering and approving the Group’s strategies,
policies and business plan, the functions of implementing the
approved strategy and policies as well as managing the day-to-day
operations and administration are delegated to the executive
management. The functions and work tasks are periodically
reviewed by the Board.

Appointments of the Directors are subject to retirement from office
and retirement by rotation under the bye-laws of the Company
(“Bye-laws”) and the CG Code.

In accordance with the CG Code, any new Director appointed to fill
a causal vacancy shall be subject to election by shareholders at the
first general meeting after the appointment, and according to the
Bye-laws, any new Director appointed as an addition to the Board
shall hold office only until the next following annual general meeting
of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at that
meeting. Pursuant to the Bye-laws, at every annual general meeting
of the Company one-third of the Directors (or, if their number is not
three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to, but not
less than, on-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that
every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall
be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
A retiring Director is eligible for re-election at that general meeting.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Directors’ training is an ongoing process. During the Year, all of the
Directors received regular updates and presentations on changes
and developments of the Group’s business and the legislative and
regulatory environments in which the Group operates. All Directors
are also encouraged to attend relevant training courses. Effective
from September 2012, all Directors are required to provide the
Company with his or her training record on a yearly basis. During
the Year, each of Mr. Tsang Ka Wai, Mr. Yip Chung Yin Jeffrey,
Mr. Wong King Hoi, Ms. Jor Stephanie Wing Yee, Mr. Leung Ki Chi
James and Mr. Fenn David participated in appropriate continuous
professional development activities by ways of attending training or
reading materials relevant to the Company’s business, amendments
on Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the HK Laws) and the
Listing Rules, or directors’ duties and responsibilities.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Under Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the
chairman and the chief executive officer should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual.

During the Year, Mr. Wong Yuk Tong performed the role of the
Chairman until his retirement on 19 December 2017. Mr. Wong
provided leadership for the Board and was responsible for chairing
meetings, managing the operations of the Board and ensuring that
all major and appropriate issues were discussed by the Board in
a timely and constructive manner. He was also responsible for the
strategic management of the Group and for formulating the Group’s
overall corporate direction and focus.

During the Year, Mr. Lee performed the role of the CEO until his
resignation on 9 November 2017. Mr. Lee was responsible for
the overall management and operations of the Group. He was
also responsible for running the businesses of the Group and
implementing the Group’s strategic plans and business goals.

As at the date of this annual report, the positions of the Chairman
and the CEO remained vacated as the Company has not been able
to identify suitable candidates for the positions.

Since 19 December 2017 when the position of Chairman has
remained vacated, to facilitate discussion of all key and appropriate
issues by the Board in a timely manner, the executive Directors
have actively co-ordinated with the senior management of the
Company to provide adequate, complete and reliable information to
all Directors for consideration and review.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Board has during the Year met the requirements of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive Directors,
the Board under the CG Code with at least one independent
non-executive Director possessing appropriate professional

representing at least one-third of

qualifications, or accounting or related financial management
expertise, except for the deviations as detailed under the section
headed “CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES”
Corporate Governance Report. All independent non-executive

in this

Directors were appointed for a specific term of three years.
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Pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, the Company has
received a written confirmation of independence from each of the
independent non-executive Directors. The Company considers
all independent non-executive Directors to be independent in
accordance with the independence guidelines set out in the Listing
Rules.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Lam Yick Tung Philip was appointed as the Company Secretary
on 21 December 2017 and is responsible for facilitating the Board
processes, as well as communications among Board members,
with Shareholders and management. During the Year, Mr. Lam has
taken not less than 15 hours of the relevant professional training to
update his skills and knowledge.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

As at the date of this annual report, the Remuneration Committee
comprises one executive Director and two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Jor Stephanie Wing Yee
(chairman of the Remuneration Committee), Mr. Yip Chung Yin
Jeffrey and Mr. Fenn David.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include (but
without limitation): (i) making recommendations to the Board
on the policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors
and the senior management and on the establishment of a
formal and transparent procedure for developing policies on
such remuneration; (ii) determining the remuneration packages
of all individual executive Directors and the senior management
and making recommendations to the Board of the remuneration
of non-executive Directors; and (iii) reviewing and approving
compensation payable to the executive Directors and the senior
management for any loss or termination of office or appointment to
ensure that it is consistent with the relevant contractual terms and
is otherwise fair and not excessive.
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Director Remuneration Policy

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee held six meetings
to review the remuneration policy and remuneration packages
of the Directors and the senior management and assessed the
performance of the executive Directors in accordance with the
Remuneration Committee's written terms of reference. Emoluments
payable to the executive Directors are subject to shareholders’
approval at general meetings or determined by the Board with
reference to such executive Director’s duties, responsibilities and
performance and the results of the Group. No executive Director
can be involved in deciding his or her own remuneration.

The annual remuneration of the members of the senior
management by bands for the Year is set out below:

Remuneration bands

FhEA#E B

Corporate Governance Report
LRELIBE

EE MR R

RAFER FMEESBTNREZUREFIHE
EEmMEHBEEEENTFHERIEFESRER
BoFmMEa ARFEATEFNRR - BHRTE
ENMEBAEBRRIBERAS LA EIHAEZTEL
SEZHTESTNRY BELKRARAKEXEE
E-MENTESN2ABEESSHM-

RAEE RAJNE D 2 RERERE 2 FEFM
;T

Number of Individual

AR

Nil to HK$1,000,000 = 21,000,000 7T
Details of the remuneration of each Director for the Year are set out
in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

As at the date of this annual report, the Nomination Committee
comprises one executive Director and two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Fenn David (chairman of the
Nomination Committee), Mr. Tsang Ka Wai and Ms. Jor Stephanie
Wing Yee.

The major functions of the Nomination Committee is to assist
the Board to identify suitable individuals qualified to become
Board members, assess the independence of independent
non-executive Directors, propose re-election of retiring Directors,
review the structure, size and composition of the Board and make
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board adopted a board diversity policy (“Policy”) with effect
from 1 September 2013. The Company continuously seeks to
enhance the effectiveness of the Board and to maintain the highest
standards of corporate governance and recognises and embraces
the benefits of diversity in the Board. A diversity of perspectives can
be achieved through engaging directors in possession of diversified
skills, regional and industry experience, educational background,
race, gender and other qualities, etc. The composition, experience
and balance of skills of the Board are regularly reviewed to ensure
that the Board retains a core of members with longstanding
knowledge of the Group alongside new Director(s) appointed from
time to time who bring fresh perspectives and diverse experience
to the Board. The Board appointments will continue to be made on
a merit basis and candidates will be considered against objective
criteria, with due regard for the benefits of diversity in the Board.
The Board will continue to review the Policy to ensure its continued
effectiveness on an annual basis.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee held five meetings to
nominate new Directors, review the structure, size and composition
of the Board, and review the arrangement for re-election of all
the retiring Directors at the forthcoming general meetings of the
Company and the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

As at the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee
comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely
Ms. Jor Stephanie Wing Yee (chairman of the Audit Committee),
Mr. Leung Ki Chi James and Mr. Fenn David. The primary duties
of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board by providing an
independent review of the effectiveness of the financial reporting
process, internal control and risk management systems of the
Group, overseeing the audit process and performing other duties

and responsibilities as assigned by the Board.

During the Year, the Audit Committee held three meetings to review
the annual and interim results of the Group and terms of reference
of the Audit Committee, make recommendations to the Board and
the management in respect of the Group’s financial reporting and
internal control procedures, and recommend new auditors for the
Group.
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The Audit Committee has also reviewed, with the management and
the Company’s auditors, the Group’s significant internal controls
and financial matters in accordance with the Audit Committee’s
written terms of reference and made relevant recommendations to
the Board. The Audit Committee’s review covered the audit scope
and findings, external auditor’s independence and performance,
the Group's accounting principles and practices, the Listing
Rules and statutory compliance, connected transactions, internal
controls, risk management, financial reporting matters (including
the interim and annual financial reports for the Board’s approval)
and the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of
staff of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function
as well as their training programmes and budget.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is collectively responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties with written terms of reference equivalent
to Code Provision D.3.1 of the CG Code. During the Year, the
corporate governance policies of the Company were reviewed by
the Board. The Board also reviewed the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and the senior
management, the Company’s compliance with the CG Code,
disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report and the policy on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements.
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ATTENDANCE OF DIRECTORS AT MEETINGS

The attendance of the Directors at the general meetings of the
Company, meetings of the Board, the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee during
the Year are set out below:

EFHEEmmR

e
=

#BELZREEER FHEZ
ZIERBNEIAT -

Number of meetings attended/held

&
=)
EeemikiRttEe

HE/ BTRRAH

Annual Special Audit Remuneration Nomination

General General Board Committee Committee Committee
Director meeting meetings meetings meetings meetings meeting
s BREFXE BRENIAE O8N WNZREeH FHZAeEN RETAGER
Executive Directors BiTESE
Mr. Wong Yuk Tong TEREE 1 NATER 414 NATER NATE R 33
Mr. Lee Wai Lok, Ignatious FEEESE NANER NARE R 33 NANE A 202 NARE R
Ms. Wu Mei Chu BERLL n NATE R 5/5 NAZT R NATER NATEF
Mr. Tsang Ka Wai FELE 1 11 12112 NAT &R NATRE R 22
Mr. Yip Chung Yin Jeffrey ZBEhEE it 1n 10710 NANE A 33 NARER
Mr. Wong King Hoi BUAAE 11 1 910 NARE R N/ATRE A NATRE
Independent non-executive Directors BIFHTES
Mr. Ong Chi King TFHEE NANE R N/ARE R 33 11 22 NARER
Mr. Lee Shu Fai TEBEE o1 NARER 4/4 11 33 313
Mr. Pun Kwok Shan BEWEE NATE A NATE A 22 1 mn 202
Mr. Fong Chak Kiu FEDRE 1n N/ARE R 10110 11 4/5 33
Ms. Jor Stephanie Wing Yee TRRRL on 1 1010 202 33 202
Mr. Leung Ki Chi James PEBEE NATE A 1n n 202 NATE A NAT &R
Mr. Fenn David BEEEE NATNE R 1 212 11 N/ARE R NARER
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year. The
Directors have prepared the consolidated financial statements of
the Group on a going concern basis, and have selected appropriate
accounting policies and applied them consistently, with applicable
disclosures required under the Listing Rules and pursuant to the
relevant statutory requirements.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s external auditors,
Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited (“Baker Tilly”), are set out in the
section headed “Independent Auditor's Report” on pages 74 to 85
of this annual report.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for maintaining the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems of the Group which
are designed to manage and mitigate risks, rather than eliminate
risks, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has reviewed the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group, which covers financial, operational,
compliance procedural and risk management functions, and
considered the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function. The Board concluded
that the risk management and internal control systems are
adequate and effective.

Main Features of Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

The key elements of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems include the establishment of a risk register to
monitor the identified risks, the assessment and evaluation of
risks, the continuous updating of risk responses for the key risks
identified to ensure the effectiveness of the mitigation procedures
are in place. Furthermore, a risk matrix approach is adopted to
determine the significance of the risk after evaluation of the risk
in accordance with the likelihood and impact of the risk event
identified.
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While the Board has the overall responsibility to ensure that sound
and effective internal controls are maintained, the management
is responsible for designing and implementing internal control
systems to manage all kinds of risks faced by the Group.
The operating units and support functions are facilitated and
coordinated by the management, and ensure that risk management
processes and mitigation plans follow good practices and guidelines
established in their day-to-day operations.

The Group’s risk management activities are performed by
management on an ongoing process. The effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems is evaluated
at least annually to update the progress of risk monitoring efforts.

Process used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks

The Group develops a preliminary inventory of events that could
influence the achievement of the Group’s business objectives.
The Group identifies outside and inside events by reviewing its
external and internal environment and stakeholders, which have an
influence or potential influence on the Group’s ability to achieve its
strategy and business objectives.

The risks identified are evaluated with a risk matrix which prioritises
risks according to the likelihood of their occurrence and the
significance of their impact on the achievement of the Group’s
business objectives. Following the review of the risk matrix, the
Group selects and deploys the corresponding risk responses and
investigates the mitigation procedures to be executed to ensure the
identified significant risks were managed to an acceptable level.

Process used to review the effectiveness of the Risk
Management and Internal Control Systems

The Board has reviewed the need for an internal audit function
and are of the view that in light of the size, nature and complexity
of the business of the Group, it would be more cost effective to
appoint external independent professionals to perform internal
audit function for the Group in order to meet its needs. The Board
continues to review the need for an internal audit function annually.
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During the Year, an independent consultant (“Consultant”) was
engaged to perform a review on the risk management and internal
control systems. The Consultant has reported findings and areas
for improvement to the Board and management. The Board and
management are of the view that no material defects are noted in
the Group's risk management and internal control systems. The
recommendations from the Consultant are properly followed up by
the Group to ensure that they are implemented within a reasonable
period of time. The Board considers the Group's risk management
and internal control systems are adequate and effective and no
significant control failings or weaknesses was identified for the Year.

Inside Information Policy

The Group has established policies for the handling and
dissemination of inside information for purposes of strengthening
the confidentiality of inside information, maintaining the fairness
of information disclosure and protecting the legal interests and
rights of the investors. The Group is in compliance with Part XIVA
and relevant parts of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the HK Laws) and the Listing Rules. The Group
has reasonable measures on keeping the sensitive information
confidential and ensure that the inside information of the Group
is disseminated to the public timely, completely and accurately.
In addition, each personnel is granted a specific level of access
to the price sensitive and inside information. The Directors, senior
management and employees are informed with the latest regulatory
updates.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The fees paid or payable to the Company’s auditors, Baker Tilly,
for their audit and non-audit services provided for the Year were
HK$680,000 and HK$220,000 respectively. The non-audit services
refers to the services provided by Baker Tilly who acted as the
reporting accountants of the Company in respect of the Company’s
disposal of IE China, which constituted a very substantial disposal
for the Company under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company maintains a two-way communication channel to
report the performance of the Company to the Shareholders
and investors. Annual reports, accounts and interim reports
containing full details of the Company’s activities are despatched
to the Shareholders and investors. Such reports and other
announcements of the Company can be accessed on the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

To ensure disclosures are made to the Shareholders and investors
effectively, and to ensure that the same information is made
available to the public at the same time, price sensitive information
is released in the form of official announcements in accordance
with the Listing Rules.

In addition, the Company maintains contact with the Shareholders
through annual general meetings or other general meetings, and
encourages the Shareholders to attend those meetings.

Notice of general meeting is sent by mail to the registered
Shareholders. Agenda and resolutions are set out in the notice of
general meeting.

A proxy form for use at a general meeting of the Company is
enclosed with the notice. Shareholders who do not intend or are
unable to be present at the meeting should fill out the form and
return the same to the branch share registrar and transfer office
of the Company in Hong Kong, so as to appoint a representative,
another Shareholder or the chairman of the meeting as their proxy.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for shareholders to convene a general
meeting

The following procedures are subject to the Company’s Bye-laws,
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (“Act”) and applicable
legislation and regulation.

1. An annual general meeting of the Company shall be held in
each year. General meeting, other than an annual general
meeting, shall be called a special general meeting and may
be held in any part of the world as may be determined by the
Board.

2. Shareholder or Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of
the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of
the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Company’s registered office or head office
in Hong Kong at Rooms 1006-7, 10/F., China United Centre,
28 Marble Road, North Point, Hong Kong, for the attention
to the Board or the Company Secretary, to require a special
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction
of any business specified in such requisition. Such meeting
shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within twenty-one days of such deposit
the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the
requisitionists themselves may do so in accordance with the
Act.

3. The written requisition must state the purposes of the
meeting, and must be signed by the requisitionists and may
consist of several documents in like form, each signed by one
or more of the requisitionists. The requisition will be verified
with the Company’s branch share registrar and upon their
confirmation that the requisition is proper and in order, the
Company will ask the Board to convene a special general
meeting by serving sufficient notice in accordance with the
statutory requirements to all the registered Shareholders.
On the contrary, if the requisition has been verified as not
in order, the Shareholders concerned will be advised of this
outcome and accordingly, a special general meeting will not
be convened as requested.
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Procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals

The following procedures are subject to the Company’s Bye-laws,
the Act and applicable legislation and regulation.

1. Either (i) the Shareholders holding not less than one-twentieth
of the total voting rights of those Shareholders having the right
to vote at such meeting; or (ii) not less than one hundred
Shareholders, at the expenses of the Shareholders concerned,
can submit a written requisition to move a resolution at a
general meeting or a statement of not more than 1,000
words with respect to the matter referred to in the proposed
resolution or the business to be dealt with at a particular
general meeting.

2. The written requisition must be signed by the requisitionists
concerned and deposited at the Company’s registered office
or head office in Hong Kong at Rooms 1006-7, 10/F., China
United Centre, 28 Marble Road, North Point, Hong Kong,
for the attention of the Company Secretary, not less than six
weeks before the meeting in the case of a requisition requiring
notice of a resolution and not less than one week in the case
of any other requisition.

3. The requisition will be verified with the Company’s branch
share registrar and upon their confirmation that the requisition
is proper and in order, the Company Secretary will ask the
Board to (i) include the resolution in the agenda for the
annual general meeting; or (ii) convene a special general
meeting by serving sufficient notice in accordance with the
statutory requirements to all the registered Shareholders,
provided that the requisitionists concerned have deposited a
sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses in
giving effect thereto.
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Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director

The following procedures are subject to the Company’s Bye-laws,
the Act and applicable legislation and regulation.

If a Shareholder wishes to nominate a person (“Candidate”) to
stand for election as a Director at the general meeting, documents
including, (i) a written notice signed by the concerned Shareholder
expressing his/her intention to propose the Candidate for election
as a Director at the general meeting; (i) a written notice signed
by the Candidate indicating his/her willingness to be elected,
together with the Candidate’s biographical details as required to
be disclosed under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules; and (iii) the
Candidate’s written consent to the publication of his/her personal
data, must be validly lodged at the Company's registered office or
head office in Hong Kong at Rooms 1006-7, 10/F., China United
Centre, 28 Marble Road, North Point, Hong Kong or at Tricor
Investor Services Limited, the Company’s branch share registrar
and transfer office in Hong Kong at Level 22, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong within the period specified
in the Bye-laws (the period for lodgment of such notices shall
commence on the day after the despatch of the notice of the
general meeting appointed for such election and end no later than
seven days prior to the date of such general meeting).

Detailed procedures for the Shareholders to propose a Candidate
for election as a Director are available on the Company’s website at
www.hkeduii.com.

Procedures for sending enquiries to the Board

Specific enquiries by Shareholders requiring the Board's attention
can be sent in writing to the Company Secretary at the Company’s
head office in Hong Kong at Rooms 1006-7, 10/F., China
United Centre, 28 Marble Road, North Point, Hong Kong. Other
general enquiries can be directed to the Company through those
communication channels as shown on the Company’s website at
www.hkeduii.com.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENT

There is no change in the Company’s constitutional documents
during the Year.
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As a company based in and serving Hong Kong, Hong Kong
Education (Int'l) Investments Limited (“Company”, and its
subsidiaries collectively as the “Group”) is fully committed to
environmental protection and corporate social responsibilities and
is equipped with strict corporate governance practices. Pursuant
to the requirement of the Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting guide in Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock
Exchange”), the Group has prepared this report (“ESG Report”)
relating to environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) impacts
and policies of the Group.

The scope of this ESG Report covers the Group’s initiatives
on introducing the concept of ESG to internal and external
stakeholders, putting them into daily practices, and summarising
the results for the reporting period. It is also the management’s
intention to provide an overview of the Group’s direction in
managing ESG related issues, driving for ESG enhancement
initiatives in our daily operations, and communicating the Group's
ESG performance results with stakeholders. The reporting period of
this ESG report is from 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018 (“Reporting
Period”). During the Reporting Period, the Group was principally
engaged in the provision of private educational services, investment
in securities, property investments and money lending business.
We consider the provision of private educational services our core
business and this ESG Report mainly covers discussions relating to
this business.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY
IDENTIFICATION

The Company set out below its efforts to minimise the negative
influence of the Group’s operations on the environment, to promote
employees’ well-being and to contribute to the local community.

In addition, the Group engaged and commissioned a professional
firm to draft the ESG Report, and conducted a materiality analysis
in the form of a management interview during the drafting process.
The sustainability related issues which are particularly material to
the Group were identified during the process and reported in the
later part of this ESG Report.
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The following table shows the key stakeholders of the Group as  FRIIARAEENTEERNE RANEBNMABZE
well as how the Group communicate with them through a variety of EERREETER

channels.
Internal Stakeholders External Stakeholders
AEBF R E SEBBRE
e The board of directors (“Board”) EE& ([EEg ) e Shareholders f& &
e The management (“Management”) EIE2E ([EIEE]) e Investors & H
e Other employees H b {2 8 e  Customers &5
e Suppliers HER
e Local Community Groups ZNith 1t B¥
Engagement methods: 2HHK:
Meetings, interviews, direct mail and e-mail, staff performance €& - #HA BREFEEHHENSFHME B TR
appraisal interviews, internal newsletters, annual general meeting, Sk MEPEA BERBAFAL BREFHIAE AE
special general meetings, announcements and circulars. No3B K o
Table 1. Engaged Stakeholder list and methods =1l 2HEEOHERERITN
ENVIRONMENT BN

The Group is committed to supporting the young generation REBHR NIRRT IFER —REBRETHRELAREZIR
for their prosperous future, and providing them with the best {HEIFHMHE - B—HE AEEBRHEHEEKLE
education. On the other hand, the Group is determined to minimise HIRISEKN T EREHZERINEGHEE-

its impact to the environment resulting from its business operations

for the wellbeing of the community.

The Group conducted a materiality assessment to identify the NEB AERNBA SR EKNIREERETTEERE
environmental impact resulting from its daily activities. As the Mo AR AEEFEAEZTRNIRE (MR EHEKX
Group is mainly operating in an indoor environment (such as BRHELPRAZT)SE U NTHEHERAKRER
classrooms and offices located in commercial buildings), the 4R AL L IR AT AL W IR IS FE AL N FI S ) = B8 -
following are identified as the key areas which the Group’s

operations may adversely impact the environment:

e Electricity consumption; e EBEHERE:

e Paper consumption; o MIRIEFES

e Non-hazardous wastes; and e MBMEEEY: R
e Water consumption. o IKIHFEC

As the Group's principal activities did not involve industrial activity, AR ANEENTEZSHTES N TEEE - RENH
combustion or other heavy energy related operations, the impact e EeeRMBESE  PTASIRIEERNTEY &=
caused to the environment is not significant. Ko
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Greenhouse Gas Emission

The Group measured its greenhouse air emissions across all its
administrative offices and education centres, and results indicated
that there is no air emission (as regards pollutants regulated under
the laws of Hong Kong) emitted or discharged into the air, land or
sea as a result of the Group’s operations in the Reporting Period.

Carbon Emission

As discussed in the previous section, the Group does not generate
direct air pollutant through its operation. Instead, the Group
indirectly generates carbon dioxide from its electricity consumption
in the classrooms and office premises. The Group is actively
managing and exploring measures to reduce carbon emission
and has achieved success for the past 3 years mainly by means
of reducing electricity consumption. As shown in Chart 1 below,
the amount of carbon emission has been steadily decreasing for
3 consecutive years. During the Reporting Period, the carbon
emission for the Group from electricity consumption was 510tCOze.
The Group will continue to monitor its greenhouse gas emissions
from electricity consumption data which is available on the
electricity bills and the sustainability report from the electricity
provider to achieve better results.

The Group will also continue to manage the consumption pattern
of electricity, and work with its employees to enhance overall
performance and minimise future carbon footprint. Please refer
to the paragraph headed “Use of Resources” in this ESG Report
for the Group’s policies on electricity conservation and the results
achieved.
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Chart 1. Carbon Emission Performance
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Waste Management

As the Group’s principal businesses are operated in an indoor
environment in commercial buildings, the Group does not involve,
generate, discharge or handle any form of hazardous waste into the
air, land or sea. The Group generate non-hazardous wastes mainly
in the form of general wastes and recyclable wastes.

Since the majority of the generated wastes are office general
wastes (i.e.: paper), the focus of the Group's waste reduction policy
focuses on promoting reduction of paper consumption and paper
recycling, and the appropriate use of recycled paper in workplaces,
such as:

° promote efficient printing to avoid unnecessary print-outs by
setting computer defaults to double-sided printing and making
double-sided printing and copying when possible;

° use recycled paper for internal communication in workplaces
where possible;

e drive for a paper-less and e-platform working environment
through communications via emails and e-format documents
instead of hard copies; and

e  deploy recycling bins to collect used paper products, such as
waste paper and envelopes where possible.

BE -MERELIRE
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BE - HERELSEE

Use of Resources

As an environmental-friendly organisation, the Group has been
promoting the culture of “Wise Resource Consumption” of
natural resources for years, and its employees are mindful of
their consumption of natural resources, especially in respect of
electricity, water and paper, which are the major consumables
for the Group’s and its franchisees’ operations in the education
business. The Group’s operations do not involve the use of
packaging materials. “Wise Resource Consumption” includes
electricity conservation practices, and measures to reduce water
and paper consumption. These practices were successfully
implemented in various indoor premises of the Group throughout
the Reporting Period. Green tips were provided to employees as
constant reminders for responsible use of natural resources.

The Group is pleased to present its consumption data of natural
resources in the Reporting Period as follows:

RiFER

ER—EIERFROEE AREZFR-—ERES
SERER]RREROE MEBRVIERAHX
REIREVEFE - LERE S KRARAE Mk =38
EEDNRAREREFTFEERNBEEBT 2B
HiEm - ARENEBLESNERBEMH -TEE
BB BRESEREE SR KRR REREEE-
ZEEBECRNBERRRNEERNGHAAET-EE
MERMRR/ N T AR EREREAREERER
ARXAEIR -

AEBMAZINREHRORABERERBEENAT

Consumption Item Unit Total Amount
HEEEA B Hwe
Electricity & kWh F EBF 948,361
Water 7K m3 37 5 K 683
Detergent Y& &2 LA 259
Paper # 3Rk kg 7 1,910,979
Electricity Consumption Intensity & /134 &% E kWh/customer &% & P AT{G T ELES 6.04
Water Consumption Intensity 7K H 2 & m3/customer &% & BTG 3 75 K 0.004

Table 2. 2017-2018 Resource Consumption Summary
F2. 2017FE2018FEREREME
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BR - IERELHRSE
The Environment and Natural Resources BRERXRER
The Group is constantly reminding its employees to be cautious  AEBEFERBREEFEH ST BAENIENEHIET
about excessive or unnecessary consumption behaviours, B ERIEE N RIKERE

especially on electricity and water consumption.

Energy BT

As part of the “Wise Resource Consumption” policy, various ERIEEERERIBEN—H 5 &HME RHI=H
measures are enforced to ensure energy (i.e. mainly electricity) is TR EEEUAERER (FEZREH)EBUER - 5l
utilized efficiently. For example: -

e use notices posted in the office premises to remind employees o AR AERAEM IREESEFREZ &%’E%ﬁ?)?
to turn off electronic or electrical equipment after use or NEFBREFRERRE WEE ITHK - F
before leaving office (including lights, photocopier, computer MRES

screen, etc.);

e introduce natural light and use energy-saving lightings . BESIABARY R AETREEA:
wherever it is feasible;

e clean the air filter of air-conditioners regularly to ensure cool e THIERELHANTERBREHR BRALITHIE
air flow efficiency; R

e put the computer in sleep mode instead of using a screen o THEAEREBAURRKFEEREREZN X
saver; and

e set the air conditioner to 25.5C for an energy efficient o HZ=FRERE ABEK25.0EMENREIRE  #R
environment instead of excessive cooling. BR e

The result of the Group’s previous three reporting period in energy ~ ANEB R BEIMER S B 2 R EFEMR RO T :
consumption can be found as below:

Group Electricity Consumption Performance
AEBELHEHFEMRR
1,400,000
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®0oe,
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Chart 2. Electricity Consumption Performance

2. | EFAERR
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Water

The main sources of water consumption for the Group are through
toilet flushing, water tap and drinking water. The Group engages
external janitors to regularly clean the water taps and toilet bowls.
The Group encounters no difficulty in sourcing water that is fit
for such purposes. Employees are reminded to reduce water
consumption with good practices, where tips and slogans posted in
resting areas and toilets to:

e  control water flow at the tap to avoid over usage;

e  turn off tap when applying soap; and

° perform regular maintenance on water taps to get rid of
wastage.

The result of the Group’s previous three reporting period in water
consumption can be found as below:

*

AEBE AR EIRBRETFEIPRIK  KBEE A K
KRR REEBFINLBERTERFRKER
K 51 - N BN R BE A U A R 1 KR I 88 8
EAIRE - MRS R MOEF ARG/ MRE
REEEEERFBEMHOMAK K:

L THIKBEEAKRE B BEFER

o MABKIEEHRMKER: &

o HUKEEBE(FEHIMERE HERE-

AEBEREEERE R[22 AAGRROT :

Group Water Consumption
rEBRAKE
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The Group will keep monitoring and improving performance on
consumption level and further initiatives shall be implemented if
necessary.

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HEH A (BE)REEEER A F
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Chart 3. Water Consumption Performance
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SOCIAL

The Group is committed to providing the best education
environment to the future generation. It also understands the
importance of a quality staff team and in particular its tutors in
the private education services industry. The management upholds
the belief that human resource is the most valuable asset of the
Company, and thus offers competitive remuneration packages,
and other fringe benefits in order to retain and attract high-calibre
talents.

The Group’s core human resource principle is built under the
vision to treat all employees equally and fairly, and comply with all
related employment laws and regulations. The Group will continue
to monitor and improve in areas whenever needed, and continue to
grow sustainably and in a socially responsible manner.

EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES

Results from the materiality assessment show that topics relating to
“Employee” is the upmost vital attribute for the Group. The Group
understands success heavily relies on team members’ experience,
and the quality and stability of the workforce. The Group thus
aims to attract, develop and maintain the best team of professional
teaching staff, and to provide a healthy working environment for
all employees with work-life balance. The Group's Staff Handbook
is issued and provided as a guidance for employees, stating goals,
policies and procedures and conducts to be followed by the Group,
its management and the employees.

The relevant laws and regulations that have significant impact
on the Group relate to those on compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination and other benefits and
welfare during the Reporting Period. The Group’s employment
contracts and the Staff Handbook are strictly in compliance with
the statutory requirements, including provisions of Employment
Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong (“HK Laws”)),
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of
the HK Laws), Minimum Wage Ordinance (Chapter 608 of the
HK Laws), Sex Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 480 of the HK
Laws), Disability Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 487 of the HK
Laws), Family Status Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 527 of the
HK Laws) and Race Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 602 of the
HK Laws). The Group is not aware of any non-compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations relating to employment matters during
the Reporting Period.

BE -HERELSEE
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Remuneration

The Group operates its business with a competitive remuneration
scheme in order to attract and retain talents. The Group
participates in Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme for all
qualified employees. Our employees’ remuneration is determined
with reference to the prevailing market level in line with their
competence, qualifications and experience. Annual reviews are
conducted to ensure the remuneration packages are fair and
consistently applied to all employees. Monthly salary payments
and the MPF contribution have been made within the prescribed
timeframe for the Reporting Period. Multiple incentives and
rewards are also offered to motivate and recognise excellent work
performance in forms of discretionary bonus.

The Directors’ fees and other emoluments shall be subject to
shareholders’ approval at general meetings or determined by the
Board with the recommendation of the remuneration committee
of the Company with reference to their individual performance,
the Group's operating results and as well as market practice and
conditions. Also, no Director or any of his/her associates is entitled
to participate in deciding his/her own remuneration.

Equal Opportunities, Diversity and Anti-Discrimination

Being an employer who emphasises on equal opportunity, the
Group is committed to adopting a competence-based strategy in
human resources related matters. The Group has no discrimination
against any employee on grounds of gender, disability, pregnancy,
family status, race, religion, age, sexual orientation, national origin,
trade union membership or other conditions when deciding their
terms of employment or offering them training and promotion
opportunities.

The Group values talent and employs the best fit for the positions.
The Group recruit talents by means of public recruitment. Equal
opportunity is provided to each employee through the Group’s
appraisal, remuneration and incentive system. The following
charts provide an overview of the employees’ gender, mode of
employment and age distribution for the Reporting Period:

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited &&#E (B KEEEER A A
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BR -HgREIHRE
Employee Distribution by Gender Employee Distribution by Mode of Employment
RERESNESED HER REREREINESSHER
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Chart 4. Gender Distribution Chart 5. Employment Type Distribution
B4, R D MmiER E5. EEEE D MHIER

Employee Distribution by Age
REREIPNESSHIER
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Chart 6. Age Distribution
Ee. FEDMIER

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s employee turnover rate is ~ RERE AR KEBHREE RKRL19% -
approximately 19%.
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Occupational Health and Safety

Since the Group’s principal business is providing private
educational services in Hong Kong, which are conducted mostly
in classrooms and office premises located in commercial buildings
in Hong Kong, the working environment of our employees are
generally non-hazardous. Nevertheless, the Group adheres to
Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Chapter 509 of the HK
Laws) and is dedicated to providing a safe and healthy working
environment for the employees. In order to maintain a high
occupational safety and health standard in all of the premises, we
have the following measures in place:

° put up notices to remind employees for proper use
of electrical equipment, such as microwave oven and
photocopier, etc.;

° post notices in the centres to remind employees beware of
slippery floor;

e send guidelines to employees through e-mail to remind proper
use of computers and encourage employees to do relaxing
exercise;

° notices posted to remind employees keep hygiene and
maintain unobstructed passageway in the office premises and

centres; and

e  continuously monitor and improve the safety and health
performance of working environments.

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HEH A (BE)REEEER A F
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In addition, the Group promotes a healthy and work-life balance
culture, and help employees gain meaningful experience on
community work. The Group encourages employees to actively
participate in outdoor exercises and outdoor weekend activities
are also organised for employees (e.g. charity running event and
volunteering activities). The Group is in full compliance with all
related laws and regulations in the Reporting Period.

Development and Training

It is important for the Group to keep high-calibre staff and
professionals to sustain its business growth. As an educational
service provider, the Group aims to grow together with its
employees, and culture of life-long learning is highly encouraged
throughout the Group. Employees are encouraged to enrich careers
and personal knowledge through self-learning or attending courses
according to their interests. The Group offers various learning
channels to the employees for their subscriptions according to
their interests. They may attend courses during work hours with
pre-approval from supervisors. The Group offers all full-time staff
who have passed probation period two free courses organised by
the Group. In addition, any full-time staff with at least a full year's
service may reimburse their training course fees from the Group
on a discretionary basis. Internally, the Company arranges monthly
training courses for different departments and relates to different
knowledge and professional skills.

BE -HERELSEE
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BE - HERELSEE

During the Reporting Period, all Directors received regular updates
and information relevant to the Group’s business and the Directors’
duties and responsibilities. The Directors are also encouraged to
participate in appropriate continuous professional development
activities either by seminars, conferences or courses on subjects
relating to corporate governance, legal and regulatory changes
organised by professional bodies. There were a total number of
58 employees, receiving a total of 760 hours of training during the
Reporting Period as below:

Employee Trained Distribution by Gender
REBESNZINRERED MIER

58%

' E’/I.%ale
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z

Chart 7. Employee Trained Distribution by Gender
E7. MRS HZIEE S MHIER

Labour Standards

The Group is cautious to all requirements in terms of labour
standards, and additional measures are applied to ensure all
operations are in full compliance. In order to protect the employees’
right on rest and vacation, the Group stipulates in explicit terms
within the labour contract about working hours, rest and leave
entitlement, labour protection and working conditions. Such
policies are set according to Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57
of the HK Laws) and the Employee’s Compensation Ordinance
(Chapter 282 of the HK Laws). The Group is also committed to
prohibiting any act of forced labour, and the Group provides an
appropriate grievance mechanism for resolving any issues related
to labour rights.

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HEH A (BE)REEEER A F
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During the Reporting Period, the Group has complied with the
Employment of Young Persons (Industry) Regulations under the
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of HK Laws). The Group has
satisfied with the regulation requirements by fixing the working
hours within 48 hours per week, avoiding overtime work, restricting
the working hours from 7am to 7pm per day, providing appropriate
meal and rest time and arranging at least 1 rest day per week for
protection of young employees.

The Group is in full compliance with all labour standards related
laws and regulations during the Reporting Period.

Employees, Customers, Suppliers and Other
Stakeholders

The Group values relationship with our customers and suppliers,
and it strives to provide best products and services through inputs
from all parties. The Group has maintained a stable team of tutors
who are registered teachers, as well as other professionals, for its
business of providing private educational services to predominantly
primary and secondary school students in Hong Kong. The Group
adopts an open communication channel for both its suppliers
and customers. For example, the management of the Company
are in touch with the tutors on a regular basis to ensure the
teaching materials and curricula used are kept abreast with the
official curricula. On the other hand, the Group has a customer
hotline with designated staff assigned for handling customers’ and
potential customers’ enquiries, comments and complaints. Follow-
up actions with appropriate actions are arranged by the relevant
departments or suppliers of the Group to address such complaints.
The Group also conducts regular revisions to ensure the quality
of our services can meet customers’ expectation. The Company’s
active participation not only helps bridge customer expectation with
quality teaching, but also improves relationship with different tutors
and other business partners in the supply chain, and ultimately
contribute to corporate sustainability.

BE -HERELSEE
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Supply Chain Management

The Group relies on suppliers to provide general office supplies,
such as drinking water, photocopiers, copy paper and stationery.
It is the Group’s objective to work and procure from reputable and
ethical suppliers, and especially in the ESG aspect. One of the
examples is the Fuji Xerox (Hong Kong) Limited (“Fuji Xerox”). Our
main printing paper supplier, Fuji Xerox, has earned the reputation
of being one of the performers in the ESG area which has enforced
a detailed sustainability programme. The Group shall review the
procurement process regularly and targets to keep procuring from
suppliers who share the same ESG vision with the Group.

Product Responsibility

Generally, the laws and regulations affecting the Group includes the
Trade Marks Ordinance (Chapter 559 of the HK Laws), Copyright
Ordinance (Chapter 528 of the HK Laws) and Trade Descriptions
Ordinance (Chapter 362 of the HK Laws) in terms of the Group’s
principal business as a private education services provider. The
Group has complied with the relevant laws and regulations relating
to advertising and labelling matters in relation to educational
services provided to our students. The Group tries its best to ensure
the advertisements and promotional materials are accurate, ethical,
honest and convey clear messages to potential customers.

The Group has also fully complied with the Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance (Chapter 486 of the HK Laws) during the Reporting
Period. The Group protects the privacy and confidentiality of
personal data collected from its employees, customers, business
partners, and other identifiable individuals. Personal data are only
accessible by certain authorised employees. Such employees are
instructed to handle confidential information based on internal
protocols with due care. Information is only collected and used in a
responsible and non-discriminatory manner, and for the purposes
consistent with those identified in the documents requesting such
personal information.
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Anti-Corruption

The Group strictly complies with all relevant laws and regulations
on the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Chapter 201 of the HK
Laws). The Group requested all employees, as part of the internal
training, to carefully read the “Employee Professional Conduct”
chapter in the Staff Handbook. All employees are expected to
conduct their duties with integrity and self-discipline, and to abstain
from engaging in bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering
activities or any activities which might exploit the Group’s interest
and affect related business decision or independent judgment
in the course of business operation. The Group also established
a whistleblowing channel, which allows employees to report any
inappropriate conduct and irregularity, which may violate the
relevant policies and guidelines.

During the Reporting Period, the Group is not aware of any
non-compliance with the laws and regulations which have a
significant impact on the Company relating to bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering.

COMMUNITY

The Group understands that both generating profit to its
shareholders, and being socially responsible to the community
are equally important. The Group has committed itself to making
genuine efforts in supporting local charitable organization and
engaging in community services.

During the Reporting Period, the Group continued receiving the
award of the “Caring Company Logo” from Hong Kong Council
of Social Service for the sixth consecutive year. The award is a
repeated recognition for the Group’s contributions to the society.
The Group will continue to make a genuine effort to support
charitable events. During the Reporting Period, the Group
contributed a total of HK$123,816 on supporting the local charities
which are dedicated to providing welfare, educational, recreational

and healthcare services to the community.
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BAKER TILLY
HONG KONG | KE it

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

HONG KONG EDUCATION (INT'L) INVESTMENTS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda
with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Hong
Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited (“Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “Group”) set out on pages
86 to 239, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 30 June 2018, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 30 June 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’'s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 30 June 2017 were audited by another independent auditor
who expressed an unmodified opinion on those consolidated
financial statements on 27 September 2017.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters.

1. Acquisition of Wind Fly Dragon Int’l Limited (“Wind
Fly”) and impairment assessment of goodwill
Refer to Notes 3 and 4 to the consolidated financial
statements for the Group’s accounting policies and accounting
estimates and judgements and refer to Note 40 to the
consolidated financial statements for detailed disclosures of
the acquisition of Wind Fly recognised by the Group during the
year ended 30 June 2018.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

1.

Acquisition of Wind Fly Dragon Int’l Limited (“Wind
Fly”) and impairment assessment of goodwill
(Continued)

The key audit matter

MRERER

During the year ended 30 June 2018, the Group acquired
100% equity interest in Wind Fly at a consideration of
HK$34,000,000. As at the date of acquisition, the fair
value of the identifiable net assets of Wind Fly amounted
to approximately HK$8,552,000, resulting in goodwill of
approximately HK$25,448,000.

The Group engaged an independent external valuation expert
to perform the valuation on assessing the fair value of Wind
Fly. Significant estimation and judgement were involved in the
assessment of fair value of Wind Fly and significant estimate
and judgement involved in determination of the recoverable
amount of the cash generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated.

MBI ZE2018F6A30R IEF/E - & & LA34,000,000/% T
NMHREBKRET TERENZRE- RKRBAE TER
BERI BRI & EFEM R FEAS552,0008 T EAEMEL
25,448,000/ 7T ©

EEERFETERENAFERZE - 2BIINNMHEESR
RETHE - HTERENRAFEETHEE S REANMG
AR HE - AR REEESEHENREELELMN A KE
SRR RERMN G R H
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

EFREBERPMMEEER
Our audit procedures included:

e evaluating the independence, competence,
capabilities and objectivity of the external
valuation expert engaged by management;

e  evaluating the valuation methodologies and
assumptions including comparing source and
market data used in the underlying assumptions
for the valuation of Wind Fly with reference to
comparable companies;

e assessing the appropriateness of the key
assumptions used for calculating the recoverable
amount of the cash generating unit as adopted
by management for the goodwill impairment
assessment; and

e  evaluating the appropriateness of the relevant
disclosures in respect of the acquisition of Wind
Fly and impairment assessment of goodwill in the
consolidated financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

2.

Valuation of financial instruments classified as
Level 3 under fair value hierarchy

Refer to Notes 3 and 4 to the consolidated financial
statements for the Group’s accounting policies and accounting
estimates and judgements and refer to Notes 20 and 26 to the
consolidated financial statements for detailed disclosures of
financial instruments recognised by the Group as at 30 June
2018. Further details of the valuation technique(s) and
unobservable input(s) of financial instruments classified as
Level 3 under fair value hierarchy are disclosed in Note 6 to
the consolidated financial statements.

The key audit matter
RRERFER

As at 30 June 2018, the Group had available-for-sale
investments and financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss amounting approximately HK$16,114,000 and
HK$47,098,000 respectively, in aggregate representing
21.93% of the net assets of the Group as at 30 June
2018. In which listed equity securities of approximately
HK$38,100,000 included in financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss were suspended shares which
represented 13.22% of the net assets of the Group as at
30 June 2018. The remaining HK$25,112,000 are unlisted
investments held by the Group as at 30 June 2018. These
financial instruments are valued with inputs that were not
based on available observable market data and were classified
as Level 3 fair value financial instruments as at 30 June 2018.

M2018F6A30H ESE#AE HHI416,114,000% 7T
&47,098,0008 T A IEE R E IR AFEFABEN
TREE ARG EE£ER2018F6A30B BEFEN
21.93% - HAp - RAFEFABZNEREERE LTRA
B5 (BIEMR ) 438,100,000 7T - 1 EEEN20184
69300 B EFEM13.22% - % T H#25,112,0008 7t h &
EEMN2018F6 AR FAMELTRE -ZZERMITAT
RWHFERAIESH AR MISEENBASIBETHE
BR2018F6 A30B BN EAE =R AFESMI A
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

EERERPMMNERSEIR
Our audit procedures included:

e evaluating the independence, competence,
capabilities and objectivity of the external
valuation experts engaged by management;

e assessing and evaluating the appropriateness
of the valuation methodologies used by the
independent external valuers in estimating the fair
value and key assumptions used by management
in different valuation models by reviewing the
contract terms and the relevant market conditions
and businesses of each Level 3 financial
instrument;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) FRERER (&

78

Level 3 under fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The key audit matter
REEER

The Group considered the aggregate amount of Level 3
financial instruments is material to the consolidated financial
statements of the Group as at 30 June 2018.

In light of the unquoted and illiquid nature of these Level 3
financial instruments, the assessment of fair value was highly
subjective and required a number of significant estimates and
critical judgements to be made by management. The fair value
of each of these unlisted investments and those suspended
shares were based on the best available information to
management and do not necessarily represent amounts which
might ultimately be realised. The fair value of these Level 3
financial instruments were subject to change depending on
future circumstances and cannot be accurately determined
until each of them is disposed.

EEERRF LR TANBEHR HERERN2018F
6A30BEMGEMBRRMEBEKX
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

EERERPNMERER

e reviewing the contractual agreements, relevant
legal document and the calculation made by
management and obtaining the investment
confirmation to verify the existence and accuracy
of the Group's ownership and/or number of
shares in each Level 3 financial instrument; and

e  evaluating the appropriateness and adequacy of
the disclosures of the valuation of the financial
instruments in the consolidated financial
statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

2.

Valuation of financial instruments classified as
Level 3 under fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The key audit matter
REERER

There is a risk that inaccurate judgements made in the
assumptions and the key unobservable inputs of the valuation
models could lead to an inaccurate valuation of the unlisted
investments and those suspended shares. In turn, the
amounts at which these financial instruments were carried
in the consolidated statement of financial position, the net
change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss and impairment loss on available-for-sale
investments in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income could be materially misstated.
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How the matter was addressed in our audit
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

3.

Impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables, promissory note receivable and loan
receivables

Refer to Notes 3 and 4 to the consolidated financial
statements for the Group’s accounting policies and accounting
estimates and judgements and refer to Notes 22, 23 and
24 to the consolidated financial statements for detailed
disclosures of trade and other receivables, promissory note
receivable and loan receivables recognised by the Group as at
30 June 2018.

The key audit matter
REEXER

As at 30 June 2018, the Group’s trade and other receivables,
promissory note receivable and loan receivables amounted
to approximately HK$27,197,000, HK$48,000,000 and
HK$31,760,000 respectively.

In determining whether there is objective evidence of
impairment loss over these receivables and consider whether
the impairment provision for trade and other receivables,
promissory note receivable and loan receivables is adequate
require management judgement.

20186 H30H - EEEHE 5 5I#27,197,000/ 7T -
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

EERERPNMERER

Our audit procedures included:

understanding, evaluating and validating the
key controls over impairment assessment of
the receivables, which relates to management’s
identification of events that triggered the provision
for impairment of the receivables and estimation
of the amount of provisions;

carrying out procedures, on a sample basis, to
test the accuracy of the aging of the receivables
as at the end of the reporting period;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

3.

Impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables, promissory note receivable and loan
receivables (Continued)

The key audit matter
HEFERER

In determining the impairment provision of trade and other
receivables, promissory note receivable and loan receivables,
the recoverability of these receivables was assessed by the
management taking into account the credit quality and
likelihood of their collection.
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How the matter was addressed in our audit
ESERERDPNWNERSEIR

evaluating the management’s process for
reviewing the collectability of the receivables by
reference to the credit quality, likelihood of their
collection and the past settlement history and
records;

Tracing a sample of the actual cash settlements
during the year to bank receipts; and

Tracing a sample of the post year end subsequent
settlements to bank receipts.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company (“Directors”) are responsible
for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon
(“other information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we will not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

— lIdentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

—  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

—  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the Directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also: (Continued)

—  Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

—  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’'s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Tong Wai Hang.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 26 September 2018

Tong Wai Hang
Practising Certificate Number P0O6231
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
GRRsEkEtMZEKEER

For the year ended 30 June 2018 & Z=2018F6H30H It F &

2018 2017
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
B it FREIT FET
Revenue WA 7 109,027 153,859
Other income, gains and losses HEal A - Wazs K BB 8 55,885 6,147
Staff costs B TR 10 (41,140) (57,956)
Tutor contractor fee ERRBE 10 (27,708) (43,793)
Operating lease payments KERENT K 10 (33,624) (37,789)
Marketing expenses MIGHERERX (11,708) (15,798)
Printing costs E 2 A (294) (302)
Depreciation and amortisation ITE R 8 (8,793) (7,685)
Change in fair value of investment properties & &3 A F(EE &) - 7,800
Change in fair value of financial assets at BRAFEFAERD
fair value through profit or loss TREENAFEEZD 31,521 (210,580)
Impairment loss on available-for-sale Al EIR EMREEE
investments 20 (23,771) (3,997)
Loss in respect of interest in BN —HBE QA
an associate P #E = A 5 18 18 - (117,115)
Other operating expenses HMgEmx (38,710) (41,688)
Finance costs B8 A 9 (3,415) (16,598)
Share of results of joint ventures EEEE R RIHEE 19 (16) 401
Share of results of associates g /N 18 (16,924) 54,982
Loss before tax MrEi R ES 1R 10 (9,670) (330,112)
Income tax credit (expense) Frigfife (FAx) 12 1,438 (814)
Loss for the year FEBR (8,232) (330,926)
Other comprehensive income (expense), HthZ2ZEKA (FAX)
net of income tax HIBRRER
Items that may be reclassified REGEEHFHEE
subsequently to profit or loss: HEHAHE -
Exchange differences arising on MBI IMS & E TR
translating foreign operations EEXNEN =5 54 (12)
Reclassification adjustment on exchange HEBE AR RERLRR
differences released upon disposal ENEBHNETHHE
of associates T (1,037) 106
Fair value (loss) gain on revaluation of HHAHEERED
available-for-sale investments ~FE(FEE) ks (2,717) 6,594
Reclassification adjustment upon disposal HEMHEERERD
of available-for-sale investments B AR (2,168) -
Reclassification adjustment upon A E IR E R E R
impairment of available-for-sale EF o EAE
investments (7,884) 3,843
Share of other comprehensive (expense) i —EEE ATz
income of an associate 2H (AX) KA (12,978) 4,545
Reclassification adjustment on investment HE—HEE N B REEL
revaluation reserve released upon MITEEGHEENER
disposal of an associate DA 9,470 =

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited &&#E (B KEEEER A A



Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
FeRaERAEMZEKEE

For the year ended 30 June 2018 & £2018F6A30H I-F[E

2018 2017
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
M it FAET FiET
Other comprehensive (expense) income FEEMEZE (A BA -
for the year, net of income tax R TS (17,260) 15,076
Total comprehensive expense for the year FE2HAXZEEE (25,492) (315,850)
(Loss) profit for the year ATALTELER
attributable to: (E8)RA:
Owners of the Company KRRHEEA (8,246) (333,326)
Non-controlling interests e = 14 2,400
(8,232) (330,926)
Total comprehensive (expense) income WTATEREFEZE
for the year attributable to: (X)W A4EEE:
Owners of the Company KRABHEE A (25,506) (318,250)
Non-controlling interests IR 14 2,400
(25,492) (315,850)
Loss per share BRER 13
— Basic (HK$) —EAKN(Er) (0.02) (0.64)
~ Diluted (HK$) -8 (B1) (0.02) (0.64)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

FEMEBRAER

At 30 June 2018 #201846/530H

2018 2017
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
it FET FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment L EN Gy & 15 25,464 24,851
Goodwill e 16 25,508 60
Other intangible assets Bt mEE 17 495 692
Interests in associates iR RNETE: OF 18 = 31,297
Interests in joint ventures ANEE N TR 19 6,422 7,999
Available-for-sale investments AHEEERE 20 25,295 83,283
Non-current deposits EmBIEER 21 7,954 8,043
91,138 156,225
Current assets REEE
Trade and other receivables E 5 N H b e W 518 22 27,197 26,198
Promissory note receivable FE U H AR 23 48,000 50,000
Loan receivables JEURE 3R 24 31,760 27,089
Amount due from an associate JE U — eI Bt 8 R B 3008 25 612 291
Financial assets at fair value through AT EAERZAN
profit or loss SREE 26 74,646 152,223
Bank balances and cash RITHEHNIRE 27 42,709 16,284
224,924 272,085
Assets associated with disposal group BN EABIELER
classified as held for sale HEHEEBENEE 28 = 158,527
224,924 430,612
Current liabilities g Rk
Other payables and accruals H M RIB R ERTE R 29 9,638 24,105
Deferred income JEIEUT A 10,851 4,804
Current tax liabilities BENERFIE B (& 13 156
Amounts due to related parties FE St EE B 5 /08 30 5,868 495
Bank borrowings SRITIERK 31 = 14,400
Loan notes BEREE 32 = 150,500
26,370 194,460
Liabilities associated with disposal group B2 4> %8 /& 15 & &Y
classified as held for sale HEHEEEMNEaRE 28 = 25703
26,370 220,163
Net current assets mENEERE 198,554 210,449
Total assets less current liabilities HEERTEAR 289,692 366,674

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited &&#E (B KEEEER A A




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
FEMBRAE
At 30 June 2018 201846 A30H

2018 2017
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt F#TT FET
Non-current liabilities ERBDAR
Deferred tax liabilities RIEHMIBEE 33 169 202
Provision for long service payments REIRG & B E 34 1,267 1,599
1,436 1,801
Net assets EESHE 288,256 364,873
Capital and reserves BER R
Share capital fi% AR 35 27,379 27,379
Reserves s 261,387 286,893
Equity attributable to owners of RAREB AEGEERS
the Company 288,766 314,272
Non-controlling interests IV fE = (510) 50,601
Total equity gans 288,256 364,873

The consolidated financial statements on pages 86 to 239 were  #NFE86E239B H4RA B 53k B M 2018F9 A26H
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on  BEEEEHAERBETE  TH FIATREREE
26 September 2018 and are signed on its behalf by:

Yip Chung Yin Jeffrey Tsang Ka Wai
AR exE
Director Director

EE EE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GelEEHE

For the year ended 30 June 2018 & Z=2018F6H30H It F &

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARARENES
Attributable
Investment Share to non-
Share Share Contributed Merger Capital revaluation options Translation ~ Accumulated controlling
capital premium surplus reserve reserve reserve eserve eserve [osses Subtotal interests Total
R FER
e i iEE EHRH AltRE Rk e BRERE EXR ZitER Nt BaEE 3t

HKS 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FEr FEr TEr TEr TEr FEr TEr TEr i3 TEr TEr i3
(Note ) (Note i) (Note i)

(#) (##i) (#itii)

At 1 July 2016 R201657818 22816 349,499 386,954 (28321) 446 = = (166) (170,526) 560,702 48170 608,872
Loss for the year FERA = = S S S S = - (333,326) (333,326) 2400 (330926)
Exchange differences arising on translating A EENNEL EBEELH

foreign operations EizE - - - - - - - (12) - (12) S (12)
Reclassification adjustment on exchange LE-FEEAARREN

diferences released upon disposel EXZENENARAR

of an associate - - - - - - - 106 - 106 - 106
Fair value gain on revaluation R AHHEREHN

of avalable-for-sale investments AFERE - - - - - 6,594 - - - 6,504 - 6,594
Reclassification acjustment upon impairment A4 ER A ER &

of avallable-for-sale invesiments ENAEAE - - - - - 3883 - - - 388 - 3883
Share of other compreensive income Ef-BBEAR Al

of an associate 2ENE - - - - - 3950 - 595 - 4545 - 4545
Total comprehensive income (expense) ER2EUA (RR) 8%

for the year - - - - - 14381 - 689 (333,326) (318,250) 2400 (315,850)
Issue of ordinary shares REERG 4563 55,940 - - - S S S S 60,503 S 60,503
Transzction costs atrbutable to issue EARLBREERSRE

of new ordinary shares - (2.251) - - - = - - - (2.251) - (2,251)
Recognition of equity-settled share-based BANEREENIRAA

payments ERHfIR - - - - - - 13568 - - 13568 - 13,568
Disposal of subsidiaries LEHBAR - - - - - - - - - & 31 31
4130 Jne 2017 RA0ITF6E0R A MBI BB (8D w5 14387 13568 53 BBE) 31 0600 36487

90 Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited E&#E (R )R E EE AR QA



Attributable to owners of the Company

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

ey -3} ES

For the year ended 30 June 2018 & £2018F6A30H I-F[E

FARREARY
Attributable
Investment Share to non-
Share Share  Contributed Merger Capital revaluation options Translation  Accumulated controlling
capital premium surplus feserve Teserve feserve reserve Teserve losses Subtotal interests Total
B #ER
(23 RARR KUER AR 231 ] EGRR  MREER ERER 2HER it Ramk ot
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET FET FET FET FET FET FET
(Note i) (Note ii) (Note i)
(W&i) (HEi) (W&ii)

At 1 July 2017 01757818 21319 403,188 386,954 (28,321) 446 14,387 13,568 523 (503,852) 314272 50,601 364,873

Loss for the year - - - - - - - - (8,246) (8,246) 14 (8,232)

Exchange differences arising on translating ERBELN

foreign operations 351 - - - - - - - 54 - 54 - 54

Reclassification adjustment on exchange HE-FEEAARREN

diferences released upon disposal EXzENENARAR

of an associate - - - - - - - (1,037) - (1,037) - (1,037)
Fair value loss on revaluation of R AHBEREN

available-for-sele investments ATEER - - - - - @) - - - @) - @)
Reclassification adjustment upon disposal of ~ HETHBERB R ERH

available-for-sale investments B2 - - - - - (2,168) - - - (2,168) - (2,168)
Reclassification adjustment upon impairment ATk E R A ERE

of available-for-sale investments BN ERR - - - - - (7,884) - - - (7,884) - (7,884)
Share of other comprehensive (expense) income B —FEIBFE R A 2 Kt

of an associate 2 (RR)hE - - - - - (13,420) - 442 - (12,978) - (12,978)
Reclassifcation adjustment on investment HE-ERERAREEN

revaluation reserve released upon RAERRENENIRRE

disposal of an associate - - - - - 9,470 - - - 9470 - 9470
Total comprehensive (expense) income FERE(RR)RAEE

for the year - - - = = (16,719) - (541) (8,246) (25,506) 14 (25,492)

Share options lapsed BRELR - - - - - - (13,568) - 13,568 = = =

Disposal of subsidiaries HEHBAR - - - - - - - - - - (51,125) (51,125)

At 30 June 2018 H2018%865308 21,379 403,188 386,954 (28,321) 446 (2,332) o (18) (498,530) 288,766 (510) 288,256

Notes: Mtet -

(i)  The contributed surplus of the Group represented the credit arising () AEEZEHBHRIEARRBN20155F5H BT HR G 5%
from the cancellation of share premium account and the reduction BREEIBRAREMEE ZER EFAIBEBEARELZ
of share capital of the Company in May 2015. The balance may be NElAIRFTBEEAZEN T AERZES  BIEAN
utilised by the Directors in accordance with the Company’s bye-laws A QR 2 RETEE -
and all applicable laws, including to eliminate the accumulated losses
of the Company.

(i)  The merger reserve represented the difference between the nominal (i) A pPrEMEIESIino Network Group Limited ([Sino
value of the shares of Sino Network Group Limited (“Sino Network”) Network | ) B2 7K A &) 1B #5 & B & 40 20104 7t 12
and the Company issued in exchange for the entire issued share HExpress Education Limited & 7220114F 5t # BXSino
capital of Express Education Limited in 2010 and Sino Network Network ) 2 8 B B TR AN M B 1 TR AR (D B (B 2 [E /Y
pursuant to group reorganisation in 2011. EHo

(i) The capital reserve represented capital contribution arising from (i) MAREERNBEHBEARRREEANBERANER

transfers of interest in subsidiaries to shareholders and waiver of
amount due to a shareholder in prior periods.

FELREERBRREN —BBRROFR-
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FRReERER

For the year ended 30 June 2018 & Z=2018F6H30H It F &

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited &&# A

(BB RERBEERAR

2018 2017
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
i3 FAEIT FET
Cash flows from operating activities BEITDRENALNE
Loss before tax B i A B 18 (9,670) (330,112)
Adjustments for: BATIEB EHFAE:
Share of results of joint ventures ElEEE RRIEE 16 (401)
Share of results of associates e RN 16,924 (54,982)
Bank and other interest income RIT R E M F] B U A 8 (5,357) (2,582)
Finance costs Bi5 5B 9 3,415 16,598
Change in fair value of financial assets EATEFABRD
at fair value through profit or loss TREENATFEEZD (31,521) 210,580
Change in fair value of investment WEMENRNTFEES
properties - (7,800)
Gain on bargain purchase from Bl —HB A8
acquisition of a subsidiary W B 2 B e 8 - (1)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB AT I ES 8 (13,731) (17)
Gain on disposal of associates k=)l SN g 8 (55,826) (2,212)
Gain on disposal of a joint venture HEEEAA MK 8 (1) -
Loss on disposal of available-for-sale MEMHEEREEE
investments 8 3,053 -
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE - BE R
plant and equipment R EE 8 34 1,288
Loss in respect of interest in an BN —REBE QA
associate PTG B8 18 = 117,115
Depreciation of property, VI WS REREITE
plant and equipment 15 8,262 7,487
Amortisation of other intangible assets Hith & E#E 17 531 198
Impairment loss on goodwill R EEE 16 559 =
Impairment loss on other intangible Hih\EPEEREBESE
assets 17 2,626 -
Impairment loss on available-for-sale ISR EREEE
investments 20 23,771 3,997
Impairment loss on a loan receivable FEWE FOREEE 24 7,493 =
Impairment loss on other receivables Hth FE UK IE 2R BB 1B 22 7,643 =
Write off of promissory note receivable il 5 FE WU K R R 23 5,529 =
Reversal of provision for long service RHRG & BERRD
payments 34 (295) (175)
Expense recognised in respect of RN AR 45 E A
equity-settled share-based payments IR0 BT SRE9 B 2 - 13,568
Dividend received from listed B ETREER
held-for-trading investments LE RS 95 96




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FeERHeRER

For the year ended 30 June 2018 & £2018F6A30H I-F[E

2018 2017
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
k23 FET FiET
Operating cash flows before movements & EBE & EFATH LS
in working capital BeRhE (36,450) (27,355)
Decrease in deposits, trade and e BoHhEAMEY
other receivables FIE R D 6,033 10,097
(Increase) decrease in loan receivables FEME S (3Em) /L (16,364) 13,747
Decrease in amounts due from e Uk B BS: 5 SRIER A
related parties - 822
Decrease (increase) in listed LERBEEERER D
held-for-trading investments (#&n) 57,031 (1,578)
(Decrease) increase in other payables BEMENRIENETER
and accruals (B ) 1 (15,825) 9,051
Increase (decrease) in deferred income EFEUWAIE N CRLD) 1,923 (3,071)
Decrease in long service payments REBRIE €8 (37) (83)
Cash (used in) generated from operations &3i& (FTA) FIERIR & (3,689) 1,630
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid ENBEENER (86) (1,054)
Net cash (used in) generated from K EE) (FTR) FTE|
operating activities R F5E (3,775) 576
Cash flows from investing activities BRETHRENRESRE
Interest received B 1,778 4,088
Dividends received from a joint venture BEl—FEEE THNRE 1,500 2,000
Advance to an associate ) —fE S QAN (321) (296)
Proceeds from disposal of associates HEBE QAR FTERIE 65,654 4,051
Proceeds from disposal of a joint venture  H & —R& & QRS RE 62 =
Proceed from partial redemption of HB 5> FE [0 8 B 5 R I
promissory note receivable TSR - 3,000
Purchase of available-for-sale investments % & Al $5 & 188 - (50,721)
Purchase of financial assets designated BEIETERATESA
at fair value through profit or loss EalemEE (9,300) (60,927)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment % 5 %% « &&= K& 1E (4,978) (12,784)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME  BENMRE
plant and equipment Fri§ 38 — 1
Proceeds from disposal of HEHEEREMBIRIE
available-for-sale investments 18,395 -
Proceeds from disposal of financial HERAFEFTABERN
assets designated at fair value SREEFTSHIA
through profit or loss 61,240 -
Payments for purchase of shares to BhEE B iR {0 LA S — e Hg
acquire an associate NEIEOEN B - (32,510)
Net cash (outflow) inflow on acquisition WEEH B AR
of subsidiaries R mAFE 40 (3,158) 143
Net cash inflow (outflow) on disposal HEWNBRARIIRESRA
of subsidiaries () F8 41 95,300 (423)
Net cash generated from (used in) WEEBME (FTA)®
investing activities He 55 226,172 (144,378)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FeEBeRER

For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

2018 2017
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
i3 FAEIT FET
Cash flows from financing activities MEEFHMENEESRE
Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares BT TR ATIS R = 60,503
Payment of transaction costs attributable St 1~ 3577 37 X 3@ A% FE G
to issue of new ordinary shares R KA - (2,251)
Repayment to related parties EZ RN 7 508 39 (158) (100)
New bank borrowings raised FILIRITIER = 132,700
Repayment of bank borrowings EERITER 39 (14,400) (110,100)
Repayment of loan notes EEERER 39 (150,000) -
Repayment of promissory note payable BEEMN AL ZR 39 (29,000) -
Interest paid B FE 39 (3,894) (12,594)
Net cash (used in) generated from BVEVES) (FTA) TSR
financing activities He 55 (197,452) 68,158
Net increase (decrease) in cash and RekBeZEEWEM
cash equivalents Om) 558 24,945 (75,644)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning ~ F#MNE S RIELEHEY
of the year 17,710 93,366
Effects of exchange rate changes ExESEHrpEE 54 (12)
Cash and cash equivalents FERNE e RRSEEY
at end of the year 42,709 17,710
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents FRMReEREE
at end of the year: B
Bank balances and cash RITHEHBNIRE 42,709 16,284
Bank balances included in disposal FFARBERENLE
group held for sale HERIRITHE R - 1,426
42,709 17,710

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited &&#E (B KEEEER A A




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company
with limited liability in the Cayman lIslands on 26 January
2011 and continued in Bermuda on 7 May 2015 (Bermuda
time). The registered office of the Company is located
at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11,
Bermuda and, with effect from 13 February 2018, its principal
place of business in Hong Kong has been changed to Rooms
1006-7, 10th Floor, China United Centre, 28 Marble Road,
North Point, Hong Kong. Its shares have been listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Stock Exchange”) since 4 July 2011.

The Company acts as an investment holding company
while its principal subsidiaries are principally engaged in
the provision of private educational services, investment in
securities, property investments and money lending business.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time in the current year:

Amendments to Disclosure Initiative

HKAS 7

Amendments to Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for
HKAS 12 Unrealised Losses

Amendments to As part of the Annual Improvements to
HKFRS 12 HKFRSs 2014 - 2016 Cycle

Except as described below, the application of the amendments
to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact
on the Group’s financial performance and positions for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.

fr e MBRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2018 & £2018F6A30H I-F[E

—REH

RARMN2011F1A26 BN FAE RS T MK K
MR2015F5A7B (BERERH)RBREFER
—RERRZBRAG ARG WEMIFEE
£z Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton
HM 11, Bermuda® MER BB F 2L EMBE
BNABBILASE B2’ EEF L 10E1006-7
= B2018F2A13H AR - E kR fH 820114
TRABERBEABERXZMABRAA ([HR
Frl)ER LM

ARAR—EREZERQF METEMBELQF
TERNERULAHRERS REZH WER
BREEEK-

RAMBHRRARNRRNEERET (ET])

=
SR
e

o

ERAMIEEMBEHREERN ([FEMER
HEAU]) RHEERT

REFERHAENHFEMBREEND
AEEERAFEEREATIOEESFL
g ([BEQFHAE ) BANEBMBHRSEE
AIMERT

BB G AR WA E
FETHMIEE]

BB G LR MAEIEBIEREREL
FE125EMEE] MIBAE

BT BWRE YEB20144F 220165 13 B
RIS 1258 ERMBRELENZFE
B1EET HUHE B9 ER (D

BRTES RAFERER LGB EBMB
WELRNHAEERANFEERBEFEORBHR
BEMRE, SEA M BRRABNREL RS

=271
&
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME

For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

96

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 7 “Disclosure Initiative”

The Group has applied these amendments for the first time in
the current year. The amendments require an entity to provide
disclosures that enable users of financial statements to
evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities,
including both cash and non-cash changes. In addition, the
amendments also require disclosures on changes in financial
assets if cash flows from those financial assets were, or future
cash flows will be, included in cash flows from financing
activities.

Specifically, the amendments require the following activities
to be disclosed: (i) changes from financing cash flows; (ii)
changes arising from obtaining or losing control of subsidiaries
or other businesses; (iii) the effect of changes in foreign
exchange rates; (iv) changes in fair values; and (v) other
changes.

A reconciliation between the opening and closing balances
of these items is provided in Note 39. Consistent with the
transition provisions of the amendments, the Group has not
disclosed comparative information for the prior year. Apart
from the additional disclosure in Note 39, the application
of these amendments has had no impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HEH A (BE)REEEER A F

ERAHITEEMEREEN ([FEMER
SR REET (&)

FEFTENE7MMEE B ] A0EET

AEBRAFEEREAZBEIT A - ZEEBET
AR EBERREHEMBRREMREELNFERE
REMEANABESNRESR BRAER
FREEH U ZFETANRERNZETS
vaﬁié?ﬁﬁ iﬁ%mgquJ\‘JZ?KIiE%umEH%EH\

HEMS AREIREARENTEER: ()R
BRERENET: (NEBSHERKMERRE
%MZE*& LMEBMERNOER : (INEXEBHNF

g FEZF: REMES-

\|

D)

BHZERE CFVRFRERYRTINME
39 MRBHFER BB IGX  AEE LTI FE
BEFEZLREN - BRHTE39 2 BIMREIN
ERZFEIUBUAEEZ FE M BRI EK
TE-



APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 9

HKFRS 15

HKFRS 16

HKFRS 17

HK(FRIC) - Int 22

HK(IFRIC) - Int 23

Amendments to
HKFRS 2
Amendments to
HKFRS 4

Amendments to
HKFRS 9

Amendments to
HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to
HKAS 28

Amendments to

Financial Instrumentst

Revenue from Contracts with Customers
and the related amendments!
Leases?

Insurance Contracts*

Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration*

Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments?

Classification and Measurement of
Share-based Payment Transactions!

Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments with
HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts!

Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation?

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture®

As part of the Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2014 — 2016 Cycle!

Long-term Interests in Associates and

HKAS 28 Joint Ventures?
Amendments to Transfers of Investment Property!
HKAS 40
Amendments to Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs HKFRSs 2015 — 2017 Cycle?
. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2018.

e Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2019.

e Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined.

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2021.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

=& M R

For the year ended 30 June 2018 & £2018F6A30H I-F[E
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”

HKFRS 9 introduced new requirements for the classification
and measurement of financial assets, financial liabilities,
general hedge accounting and impairment requirements for
financial assets.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 which are relevant to the Group
are:

e All recognised financial assets that are within the scope
of HKFRS 9 are required to be subsequently measured
at amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt
investments that are held within a business model whose
objective is to collect the contractual cash flows, and
that have contractual cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal outstanding
are generally measured at amortised cost at the end of
subsequent accounting periods. Debt instruments that
are held within a business model whose objective is
achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows and
selling financial assets, and that have contractual terms
that give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding, are generally measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”). All
other financial assets are measured at their fair value
at subsequent accounting periods. In addition, under
HKFRS 9, entities may make an irrevocable election
to present subsequent changes in the fair value of an
equity investment (that is not held-for-trading) in other
comprehensive income, with only dividend income
generally recognised in profit or loss.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (Continued)

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 which are relevant to the Group
are: (Continued)

In relation to the impairment of financial assets,
HKFRS 9 requires an expected credit loss model, as
opposed to an incurred credit loss model under HKAS 39
“Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”.
The expected credit loss model requires an entity to
account for expected credit losses and changes in those
expected credit losses at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition. In other
words, it is no longer necessary for a credit event to have
occurred before credit losses are recognised.

Based on the Group’s financial instruments and risk

management policies as at 30 June 2018, the Directors

anticipate the following potential impact on initial application
of HKFRS 9:

Classification and measurement:

Debt instruments classified as promissory note receivable
and loan receivables carried at amortised cost as
disclosed in Note 23 and 24 respectively. These are held
within a business model whose objective is to collect
the contractual cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal outstanding.
Accordingly, the financial assets will continue to be
subsequently measured at amortised cost upon the
application of HKFRS 9; and
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (Continued)

Classification and measurement: (Continued)

o Listed equity securities and unlisted equity interest
classified as available-for-sale investments carried at fair
value as disclosed in Note 20. These securities qualified
for designation as measured at FVTOCI under HKFRS 9.
Accordingly, these financial assets will continue to be
subsequently measured at FVTOCI under HKFRS 9,
however, the fair value gains or losses accumulated
in the investment revaluation reserve amounting to
approximately HK$2,332,000 as at 1 July 2018 will no
longer be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss under
HKFRS 9, which is different from the current treatment.
This will affect the amounts recognised in the Group’s
profit or loss and other comprehensive income but will
not affect total comprehensive income.

All other financial assets and financial liabilities will continue
to be measured on the same bases as are currently measured
under HKAS 39.

Impairment:

In general, the Directors anticipate that the application of the
expected credit loss model of HKFRS 9 will result in earlier
provision of credit losses which are not yet incurred in relation
to the Group's financial assets measured at amortised costs
and other items that subject to the impairment provisions
upon application of HKFRS 9 by the Group.

Based on the assessment by the Directors, if the expected
credit loss model were to be applied by the Group, there
would be no material impact on the accumulated amount of
impairment loss to be recognised by the Group as at 1 July
2018 as compared to the accumulated amount recognised
under HKAS 39 mainly attributable to expected credit
losses provision on trade and other receivables, promissory
note receivable, loan receivables and amount due from an
associate.

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HEH A (BE)REEEER A F

ERAHITEEMEREEN ([FEMER
SR REET (&)

ﬁ%ﬂﬁﬁiﬁ%ﬁﬂﬂ%%ﬁ [&mIAl

SPBREHE: (&)

o LIHBRARFELIFLTERARZSE/ER
FEIEZ I HEERE - R FE20HE -
REBEVWBREEAENR ZEEFA
EREERRAFEFAEMEE RS
E-Hit REFEVBREERFESN &
FeMEESEBRATEFARMLEZEK
mIERET 2 AW R2018F7A1IERK
BEHRFEHETRAZATFERRHEESR
#12,332,0008 TR R B RIFFEM B ]ME
EUFEIEIBEFOBERE  WARIRN
BATZERET N - i FERAEEIRE M
Ht2ERARNERZ R ETEeXES
EAKBER -

EREtEREERERAGBHEEREES
ZRFIRBTHRITAHETAE-

A :
—RME  EFENERT BV HmEERFENR

HWEMEEEREAREBAKERERETEY
BHELANFSRR HMAREREEXAFE
& REENREMAERERENERMER
EEMEEERREANIEEE-

REESHNFHE HEAKREARABRBEES
BEN - AAEER2018F7A1AE FTHRAN R
FORERBRSEHBRERE ST ERF3I95#E
RNBER TEELABARZE TERAR
85 REAMBEYRIA YRR ZE  BEER
KREW—RBERRFACBREREEERE



APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with
Customers”

HKFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single
comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for
revenue arising from contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 will
supersede the current revenue recognition guidance including
HKAS 18 “Revenue”, HKAS 11 “Construction Contracts” and
the related interpretations when it becomes effective.

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should
recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods
or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled
in exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, the
standard introduces a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

e Step 1:  Identify the contract(s) with a customer

e Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the
contract

e Step 3:  Determine the transaction price

e Step4: Allocate the transaction price to the
performance obligations in the contract

e Step5:  Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity

satisfies a performance obligation

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue
when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied,
i.e. when ‘control’ of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to the
customer. Far more prescriptive guidance has been added
in HKFRS 15 to deal with specific scenarios. Furthermore,
extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 15.

In 2016, the HKICPA issued “Clarifications to HKFRS 15"
in relation to the identification of performance obligations,
principal versus agent considerations, as well as licensing
application guidance.

Based on the existing business model as at 30 June 2018, the
Directors anticipate that the application of HKFRS 15 in the
future may result in more disclosures, however, the Directors
do not anticipate that the application of HKFRS 15 will have
a material impact on the timing and amounts of revenue
recognised in the respective reporting periods.

2.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases”

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the
identification of lease arrangements and accounting
treatments for both lessors and lessees. HKFRS 16 will
supersede HKAS 17 “Leases” and the related interpretations
when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on
the basis of whether an identified asset is controlled by a
customer. Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases
are removed for lessee accounting, and is replaced by a
model where a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability
have to be recognised for all leases by lessees, except for
short-term leases and leases of low value assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and
subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain exceptions)
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability. The
lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the
lease payments that are not paid at that date. Subsequently,
the lease liability is adjusted for interest and lease payments,
as well as the impact of lease modifications, amongst others.
For the classification of cash flows, the Group currently
presents operating lease payments as operating cash flows.
Upon application of HKFRS 16, lease payments in relation to
lease liability will be allocated into a principal and an interest
portion which will be presented as operating and financing
cash flows by the Group respectively.

In contrast to lessee accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially
carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in
HKAS 17, and continues to require a lessor to classify a lease
either as an operating lease or a finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by
HKFRS 16.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

As at 30 June 2018, the Group has non-cancellable operating
lease commitments of approximately HK$86,975,000 as
disclosed in Note 37. A preliminary assessment indicates
that these arrangements will meet the definition of a lease.
Upon application of HKFRS 16, the Group will recognise a
right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability in respect of
all these leases unless they qualify for low value or short-term
leases.

In addition, the Group currently considers refundable rental
deposits paid of approximately HK$14,016,000 (see Note 22)
as rights and obligations under leases to which HKAS 17
applies. Based on the definition of lease payments under
HKFRS 16, such deposits are not payments relating to the
right to use the underlying assets, accordingly, the carrying
amounts of such deposits may be adjusted to amortised cost
and such adjustments are considered as additional lease
payments. Adjustments to refundable rental deposits paid
would be included in the carrying amount of right-of-use
assets.

Furthermore, the application of new requirements may result
in changes in measurement, presentation and disclosure as
indicated above.

Except as described above, the Directors anticipate that the
application of other new and amendments to HKFRSs and
Interpretations will have no material impact on the Group's
consolidated financial statements in the future.

2.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXErtHE

104

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and by the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

RAMBHREARBEABTESITMASEMZES
MRS EFER - IHN REMBHRR B
RESF EMARA(TEMRAU]) REBRAE
BIFTRE 2 BRI EEER

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared REMTEMERIEBELKAERE AT X
on the historical cost basis except for certain financial BETBURFTEE REREPRETEHRIAD

instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of
each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that
are within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”,
leasing transactions that are within the scope of HKAS 17,
and measurements that have some similarities to fair value
but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2
“Inventories” or value in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of
Assets”.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset take into
account a market participants ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

e |evel 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by
the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when
the Company:

. has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee

if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights
of an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting
rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether or not the Group’s voting rights in an investee are
sufficient to give it power, including:

e the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative
to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote
holders;

° potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote
holders or other parties;

e rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

e any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that
the Group has, or does not have, the current ability to
direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions
need to be made, including voting patterns at previous
shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over
the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant components of
equity including reserves and the non-controlling interests are
adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which
the non-controlling interests are adjusted after re-attribution
of the relevant equity component, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity
and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and the fair value of any retained
interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable to the
owners of the Company. All amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary
are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified
to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity
as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value
of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the
date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on
initial recognition for subsequent accounting under HKAS 39,
or when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or a joint venture.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EX®rEE (&)

108

(Continued)
Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of
the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value,
except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 “Income
Taxes” and HKAS 19 “Employee Benefits” respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 at
the acquisition date (see the accounting policy below);
and

e  assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations” are
measured in accordance with that standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over
the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-
assessment, the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in
the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously
held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share
of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event of
liguidation may be initially measured either at fair value or
at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
The choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-
by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling interests
are measured at their fair value.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a
business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting
from a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and
included as part of the consideration transferred in a business
combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments
are adjusted retrospectively, with the corresponding
adjustments made against goodwill. Measurement period
adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional
information obtained during the “measurement period” (which
cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts
and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration
that do not qualify as measurement period adjustments
depends on how the contingent consideration is classified.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent
consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is
remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting dates, with
the corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or
loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date
when the Group obtains control) and the resulting gain or loss,
if any, is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts arising from
interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have
previously been recognised in other comprehensive income
are reclassified to profit or loss where such treatment would
be appropriate if that interests were disposed of.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts
for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those
provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement
period (see above), and additional assets or liabilities are
recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts
and circumstances that existed as at the acquisition date that,
if known, would have affected the amounts recognised at that
date.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried
at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the
business (see the accounting policy above) less accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of
cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, which represent the lowest level
at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management
purposes and not larger than an operating segment.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Goodwill (Continued)

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently when there is indication that the
unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition
in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit (or group of
cash-generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of that reporting period.
If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets on a
pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in
the unit (or group of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an
associate and a joint venture is described below.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but
is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to
the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting, except
when the investment, or a portion thereof, is classified as
held for sale, in which case it is or the portion so classified
is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5. Any retained
portion of an investment in an associate or a joint venture that
has not been classified as held for sale shall be accounted
for using the equity method. Under the equity method,
an investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s
share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income
of the associate or joint venture. When the Group’s share of
losses of an associate or a joint venture exceeds the Group’s
interest in that associate or joint venture (which includes any
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s
net investment in the associate or joint venture), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional
losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of the associate or joint venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on which the
investee becomes an associate or a joint venture. On
acquisition of the investment in an associate or a joint
venture, any excess of the cost of the investment over the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which
is included within the carrying amount of the investment.
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the
investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in
profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine
whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with
respect to the Group’s investment in an associate or a joint
venture. When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment
loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the
investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable
amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate or joint control over a joint venture, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in the investee with a
resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. When
the Group retains an interest in the former associate or joint
venture and the retained interest is a financial asset within
the scope of HKAS 39, the Group measures the retained
interest at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded
as its fair value on initial recognition. The difference between
the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture and
the fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds
from disposing the relevant interest in the associate or joint
venture is included in the determination of the gain or loss
on disposal of the associate or joint venture. In addition,
the Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in relation to that associate
or joint venture on the same basis as would be required
if that associate or joint venture had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive income by
that associate or joint venture would be reclassified to profit
or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the
Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss
(as a reclassification adjustment) when the equity method is
discontinued.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a
joint venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an
investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement to fair
value upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate
or a joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion
of the gain or loss that had previously been recognised in
other comprehensive income relating to that reduction in
ownership interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to
profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognised
in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the
extent of interests in the associate or joint venture that are not
related to the Group.

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held
for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use.
This condition is regarded as met only when the asset (or
disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its present
condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary
for sales of such asset (or disposal group) and its sale is highly
probable. Management must be committed to the sale, which
should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed
sale within one year from the date of classification.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of
control of a subsidiary, all of the assets and liabilities of that
subsidiary are classified as held for sale when the criteria
described above are met, regardless of whether the Group will
retain a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary after
the sale.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Non-current assets held for sale (Continued)

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving
disposal of an investment, or a portion of an investment, in
an associate or joint venture, the investment or the portion of
the investment that will be disposed of is classified as held for
sale when the criteria described above are met, and the Group
discontinues the use of the equity method in relation to the
portion that is classified as held for sale from the time when
the investment (or a portion of the investment) is classified as
held for sale.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held
for sale are measures at the lower of their previous carrying
amount and fair value less costs to sell.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated
customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be
reliably measured; when it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when specific criteria have
been met for each of the Group’s activities, as described
below.

Franchising income includes initial fees and continuing
franchise fees. Initial fees are recognised when the Group has
performed substantially all initial services and other obligations
required of the franchisor (the Group) under the franchise
agreements. Continuing franchise fees represent fees charged
for the use of continuing rights granted by a franchise
agreement, or for other services provided during the period
of a franchise agreement, are recognised as revenue as the
services are provided or the rights are used.

Income from provision of tutoring and education services is
recognised when the tutoring and educational services are
rendered.

Supporting services and advertising fee income is recognised
when the supporting services and advertising services are
rendered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the
shareholder’s right to receive payment have been established.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to
the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate
applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial
asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

The Group’s accounting policy for recognition of revenue from
operating leases is described in the accounting policy for
“Leasing” below.

Deferred income

Deferred income represents the tuition fee received in
advance. Deferred income is recognised as revenue when the
tuition services are rendered.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are
recognised as receivables at the amount of the Group’s net
investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to
accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of
return on the Group’s net investment outstanding in respect of
the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased
asset.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments, including the cost of acquiring land
held under operating leases, are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where
another systematic basis is more representative of the time
pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are
consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases
are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are
incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter
into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a
liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as
a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis, except
where another systematic basis is more representative of the
time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset
are consumed.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise,
except for exchange differences on monetary items receivable
from or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement
is neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming
part of the net investment in the foreign operation), which
are recognised initially in other comprehensive income and
reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal or partial
disposal of the Group's interests.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e.
Hong Kong dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at the
end of each reporting period. Income and expense items are
translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in
which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity under the heading of translation reserve (attributed
to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint
arrangement or an associate that includes a foreign operation
of which the retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of
the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of
that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary,
the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences
are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not
recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e.
partial disposals of associates or joint arrangements that do
not result in the Group losing significant influence or joint
control), the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange
differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation are
treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and
translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised
in other comprehensive income.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost
of those asset until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Short-term employee benefits and retirement
benefit costs

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the period in which
the associated services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are carried at their present values.

Payments to Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and state-
managed retirement benefit schemes are recognised as
an expense in profit or loss as and when employees have
rendered services that entitling them to the contributions.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle
the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (when the effect of the time value of
money is material).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Provisions (Continued)

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle
a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party,
a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain
that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the
receivable can be measured reliably.

Provision for long service payments

Provision for long service payments under the requirements
of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance is recognised when
the employees have rendered services entitling them to the
benefits. The amounts recognised are determined at the
management’s best estimate of the future cash outflow for
settlement of the obligations and measured on a discounted
basis, if the effect is material.

Share-based payments arrangements

For grants of share options that are conditional upon satisfying
specified vesting conditions, the fair value of services received
is determined by reference to the fair value of share options
granted at the date of grant and is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, with a corresponding increase in
equity (share options reserve).

For share options that vest immediately at the date of grant,
the fair value of the share options granted is expensed
immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to
share premium. When the share options are forfeited after the
vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the
amount previously recognised in share options reserve will be
transferred to accumulated losses.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from (loss before tax) as reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates and interests in joint ventures, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interests are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the assets to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred taxes for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over
time, rather than through sale.

Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives,
using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised on
a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective
basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are
acquired separately are carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses (see the accounting policy in
respect of impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets
below).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair values at the acquisition date (which is
regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired
in a business combination with finite useful lives are reported
at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets
that are acquired separately. Alternatively, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination with indefinite useful
lives are carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated
impairment losses (see the accounting policy in respect of
impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets below).

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Impairment on tangible and intangible assets other
than goodwill (see the accounting policy in respect
of goodwill above)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with
finite useful lives to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also
allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment on tangible and intangible assets other
than goodwill (see the accounting policy in respect
of goodwill above) (Continued)

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible
assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at
least annually, and whenever there is an indication that they
may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is reduced to its recoverable amount. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair
value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use
(if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment
loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset
is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit)
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets are classified into the following specified
categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVTPL"), available-for-sale (“AFS”) financial assets and
loans and receivables. The classification depends on the
nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined
at the time of initial recognition. All regular way purchases
or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for
debt instruments.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the financial
asset is (i) held for trading, (ii) it is designated as at FTVPL,
or (iii) contingent consideration that may be received by an

acquirer as part of a business combination to which HKFRS 3
applies.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the near term; or

on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-
taking; or

it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading

or contingent consideration that may be received by acquirer

as part of a business combination may be designated as at

FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

the financial asset forms part of a group of financial
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis,
in accordance with the Group’s documented risk
management or investment strategy, and information
about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39 permits the entire
combined contract (asset or liability) to be designated as
at FVTPL.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 & £2018F6A30H I-F[E

3. EXEHBE (&)

&MTIR(#)

eHEE (&)

B FEFAERZN EHBEE
EEMEERSOFEREE  (MEERAFEFTA
Ba KRBT IR ER A ARE (R
BEVBREENEIFEAZEBEHZ A
) BBRAFEFABRBZERHEE-

HEBATER IEREENERFEEER:

e WBHNIZRAANEHAHE: X

o RURERE ZERMEESAKEHRRE
Brzoe#b eI AEGZHMy BOHE
PR 3R A BRI R AR 2k

o HEFEEREMIABWEL T ANA
WITET A

TREE (RFFEENSREEIKET T
WEUE BRI S H—JE D R SR B SN RAI5A
BRE AIHEERRATEAABENSHE
i

o ARETEHRIKRBRENELERNGE
HHERT—HHIER K

s RERMEEBNK—HERMEEXETHMAE
HMEN D WRBAEERER R
B HIEREIZ A FEEEEE NV
HXBE MOBERAIRZEER AR
k=4

s REMEEBKEE RBIULASITE
TRAZAEHN—FD MBEGHERF
ERAAENAHAN (BERAB)E
ERBAFEF AR

ANNUAL REPORT 2018 4F &%

127



128

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any
gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
includes any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset
and is included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income. Fair value is determined in
the manner described in Note 6.

AFS financial assets

AFS financial assets are non-derivatives that are either
designated as available-for-sale or are not classified as (a)
loans and receivables, (b) held-to-maturity investments, or (c)
financial assets at FVTPL.

Equity and debt securities held by the Group that are
classified as AFS financial assets and are traded in an active
market are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting
period. Changes in the carrying amount of AFS monetary
financial assets relating to interest income calculated
using the effective interest method, and changes in foreign
exchange rates, if applicable are recognised in the profit or
loss. Dividends on AFS equity instruments are recognised in
profit or loss when the Group's right to receive the dividends
is established. Other changes in the carrying amount of
AFS financial assets are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated under the heading of investments
revaluation reserve. When the investment is disposed of or
is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss
previously accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve
is reclassified to profit or loss (see the accounting policy in
respect of impairment loss on financial assets below).

AFS equity investments that do not have a quoted market
price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be
reliably measured and derivatives that are linked to and must
be settled by delivery of such unquoted equity investments
are measured at cost less any identified impairment losses at
the end of each reporting period (see the accounting policy in
respect of impairment on financial assets below).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans
and receivables (including trade and other receivables, loan
receivables, promissory note receivable, amounts due from
related parties, amount due from an associate, and bank
balances and cash) are measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less any impairment (see the
accounting policy in respect of impairment on financial assets
below).

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate, except for short-term receivables where the recognition
of interest would be immaterial.

Impairment on financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for
indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period.
Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is
objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the
estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have been
affected.

For AFS equity investments, a significant or prolonged decline
in the fair value of the security below its cost is considered to
be objective evidence of impairment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment on financial assets (Continued)

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment
could include:

e significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

o breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments; or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or

e  the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables
could include the Group’s past experience of collecting
payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments
in the portfolio past the average credit period, observable
changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate
with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of
the impairment loss recognised is the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market
rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment
loss will not be reversed in subsequent periods (see the
accounting policy below).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment on financial assets (Continued)

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is
reduced through the use of an allowance account. Changes
in carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised
in profit or loss. When a trade receivable is considered
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are
credited to profit or loss.

When an AFS financial asset is considered to be impaired,
cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in the
period in which the impairment takes place.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the
investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not
exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the
impairment not been recognised.

In respect of AFS equity investments, impairment losses
previously recognised in profit or loss are not reversed through
profit or loss. Any increase in fair value subsequent to an
impairment loss is recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated under the heading of investment revaluation
reserve. In respect of AFS debt investments, impairment
losses are subsequently reversed through profit or loss if an
increase in the fair value of the investment can be objectively
related to an event occurring after the recognition of the
impairment loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition. Interest expense is
recognised on an effective interest basis.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including other payables and accruals,
amounts due to related parties, bank borrowings and loan
notes) are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in
the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to
pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises
a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that
had been recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a
short maturity of generally within three months when acquired,
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of
the Group's cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in
nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Related parties

(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) bhas control or joint control of the Group;
(ii)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(ii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vi) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a

part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements, are
identified from the financial information provided regularly to
the Group’s chief operating decision makers for the purposes
of allocating resources to, and assessing the performance
of, the Group’s various lines of business and geographical
locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the nature of production
processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used
to distribute the products or provide the services, and the
nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events after
the reporting period that are not adjusting events are disclosed
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements when
material.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in Note 3, the Directors are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Critical accounting judgement

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the Directors have
made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies and that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or
deferred tax assets arising from investment properties that
are measured using the fair value model, the Directors have
reviewed the Group’s investment property portfolios and
concluded that the Group’s investment properties are not
held under a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment properties over time, rather than through sale.
Therefore, in measuring the Group’s deferred taxation on
investment properties, the Directors have determined that
the presumption that the carrying amounts of investment
properties measured using the fair value model are recovered
entirely through sale is not rebutted. As a result, the Group
has not recognised any deferred taxes on changes in fair value
of investment properties as the Group is not subject to any
income taxes on disposal of its investment properties.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Critical accounting judgement (Continued)

Impairment assessment for goodwill and other intangible
assets

The Group tests annually whether goodwill and other
intangible assets have suffered any impairment in accordance
with accounting policies stated in Note 3. The recoverable
amounts have been determined based on value-in-use
calculations or fair value less costs to sell, whichever are
higher. These calculations require the use of judgments and
estimates.

Judgement is required to determine key assumptions adopted
in the valuation models for impairment review purpose.
Changing the assumptions selected by management in
assessing impairment could materially affect the result of the
impairment test and as a result affect the Group’s financial
condition and results of operations. If there is a significant
adverse change in the key assumptions applied, it may
be necessary to take additional impairment charge to the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Please
refer to Notes 16 and 17 for details.

Impairment assessment for available-for-sale investments
The Group follows the guidance of HKAS 39 to determine
when an equity available-for-sale investment is impaired. This
determination requires significant judgement. In making this
judgement, the Group evaluates, among other factors, the
duration and extent to which the fair value of an investment is
less than its cost; and the financial health of and short-term
business outlook for the investee and historical price volatility
of these investments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Impairment assessment of interest in an associate

The management of the Group carries out review on
impairment on the interest in an associate whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that its carrying amount
may not be recoverable by comparing its recoverable amount.

In determining whether the interest in an associate is
impaired, it requires an estimation of its recoverable amount.
The market value of interest in an associate is determined
based on the closing price as at the end of the reporting
period. Where the recoverable amount of the Group's
interest in an associate is less than the carrying amount, an
impairment loss may arise.

During the year ended 30 June 2017, the management
concluded that there was impairment loss on interest in an
associate of approximately HK$100,507,000 (see Note 18)
as the recoverable amount of the interest in an associate was
lower than its carrying amount.

Impairment assessment of trade and other receivables, loan
receivables and promissory note receivable

The Group’s management determines the provision for
impairment of trade and other receivables, loan receivables
and promissory note receivable based on the credit
history of its customers and borrowers, the current market
condition, and the valuation of the pledged collaterals, if any.
Management reassesses the trade and other receivables, loan
receivables and promissory note receivable regularly. The
provision could change significantly as a result of changes in
the financial position and payment status of the counterparties
and in response to national or local economic conditions.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment assessment of trade and other receivables, loan
receivables and promissory note receivable (Continued)

As at 30 June 2018, the impairment loss on other receivables
(see Note 22) and loan receivables (see Note 24) amounting
to approximately HK$7,626,000 (2017: nil) and approximately
HK$7,493,000 (2017: nil) respectively.

Provision for long service payments

The provision for long service payments is based on the
best estimate of the future payments required to settle the
obligations under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance in
relation to the employees of the Group in Hong Kong.

In making this judgement, the management mainly considers
the number of current employees who have achieved the
required number of years of service to the Group, at the
end of the reporting period, who are eligible for long service
payments under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance, the
employee turnover rate as well as salary growth. Any change
in these estimates will affect the provision to be recognised.

Fair value measurements and valuation processes

Some of the Group's assets and liabilities are measured at
fair value for financial reporting purposes. The Directors
determine the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for
fair value measurements.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group
uses market-observable data to the extent it is available.
Where observable market data are not available, the Group
engages independent qualified professional valuers to perform
the valuation and works closely with the independent qualified
professional valuers to establish the appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs to the model.

The Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs that
are not based on observable market data to estimate the fair
value of certain types of financial instruments. The use of
valuation models and assumptions in valuing these financial
instruments is subjective and requires varying degrees of
judgement. Note 6 provide detailed information about the
valuation techniques, inputs and key assumptions used in the
determination of the fair value of various assets and liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

5. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The management reviews the capital structure on a regular
basis. As part of this review, the Directors consider the cost of
capital and the risks associated with each class of capital, and
will balance its overall capital structure through the payment
of dividends, new shares issues and debt financing.

The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and cash
equivalents and total equity (comprising issued share capital,
reserves and accumulated losses) (2017: debts net of cash
and cash equivalents and total equity).

The net debt to equity ratio as at 30 June 2017 was as
follows:

BxERER

AEEEEEERN URRAEE 2 BERETHF
B2 ANEEABLEBRREREHRARRS
REAEER - AEE 2 BRERIEE FFERTT

ﬁo

EEETEHRRTERNRBE - ER/ANRT A — AP
D EBEREREAKALRZENEABHENE
@ WHSEBIRNRE  BITHREEBREF
BHEBBENRE-

AEEEARBERAS MREFEY MEER
(BROBETRA RERREER) (20174
MRS LR FEBY RBESOER) o

MR2017F6A30B 2 FEXRBBELLERMAT :

HK$'000

FET

Debts (Note i) &1 (A/ati) 164,900
Less: Cash and cash equivalents WRERBEEEEY (16,284)
Net debt FER 148,616
Equity (Note ii) = (Kati) 364,873
Net debt to equity ratio FHEABELE 41%

Notes:

(i)  Debts included bank borrowings and loan notes of the Group as
detailed in Notes 31 and 32 respectively.

(i)  Equity includes all capital, reserves and non-controlling
interests.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 & £2018F6A30H I-F[E

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 6. @MIA
Categories of financial instruments eMIAEN
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FEr
Financial assets SMEE
Fair value through profit or loss BEATFEGFAER
Equity securities classified as DERAFIEEED
held-for-trading P& AN 3B 65,171 91,126
Financial assets designated BERAFEFTABED
at fair value through profit or loss TREE 9,475 61,097
Loans and receivables (including cash BExkERZGE (BFERE
and cash equivalents) MBS EEY) 156,655 122,414
Available-for-sale investments AHEERE 25,295 83,283
Financial liabilities SRR
Amortised cost [ FisID PN 9,679 180,472
Financial risk management objectives and policies BEREEEERREEK

AEENTESRTARREAHKEERE B

The Group’s major financial instruments include available-

for-sale investments, trade and other receivables, promissory
note receivable, loan receivables, amount due from an
associate, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
bank balances and cash, other payables, amounts due to
related parties, bank borrowings and loan notes. Details of
these financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes.
The risks associated with these financial instruments and the
policies on how to mitigate the effects of these risks are set
out below. The management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented
on a timely and effective manner.

There has been no change to the types of the Group’s
exposure in respect of financial instruments or the manner in
which it manages and measures the risks.

R AR HOR - R TR - MR FE
—REBEARRE AT EHABENERE
B RTEBREES  EAMEE 508 - TR

POB BT RRERES XSS RI AN
BREWEPRE-ABRELBRIANARR
WS EAR? FENBERR TX &2
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o HE A -

RERMTASKEEENFERRTAME &K
KEEZ ZRBREAR L EEE-
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FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s bank balances have exposure to cash flow
interest rate risk due to the fluctuation of the prevailing
market interest rate on bank balances. The Group is also
exposed to fair value interest rate risk related primarily to its
fixed-rate promissory note receivable, loan receivables and
unlisted convertible bonds. The Directors consider the Group’s
exposure of the fair value interest rate risk on fixed-rate
promissory note receivable, loan receivables and unlisted
convertible bonds and the cash flow interest rate risk on
its bank balances are insignificant. Therefore, no sensitivity
analysis is presented.

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its
investments in listed equity securities which included in
available-for-sale investments (see Note 20) and financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss (see Note 26).
The management manages this exposure by maintaining a
portfolio of investments with different risks. The Group’s equity
price risk is mainly concentrated on listed equity securities.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on
the exposure to equity price risk at the end of the reporting
period.

If the prices of the respective listed equity securities had been
10% (2017: 10%) higher/lower:

e the post-tax loss for the year would decrease/increase
by approximately HK$2,260,000 (2017: HK$7,609,000)
as a result of the change in fair value of listed security
investments; and

e the investment revaluation reserve for the year would
increase/decrease by approximately HK$918,000 (2017:
HK$3,551,000) as a result of change in fair value of the
listed security investments.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will
cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge
an obligation by the counterparties is the carrying amount
of those assets in the consolidated statement of financial
position. Except for the financial assets described as below,
the management considers the credit risk on the remaining
financial assets to be minimal. In order to minimise the credit
risk, the management of the Group has monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount
of each individual receivable at the end of each reporting
period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made
for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the Directors
consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

Bank balances are placed with various authorised institutions.
Accordingly, the Directors consider the credit risk on liquid
funds is limited because the counterparties are banks with
high credit ratings assigned by international credit-ratings
agencies.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk
on trade and other receivables with exposure spread over a
number of counterparties.

As at 30 June 2018, the Group has concentration of credit
risk over promissory note receivable as the promissory note
receivable is due from one (2017: one) counterparty.

As at 30 June 2018, the Group has concentration of credit
risk over loan receivables as 97% (2017: 77%) of the loan
receivables is due from the Group’s three (2017: three) largest
borrowing customers.

The Group does not have significant concentration of credit
risk on investments in listed equity securities as counterparties
are diversified.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. &@MTIA (&)

144

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group invested in unlisted convertible bonds classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. The credit
risk of the issuer of this instrument is monitored by the Group
regularly. The fair value of the unlisted convertible bonds was
estimated by an independent firm of professional valuer.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to
credit risk arising from trade and other receivables, promissory
note receivable, loan receivables, listed equity securities and
unlisted convertible bonds are disclosed in Notes 20, 22, 23,
24 and 26.

Apart from the exposures to the concentration of credit risk
mentioned as above, the Group does not have any other
significant concentration of credit risk.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents which are
deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows.

As at 30 June 2018, the Group has no available short
and medium term banking facilities (2017: the Group
had available short and medium term banking facilities of
HK$32,000,000, excluding banking facilities available to the
disposal group as detailed in Note 28).

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The tables
have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the
Group can be required to pay and includes both interest and
principal cash flows for non-derivative financial liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 & £2018F6A30H I-F[E

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. &EMIA(~Z

Financial risk management objectives and policies MERREEEERERBE (£)
(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued) REELmEE (&)

The tables include both interest and principal cash flows. TERHEBFEERATCEERE -EFERERT
To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the PG EMNEEN RITRSEIEREHR
undiscounted amount is derived from market interest rates RIIRITIIG R RS H o

prevailing at the end of the reporting period.

More than
1 year
Weighted On demand but not Total
average or within more than  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year 5 years cash flows amount
mEFEY BRERH IEDEE XUBBRe
ik 1£/R F@lésE mERE IR {E
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
As at 30 June 2018 #2018%6A30AH
Non-derivative financial FITHEHEE
liabilities
Other payables Hitb AT 5RIE N/AFEHR 3,811 = 3,811 3,811
Amounts due to related parties &I BEE T 278 N/ATi&E B 5,868 = 5,868 5,868
9,679 - 9,679 9,679
As at 30 June 2017 #®201746H30R
Non-derivative financial HITELBAE
liabilities
Other payables HAt R FIE N/ATNE A 15,077 = 15,077 15,077
Amounts due to related parties &/ BaEE 5 5008 N/ATNE 495 = 495 495
Variable-rate bank borrowings % B R1TE R 2.4% 14,400 = 14,400 14,400
Loan notes EREE 11% 156,000 = 156,000 150,500
185,972 - 185,972 180,472
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Fair value measurements of financial instruments

This note provides information about how the Group
determines fair values of various financial assets.

Fair value of the Group's financial assets that are measured
at fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group's financial assets are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. The following
table gives information about how the fair values of these
financial assets are determined (in particular, the valuation
technique(s) and inputs used).

Fair value as at

6. ®MTIR (&

SMTRZATENE
HHERARARBNNEES TEREENA

FERHER-

RIEER R EZLFHENENTRAEHETE

BL T

AEERBLEREER SRS HRZAFER
B-TRAEEHNNBUNAEELZSEREEL
RFHE (LERMABMBETARBARE) -

RTIABBHLTE Fair value Valuation technique(s)
Financial assets 30 June 2018 30 June 2017 hierarchy and key input(s)
LFE HEFER
eMEE 2018%6HA30H 2017%6A30H ##&7l FREmA e
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFET FET
Available-for-sale
investments (Note 20)
R E (1:120)
— Listed equity securities 9,181 35,514  Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an active
— LR E S E— market
TEERTISTIRE AEB
— Unlisted equity interest 16,114 38,715 Level 3 Market approach

— I MRS
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miHA

Major significant unobservable

inputs:

(i) Price-to-book (“P/B”") ratio of
comparable listed companies;
and

(ii) Discount for lack of
marketability
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 30 June 2018 & £2018F6A30H I-F[E

6.

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

(Continued)

Fair value of the Group'’s financial assets that are measured

®MIA (&
EMTRZAFEIE (&)

HRIEER R EZELFHENENTREAEHEE

at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued) BN FE (E)
Fair value as at
RTIBRMBHLTE Fair value Valuation technique(s)
Financial assets 30 June 2018 30 June 2017 hierarchy and key input(s)
LFE BERFER
SMEE 2018%6H30R 2017f46HA30H &7 FREmABE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFET FET

Financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss (Note 26)
RAFEHHAAREHEMNEE

(Kti#26)
Equity securities classified as

held-for-trading
D RIFIEE BRI %
— Listed equity securities 27,071 91,126 Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an active
— FTRAES F—& market

EEBTISHME AE

— Suspended listed equity security 38,100 - Level 3 Index Return Method
—EiE ETRAE S F= B wE

Major significant unobservable

inputs:

(i) Change in share price of
comparable listed companies
during the suspension period;
and

(i) Discount for lack of
marketability

TESEATABERARZE:

() BFEERRMAILRETAR
M EES : &

(i) ERZ TG RBUEIT =
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For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6.
Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(Continued)

Fair value of the Group'’s financial assets that are measured

&MTR (&
EMTRZAFEIE (£)

RIEEREREZELFENENTRAEHEE

at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued) BIRFE (E)

Fair value as at

RTIBARMBHLTE Fair value Valuation technique(s)
Financial assets 30 June 2018 30 June 2017 hierarchy and key input(s)
NEE BERFER
SMEE 2018%6H30R 201746HA30H &7 REmA &R
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFETT FET
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (Note 26)
(Continued)
BROFEARESHEMNEE
(H1it26) (&)
Financial assets designated at fair
value through profit or loss
WEEZ N FEFIABm i & E
— Unlisted investment fund 477 61,097 Level 2 Quoted price based on net asset
—JFELETMREES R value
EREEFENRE
— Unlisted convertible bonds 8,998 —  Level 3 Discounted cash flow model for
—JEEMABRKRES E=M debt component and the

There was no change in valuation techniques during the year
ended 30 June 2018. The Directors believe that the estimated
fair values resulting from the valuation technique(s), which are
recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position,
and the related changes in fair values, which are recorded
in the profit or loss and other comprehensive income, are
reasonable, and that they were the most appropriate values at
the end of the reporting period.
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Major significant unobservable
input: Discount rate
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Fair value measurements of financial instruments

(Continued)

Fair value of the Group'’s financial assets that are measured

at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)

Below is a summary of relationship of unobservable input(s) to

fair value, significant unobservable inputs to the valuation of

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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6. ®#MTIR (&)

EMTRZAFEIE (&)

HRIEER R EZELFHENENTREAEHEE
B2 FE (&)
R2018%6A30A - MR IR A BB R F(E
MER SR TAGBEIEATABEERABE

financial instruments together with a quantitative analysis as at HERTESPTMHHREHT
30 June 2018:
Relationship of Significant
unobservable input(s) unobservable Sensitivity of fair value
Financial assets Valuation technique to fair value Input(s) Range/amount  to the input(s)
FURRBARBRLE EXFURR
SREE HERE {EMRE AR BE/¢8 WABRATEZRRBE
Unlisted equity interest Market approach Higher the P/B ratio, P/B ratio 1.30 times 5% increase (decrease) in
— approximately higher the fair value the P/B ratio would result
HK$16,114,000 and vice versa in increase (decrease) in
fair value of approximately
HK$806,000
Higher the discount rate Discount for lack of ~ 20% 5% increase (decrease) in
of lack of marketability, marketability the discount rate of lack of
lower the fair value and marketability would result
vice versa in (decrease) increase in
fair value of approximately
HK$201,000
¥ IR AL - Mm% mEEES ATE - TRX 1.301% mEREEM R )5% 8 EH
#916,114,000% 7 e RZTA AFEEMCRD)
#7806,000/5 7T
BRZTERBENTE  HRZTS 20% RN k0P E8
e ATEEE TR (AP )5%eBHATE
RZ R (R £ A147201,000% 7T
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME

For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. @MIA (&)
Fair value measurements of financial instruments eMIAZLAFERE (£)
(Continued)
Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured IR MR EZ L TFEIBNEARELHEE
at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued) BIRFE (E)
Relationship of Significant
unobservable input(s) unobservable Sensitivity of fair value
Financial assets Valuation technique to fair value Input(s) Range/amount  to the input(s)
FUERERANBELTF EXTUHE
SREE HERE (B8R % BARE BE/¢8 WARBATEIHRE
Suspended listed equity Index Return Method ~ Higher the share price Change in share price -19.40% to 5% increase (decrease) in
security — approximately of the comparable of comparable 0.44% share price of comparable
HK$38,100,000 companies, higher the companies during companies would result
fair value and vice versa  the suspension in increase (decrease) in
period fair value of approximately
HK$137,000
Higher the discount rate Discount for lack of ~ 30% 5% increase (decrease) in
of lack of marketability, marketability the discount rate of lack of
lower the fair value and marketability would result
vice versa in (decrease) increase in
fair value of approximately
HK$817,000
LR EmRAZES- REE®RE EBRARNKELSS EEEEHRTLR -1940%%F AEBRARNKRELMOAD)
#738,100,0007% 10 ATEES ReMA  DEANREED 0.44% 5%EBHRTEEMAD)
#7137,0005 ¢
T TR PR S TG 30% ARV R A:OEAE ES
ks NTE TR (AP )R8 BHATE
B RZ A (B2 Mn47817,000/8 7T
Unlisted convertible Discounted cash flows  Higher the discount rate,  Discount rate 11.58% to 5% increase (decrease) in the
bonds - approximately model for debt lower the fair value and 11.77% discount rate would result
HK$8,998,000 component and the vice versa in (decrease) increase in
Black-Scholes Model fair value of approximately
HK$52,000
M RRES- FREERERS  BRXHs ATE g 11.58%% BREEMORD)5%EEH
#78,998,000/% 1 (E%H») & B RZ A 11.77% RFECHD)EM
HAR-SFRMER 152,000 7T
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME

For the year ended 30 June 2018 & £2018F6A30H I-F[E

6. &MIR (&
EMTRZAFEIE (&)

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(Continued)

Fair value of the Group'’s financial assets that are measured

HRIEER R EZELFHENENTREAEHEE

at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued) BN FE (EF)
Fair value hierarchy NGB EY
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—# fat $=i Mt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
As at 30 June 2018 12018%6H30H
Available-for-sale investments AHEEERE
— Listed equity securities - EIRAES 9,181 - - 9,181
— Unlisted equity interest — LMl AES - - 16,114 16,114
Financial assets at fair value through BATEFABENERERE
profit or loss
— Listed equity securities excluding - T REEEEERDH
suspended shares (included in ITRAES (GrADE
equity securities classified AREEENRAES)
as held-for-trading) 27,071 - - 27,071
- Suspended shares (included in -BEEERH (FADE
equity securities classified as AREEENRAES)
held-for-trading) - - 38,100 38,100
— Unlisted investment fund (included —FEMREES (RAAERE
in financial assets designated BLTEFABRN
at fair value through profit or loss) SHEE) = 477 = 477
~ Unlisted convertible bonds (included —EEmABRRES
in financial assets designated (FFAEERAFERGA
at fair value through profit or loss) BaMemEE) - = 8,998 8,998
36,252 477 63,212 99,941
As at 30 June 2017 201746 A30H
Available-for-sale investments AHEEERE
— Listed equity securities — FRAES 35514 = = 35,514
— Unlisted equity interest — MRS = = 38,715 38715
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFABEMN
profit or loss SREE
- Listed equity securities (included in MR AER (GTADE
equity securities classified as AREEENRAES)
held-for-trading) 91,126 - - 91,126
~ Unlisted investment fund (included —FEMEEES (FFAKRE
in financial assets designated BAFEFABERN
at fair value through profit or loss) TREE) = 61,097 = 61,097
126,640 61,097 38,715 226,452
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(Continued)

Fair value of the Group'’s financial assets that are measured
at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)

There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 and no
transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year ended 30 June
2017.

There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 during the
year ended 30 June 2018. During the year ended 30 June
2018, there was a transfer of fair value measurement
from Level 1 into Level 3 for an equity security classified
as held-for-trading. The details of movements in fair value
measurements in Level 3 are as follows:

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

6. ®MTIR (&

EMTRZAFEIE (£)

REERRBEZL FEIEHZI XA EHEE
B2 FE (&)

B E2017F6H30BILFE F—REF_HK 2
B EEMER TEBEARBHE=F-

BE2018F6A30ALFE F—REFE R
fE 3 A (] 88 7% - B 2201856 A30H IEF Z -
DERBEEENRAZTSNATFEAEHSE—

BREAE=R-F=RRATFEFENEDH BN

T

BT EH B

2018 2017
Financial Financial
assets at assets at
fair value fair value
through Available- through Available-
profit or for-sale profit or for-sale
loss  investments loss  investments
BATFE N
AEEn AEEE  ABEN AIfEE
EMEE ®E TREE "E
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$000
FEIT FET FET F&ET
At beginning of the year NG - 38,715 = =
Addition NE 9,300 - - 30,831
Transfer from Level 1 to Level 3 (Note) B —MREAE = (#1:) 58,267 -
Change in fair value recognised in profit REZHERA L N FEEEF
or loss (included in change in (FEARAFEFABERN
fair value of financial assets TREEZATEES)
at fair value through profit or loss) (20,469) = S S
Impairment loss on available-for-sale AHEERENRESE
investments - (14,717) = =
Change in fair value recognised in other R E 4t 2 H I HER
comprehensive income (included in RTEEZS (FFARE
investment revaluation reserve) EhEE) - = = 7,884
Reclassification adjustment upon AEEERERNERD
impairment of available-for-sale EFHERE
investments - (7,884) - -
At end of the year RER 47,098 16,114 = 38,715
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(Continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

(Continued)

Note: The transfer from Level 1 to Level 3 is due to the suspension
of share trading of an equity security, Convoy Global Holdings
Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange with stock code: 1019), since 7 December 2017.
The suspended shares (“Convoy Shares”) is included in the
equity securities classified as held-for-trading as at 30 June
2018 and 2017. The Group's policy is to recognise transfer
into and transfer out of Level 3 as at the date of event or
change in circumstances that caused the transfer.

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at
fair value as at 30 June 2018 and 2017.

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities that
are not measured at fair value on a recurring basis

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in
the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair
values.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s operating and reporting segments have been
identified on the basis of internal management reports
prepared in accordance with the accounting policies conform
to HKFRSs, that are regularly reviewed by the executive
Directors, being the chief operating decision maker (“CODM”)
of the Group, in order to allocate resources to segments and to
assess their performances.

The Group’s operations have been organised based on
four operating divisions as described below. Similarly, the
information reported to the CODM is also prepared on such
basis. No operating segments identified by the CODM have
been aggregated in arriving the reportable segments of the
Group.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

=& M R

For the year ended 30 June 2018 & £2018F6A30H I-F[E

®MIA (&)
EMTRZAFEIE (&)

BERATFEHEREER (5)

Wi mE—REAE=RIANRBE2017F1277RIA
KERBRRERBRDE (—HRERAER
EmZz AR BRI 1019) R ABHE =
& fn B & - 120185 201766 H30R - B F &
RN (TEERG D FHADERBEEENR
AEH AEENBREREHEE 2 AHEHY
BENBARER ERBARBHE=R-

REER2018%F k201746 A308 I AR A
FEFEZEZREBE

HHREEREBEZLTFEANENERE LM
HERRMEHLFE
EERAROCEBERANGAMBRREENS
MEERERABENREERLATERES-

WARSBEH

AEENRERRENHERETS B BN HR
SEAM SRR BRNAMERREELET U
#Al BRBREHESARENEREERRE
(BEFERERREDNATESERNEHAR
DEDBCE IR R EE KRR

785 B 4 2 B AP T SO L A T A 5
FOMERR o FIRS + () BRSBTS R B R
TEAR A MEEEY AR AEEARE S
805 A R EAEE TR E S
Bo

og
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

=& M3 3 R

For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Specifically, the Group’s reportable and operating segments

are as follows:

° Provision of
private

educational

services

° Investments in

securities

o Property

investments

o Money lending

secondary tutoring services,
secondary day school education,
primary tutoring services, skKill
courses and test preparation
courses, franchising income,
English language training and test
preparation courses and dance
tuition services

trading of securities
investments of properties for
rental income and capital

appreciation

providing loans as money lender

Other operating segments which do not meet the quantitative

thresholds prescribed by HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments” for

determining reportable segments are combined as “Others”.

During the year ended 30 June 2018, the Group acquired

two subsidiaries with businesses which are included in the

“Provision of private educational services” segment.

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HEH A (BE)REEEER A F
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 & £2018F6A30H I-F[E

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7.
(Continued)

(a) Segment revenue and results

BWARSEBEH (&

(a) FEUARFEIR

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and AEBIRGE R A RED IO IERWA T

results by operating and reportable segments: EOWT
For the year ended 30 June 2018 Bl F2018F6H30HILFE
Provision
of private
educational  Investment Property Money
services in securities  investments lending Others  Consolidated
RELA
HERE RREF  DERR &5 it it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
Segment revenue PEHEA
(revenue from external customers) (REMBEEMA) 104,994 - 570 3,463 = 109,027
Segment results PEEE (40,712) 34,510 431 (4,175) 3) (9,949)
Loss on disposal of HEMHEE
available-for-sale investments REMEE (3,053)
Impairment loss on HEEREAN
available-for-sale investments REEE (23,771)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HERB L AR ke 13,731
Gain on disposal of an associate HE—RBE AR NN E 55,826
Gain on disposal of a joint venture HE-FAaEARNKaE 1
Finance costs BB (3,415)
Share of results of joint ventures i NG (16)
Share of results of associates i NS S (16,924)
Unallocated corporate income RABATMA 5,357
Unallocated corporate expenses RAEARRE (27,457)
Loss before tax BRAEE (9,670)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME

For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(@) Segment revenue and results (Continued)

(@) FWMUWARER (#Z)

7. WARSHEH (&)

For the year ended 30 June 2017 # 2201746 A30H I F &
Provision
of private
educational Investment Property Money
services  in securities  investments lending Others  Consolidated
RELA
HERHE REEH MERE BE Hety @t
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FAET FET FET FET FET
Segment revenue PEHEA
(revenue from external customers) (REMFEE]A) 149,439 S 1,443 2977 = 153,859
Segment results PHEE (16,701)  (210,704) 6,548 2816 ® (218,049
Impairment loss on AHEEREAN
available-for-sale investments REEE (3,997)
Gain on disposal of associates HEBERNAHNS 2212
Loss in respect of interest in BRER—REBERAME
an associate ERmMEE (117,115)
Finance costs Eﬁ%g'ﬁﬁ (16,598)
Share of results of joint ventures EER=UNSES 401
Share of results of assaciates ﬁ NG 54,982
Unallocated corporate income i NABA 2,582
Unallocated corporate expenses ﬂi’ﬁﬂi/& A X (34,530)
Loss before tax BRRAEE (330,112)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are

RaEsMz et BREN M A RE 2

the same as the Group’s accounting policies described
in Note 3. The CODM assesses segment results using
a measure of operating loss whereby certain items are
not included in arriving at the segment results of the
operating segments (i.e. loss on disposal of available-
for-sale investments, impairment loss on available-
for-sale investments, gain on disposal of subsidiaries,
associates and a joint venture, loss in respect of interest
in an associate, finance costs, share of results of joint
ventures and associates, unallocated corporate income
and expenses).

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HEH A (BE)REEEER A F

S BRER - BEEEERREULEERE
Mt ERFEDREE EFETHELR
BREEZSEZSHBNOBEER NHE
A HHERE R EE  AIHEERENRE
EFE LEWNBAR BEQAR N —HEE
RAEW RS BN — M E QR R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 & £2018F6A30H I-F[E

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WARDBEE (&
(Continued)
(b) Segment assets and liabilities (b) PHEERAR
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and AEBIKERARESBOENEERE
liabilities by operating and reportable segments: ENHTaT
As at 30 June 2018 201856 H30H
Provision
of private
educational  Investment Property Money
services in securities  investments lending Others  Consolidated
RELA
HERE REEH nERE ¢ it st

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET

Assets gE
Segment assets DHEE 77,582 76,516 - 34,261 = 188,359
Unallocated assets RNEBE
Bank balances and cash BARBRAS 40,208
Promissory note receivable Bl E iR 48,000
Interests in joint ventures RN 6,422
Available-for-sale investments A ERE 25,295
Other corporate assets HiARIBE 7,778
316,062
Liabilities aff
Segment liabilities PHEE 27,149 - - 50 = 27,199
Unallocated liabilities KPREE
Current tax liabilities HEREEE 13
Deferred tax liabilities BEEREAE 169
Other corporate liabilities HivRrBafE 425
27,806
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

=& M3 3 R

For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HEH A (BE)REEEER A F

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WARSEBEH (£)
(Continued)
(b) Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) (b) *BEERAR (&)
As at 30 June 2017 R2017F6 H30H
Provision
of private
educational Investment Property Money
services in securities  investments lending Others  Consolidated
RERLA
YERSE REEH MERE BE Hety @
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
Assets BE
Segment assets DHEE 48957 152,223 = 27,256 9 208,445
Assets associated with disposal BABRARENENLE
group classified as held for sale ERREnNEE = = 158,527 = = 158,527
Unallocated assets ROEBE
Bank balances and cash BIEBEERE 16,138
Promissory note receivable Bl E i 50,000
Interests in associates N AN ol 31,297
Interests in joint ventures REBARMER 7,999
Available-for-sale investments AHEHERE 83,283
Other corporate assets HipRAEE 11,148
h86,837
Liabilities -1
Segment liabilities AHEE 16,105 2,629 - 50 6 18,790
Liabilities associated with disposal BNBARELENLE
group classified as held for sale ERIEENEE = = 25,703 = = 25,703
Unallocated liabilities *HEBE
Current tax liabilities MEREEE 156
Deferred tax liabilities EEHEAE 202
Bank borrowings RITER 14,400
Loan notes BENER 150,500
Other corporate liabilities HiRAAE 12,213
221,964



7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(b) Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances
and allocating resources between segments:

e all assets are allocated to the operating segments
other than bank balances and cash (other than
those included in the money lending segment),
promissory note receivable, interests in associates
and joint ventures, available-for-sale investments
and other corporate assets; and

e all liabilities are allocated to the operating segments
other than current tax liabilities, deferred tax
liabilities, bank borrowings, loan notes and other
corporate liabilities.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

=& M R

For the year ended 30 June 2018 & £2018F6A30H I-F[E

BARSBEH (&)

(b) PMRERAMR (&)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(c) Other segment information

7. WARSEHEH (&

(c) Rty BEH

Provision
of private
educational  Investment Property Money
services  in securities  investments lending Others  Consolidated
RELA
HERE REEH NRRR fBE ] #i
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
For the year ended 30 June 2018 HE2018F6A30ALEE
Capital additions BRRE (4,837) (141) - - - (4,978)
Depreciation and amortisation WEREH (7,947) (845) - - (1) (8,793)
Reversal of provision for RORESRERR
long service payments 295 - - - - 295
Change in fair value of financial assets KA FE:T ABEH
at fair value through profit or loss CRHEENATEEY - 31,521 - - = 31,521
Impairment loss on goodwil BHEREER (559) - - - - (559)
Impairment loss on other EtEREERBER
intangible assets (2,626) - - - - (2,626)
Impairment loss on other receivables EthEN IR EER (7,643) - - - - (7,643)
Impairment loss on a loan receivable W EFGESIE - - - (7,493) - (7,493)
For the year ended 30 June 2017 HE201756A308 LFE
Capital additions BARE (10,467) (2,317) - - - (12,784)
Depreciation and amortisation HEREH (6,964) (719) - - ) (7,685)
Reversal of provision for RERKEREED
long service payments 175 - - - - 175
Change in fair value of investment RENENLTEED
properties - - 7,800 - - 7,800
Change in fair value of financial assets &AL B ABAH
at fair value through profit or loss SREENATES - (210,580) = = = (210,580)

The Group's assets, revenue and results for the year
derived from activities located outside Hong Kong are
less than 10% of the Group’s total assets, revenue and

results for the year.

No individual customer accounted for over 10% of the

Group’s total revenue during both years.

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HEH A (BE)REEEER A F
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME

For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F /&

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WARSHBEH (&
(Continued)
(d) Revenue from major services

(d) EERBUA

2018 2017

HK$’000 HK$'000

F#T FET

Secondary tutoring services R E RS 71,640 108,412

Secondary day school education ERBARRE - 1,150
Primary tutoring services, skill courses — /|NEEHE AR B ERE K&

and test preparation courses B R TE 15,162 12,933

Franchising income R A A 4,509 4,503

English language training and EREEII R

test preparation courses R R TE 11,243 22,441

Dance tuition services BB 2RS 2,440 =

Rental income EaUWA 570 1,443

Loan interest income BRA B A 3,463 2,977

Total revenue UL A 109,027 153,859
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

8. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES

8. HMBEA -WREER

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAEIT FHET
Interest income on KBTI FEHFE A
— promissory note receivable — YRR R 5,035 2,581
— unlisted convertible bonds — LA BRRESR 314 -
— bank deposits —RITEX 4 1
— other interest income —H A F B A 4 -
(Loss) gain on disposal of HETHSEN (FE) ke
— property, plant and equipment o E NN (34) (1,288)
— subsidiaries —M BT 13,731 17
— associates —HE QT 55,826 2,212
— a joint venture ——HEaE AT 1 -
— available-for-sale investments —AREERE (3,053) -
Gain on bargain purchase from acquisition 4 38 — fE Bt /&8 2 T Y
of a subsidiary EERIE RS - 1
Supporting services income TR RIEWA 605 1,619
Impairment loss on KA TS EMNRERSE
— goodwill -2 (559) -
— other intangible assets —HiEEEE (2,626) -
— other receivables — E M FEGRIE (7,643) -
— a loan receivable — W ER (7,493) -
Others b=} 1,773 1,004
55,885 6,147

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HEH A (BE)REEEER A F




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME

For the year ended 30 June 2018 & £2018F6A30H I-F[E

FINANCE COSTS 9. M¥KHH
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
F&T FHET
Interest expenses on bank and other RITREMEENTEFAZ
borrowings 135 594
Effective interest expense on loan notes EXRZENERANEAX 3,070 16,004
Interest expenses on promissory note JERT A ZBHFI SR
payable (Note) (H1az) 210 =
3,415 16,598
Note: HeE -
The interest expenses on promissory note payable arising from the REE2018F6 A30B L FEASERKE —HH B A
issuance of promissory note payable for the acquisition of a subsidiary AIBITRMN AL R RATE LN AL R ERON S FH
by the Group during the year ended 30 June 2018 (see Note 40). X (RI5E40) « &N EBR TR ASEN20186F4 30
The promissory note was issued by the Group on 30 April 2018 and AT WHEHRAEBER2018F6 A22ABHEE -

subsequently fully repaid by the Group on 22 June 2018.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

10. LOSS BEFORE TAX

Loss before tax has been arrived at after charging (crediting):

. RRAES IR

BRIATEIE S kR (FEA) THIER :

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FiET
Directors’ emoluments (Note 11) EEMe (HE11) 3,554 9,253
Other staff costs Hih 8 TRA 36,212 40,056
Other staff's retirement benefit scheme H 8 TH:RIREFIFT 85K
contributions 1,526 1,565
Share-based payments to other staff MEME T X B AR (9 2 BT 5K - 7,299
41,292 58,173
Tutor contractor fee to a Director (Note 11) M—&ZEESZNHEMARE
(B1aE11) (152) (217)
Staff costs 8T KA 41,140 57,956
Auditors’ remuneration 1% BRI 37 B 680 630
Write off of promissory note receivable il 35 FE WU K R R 5,529 =
Other share-based payment expenses Hab AR AERN TR - 2,921
Reversal of provision for long service REARR % & BB
payments (295) (175)
Gross rental income from investment "EYERSBKA
properties (570) (1,443)
Less: direct operating expenses incurred R FEANEERSBARN
for investment properties that REMEEED
generated rental income during BELERT
the year 9 43
(561) (1,400)

Tutor contractor fee is calculated based on (i) certain
percentage of revenue derived from secondary tutoring
services and English language training and test preparation
courses; and (ii) fixed hourly rate on primary tutoring services,
skill courses and test preparation courses.

Operating lease payments represent the minimum lease

payments under operating leases paid or payable to lessors
which mainly are independent third parties.

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HEH A (BE)REEEER A F
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11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES AND TUTORS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME

For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F /&

11. EERFETHASHM &R I A& 5
& & & BEm

2018 2017

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Directors’ fees Yok 463 600
Other emoluments to Directors MEEXZHEMIS
— basic salaries, allowances and —E KR RER

other benefits in kind HiabEWREF 2,733 4912

— discretionary bonus —IETEAT 154 140

— retirement benefit scheme contributions — — R K8 K 51 2 5 52 36

— share-based payments — AR BERET K - 3,348

3,402 9,036

Tutor contractor fee to a Director M—REBEEINNEMARSE 152 217

3,554 9,253

The bonus is determined with reference to the operating
results, individual performance and comparable market
statistics during both years.

AR 2ERMEANRERE AARAER
AL BT IS S A BUR T E ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

EERERTHRARHME R A E&EHH
ERREHM (&)

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 11.
EMOLUMENTS AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES AND TUTORS (Continued)

Details of emoluments paid by the Group to the Directors and

AEENEZNTEBTRAEBXNOBMEFF
chief executive are as follows: T:

Other emoluments

HtM e
Basic
salaries,
allowances Retirement
and other Tutor benefit
Directors’ benefits  Discretionary contractor scheme  Share-based
fee in kind bonus fee  contributions payments Total
EXFHE
RER R BET DY
EEns BWE# BEEd SEXER AEHR  BERAR #at
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Mz FRT FRT FET FET FET FET FRT
Year ended 30 June 2018 #F2018F6A30H
LEE
Mr. Yip Chung Yin Jeffrey EEBLE (i) - 331 - - 12 = 343
Mr. Tsang Ka Wai LRERE (ii) - 149 - - 7 - 156
Mr. Wong King Hoi W LE () - 139 - - 7 = 146
Ms. Jor Stephanie Wing Yee ~ Z K&+t (0 77 - - - - - 77
Mr. Leung Ki Chi James DEHREE (i) 54 - - - = = 54
Mr. Fenn David RERLE (iv) 17 - - - - - 17
Mr. Fong Chak Kiu FEALE ) 66 - - - - - 66
Mr. Wong Yuk Tong ITER%E (vi) 112 - - - - - 112
Ms. Wu Mei Chu MEGKLT (vii) - 415 154 - 11 = 580
Mr. Lee Wai Lok, Ignatious FEELLE
(“Mr. Lee") (MEEED (viii) - 1,699 - 152 15 - 1,866
Mr. Pun Kwok Shan BB K E (ix) 38 - - - - - 38
Mr. Ong Chi King TFHEE (viii) 43 - - - - - 43
Mr. Lee Shu Fai TRBLE (vi) 56 - - - - - 56
Total Fob 463 2,733 154 152 52 - 3,554
Notes: HeE -

(i)  Appointed on 10 November 2017

(i) Appointed on 24 October 2017

(i) Appointed on 19 January 2018

(iv)  Appointed on 10 May 2018

(v)  Appointed on 24 October 2017 and
resigned on 10 May 2018

(vi) Retired on 19 December 2017

(vii) Resigned on 21 December 2017

(viii) Resigned on 9 November 2017

(ix) Resigned on 26 October 2017

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HEH A (BE)REEEER A F

(i) M2017F11A108EEFE

(i) M2017FE10A24REEF

(i) M2018FE1A19R EEF

(iv) M2018FE58108EEE

(v) TA2017#10B24REZEIL R
20185108 B T

(vi) M2017%128198RE

(vii) M2017412821 BB E

(viii) M2017411A9H BT

(ix) 20179 10HA26H BT



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME

For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F /&

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES AND TUTORS (Continued)

Details of emoluments paid by the Group to the Directors and

ERREEHM (&)

11. EERFETHASHM &R I A& 5

AEERBEEREBTRABX MM EFREL

chief executive are as follows: (Continued) T:(#&)
Other emoluments
Hoh B &
Basic
salaries,
allowances Retirement
and other Tutor benefit
Directors’ benefits  Discretionary contractor scheme  Share-based
fee in kind bonus fee  contributions payments Total
AR EA BRAER PARRAD A
S0k YT ML BHEEE BE IS BRI st
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET FET FET FET
Year ended 30 June 2017 HE2017F6A30BLLFE
Mr. Wong Yuk Tong TERELE 240 45 = = = = 285
Ms. Wu Mei Chu HEKRZT = 943 79 = 18 1,674 2,714
Mr. Lee TEAE - 3,834 61 217 18 1,674 5,804
Mr. Pun Kwok Shan EEIL %S 120 = = = = = 120
Mr. Ong Chi King TrHas 120 45 - - - = 165
Mr. Lee Shu Fai E Gy e 120 45 - - - - 165
Total st 600 4912 140 217 36 3,348 9,253
Mr. Lee was also the chief executive of the Company for the B E2017F6H30B EFE - TEETAERAT]

year ended 30 June 2017.

ETBITHAR-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME

For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

EERERTHRARHME R A E&EHH
ERREHM (&)

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 11.
EMOLUMENTS AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES AND TUTORS (Continued)

The five highest paid individuals of the Group during the AEEBRAFEZRANEZSHFHALH WL
(20175 - WMB) RES REZFHFBFEHN L

NS =% (20175 =ZR)H&aFMA L 2R

year, two (2017: two) were Directors whose remuneration are
set out above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the

remaining three (2017: three) highest paid individuals are as FEHFMFBLOT
follows:
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FHET
Basic salaries, allowances and other HEA#HE ZHEEM
benefits in kind EYEF 2,326 2,444
Discretionary bonus 1B TEAL 111 114
Tutor contractor fee EHEARE - 1,066
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RRTEF T B3R 46 51
Share-based payments LARE 0 B BT 3R = 2,921
2,483 6,596

FINATHEZ FEF 2 HZSFMMA L AZD

The number of the highest paid individuals who are not

Directors whose remuneration fell within the following bands is K
as follows:

2018 2017
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A8 AZ
HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000 500,001/ 7t £ 1,000,0007% 7T 2 -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7t £1,500,0007% 7T 1 -
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,0017% JT £ 2,500,000/% 7T - 3
3 3

During the year ended 30 June 2017, certain non-Director
and non-chief executive highest paid employees were granted
share options, in respect of their services to the Group under
the share option scheme of the Company. Details of the share

option scheme are set out in Note 36.

AT EIFF BRI M 36 -

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HEH A (BE)REEEER A F

REE2017F6H30B L FE ETHEERIE
TRTHABZERFMEERBEALRBRE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME

For the year ended 30 June 2018 & £2018F6A30H I-F[E

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 1. EERFETRARNME R A6 &S HH

EMOLUMENTS AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES AND TUTORS (Continued)

Details of tutor contractor fee of the five highest paid tutors
(excluding Directors) during the year are as follows:

ERREEHM (&)

RER AURSHHEN (TEEES)HEM
EBEFENOT:

2018 2017

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Tutor contractor fee EHE AR B 15,258 27,195

The tutor contractor fees to the five highest paid tutors
(excluding Directors) were within the following bands:

TfusSHMEM (TEREF)NEMARE
NFATEE:

2018 2017

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

A& A&

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T £2,000,000/% 7T 3 -
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7T £2,500,000/% 7T - 2
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001/ 7T £3,500,000/% 7T 1 -
HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,500,001 7T £5,000,000/% 7T - 1
HK$6,500,001 to HK$7,000,000 6,500,001/% 7T £ 7,000,000/% 7T 1 -
HK$7,000,001 to HK$7,500,000 7,000,001/% 7t £7,500,000% 7T - 1
HK$10,000,001 to HK$10,500,000 10,000,001 7t £10,500,0007% 7T - 1
5 5

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the Directors or the
five highest paid employees and tutors as an inducement to
join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office.

During the years ended 30 June 2018 and 2017, none of the
Directors waived their emoluments on a voluntary basis.

Salaries, allowance and other benefits in kind paid to or
for the executive Directors are generally emoluments paid
or receivable in respect of those persons’ other services
in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and its subsidiaries.

AEBEVERNEFLAUKRFHMES R
B & VB TR 51 ANA SRR DA AN 55 181 85 £ B 2 3K
TERRER I -

MRELE20184F k201766 A30R L F 5 - #iEE
FEREREEME-
ENSERATEETINNGTE RHREMEY

B —RAREEEARR NENEBAREBHE
BAHEMREA LN NRERME -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

12. INCOME TAX 12. FR8NW
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAEIT FET
Current tax: BIHARH IR -
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEFNEH
— Provision for the year —F N - 178
— Over-provision in respect of prior years —BAFE ARG (57) (40)
The People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) hEARKRME ([HE])
Enterprise Income Tax TERER - =
(57) 138
Deferred tax (Note 33) EIEFIE (477#33) (1,381) 676
Total income tax (credit) expense RIERER SR
recognised in profit or loss (KR AZBE (1,438) 814

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated
assessable profit for both years.

The provision for PRC Enterprise Income Tax is based on
the estimated taxable income for PRC taxation purposes
at the rate of taxation applicable to each year. Subsidiaries
established in the PRC were subject to Enterprise Income Tax
at 25% for both years.

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HEH A (BE)REEEER A F

&8 MG B AR B R (4 E 2 f 5t 8RB A i

16 5% M T KETHE -

PRI RS ETIRE T B IA 2 AR
WAREFEMBERZREAE - RPBEKIZZ
BB 2 RIS R B R I 1R25 % M (B PR AS A



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 & £2018F6A30H I-F[E

12. INCOME TAX (Continued) 12. FRr8R (&)
The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to loss before AEFEEMHBETHEGEERMEMEEWER
tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other FIRHIBR AT BB E RN T -

comprehensive income as follows:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Loss before tax R B A BT 1R (9,670) (330,112)
Tax at the Hong Kong Profits Tax rate REBNEHBE16.5%
of 16.5% (2017: 16.5%) (20174 : 16.5% ) T E M Fi 18 (1,595) (54,468)
Tax effect of income not taxable BERHRANE BT E
for tax purpose (17,571) (2,155)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible AR BTG &
for tax purpose 9,460 60,747
Tax effect of share of results of associates J?ETEH?“M”_ ES E’J%)“Eﬂ‘k%gé? 2,792 (9,072)
Tax effect of share of results of joint ventures [B{h & & QA Al EENTHRIE T E 2 (66)
Utilisation of deductible temporary ) AR MR A R B 1 =R
differences not recognised (592) (470)
Tax effect of deductible temporary 2R —HD/)EK@?H = EEAY
differences recognised M e - 1,106
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERHBBENRGTE 6,582 6,298
Tax effect of tax losses recognised ERRREEENHRETE - (397)
Utilisation of tax losses previously not FABTARERNTIEESR
recognised (328) (658)
Over-provision in prior years BEFEBREEE (57) (40)
Others HAh (131) (11)
Income tax (credit) expense for the year FERENR (BR) X (1,438) 814
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

13. LOSS PER SHARE 13. EREGIR
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share KA ARREFEREN 2 SRER LS
attributable to owners of the Company for both years are BB TYIRE A T 8UERTE

based on the following data:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
TF#&T FET
Loss for the purpose of basic and RAEEREAREEEE
diluted loss per share il & K& 18
Loss for the year attributable to owners AAREE AEGFEER
of the Company (8,246) (333,326)
Number of Number of
shares shares
& B R EE
Weighted average number of ordinary RAEEREAREEEE
shares for the purpose of basic and mE 2 LB INEFHE
diluted loss per share 547,570,880 518,568,973
No adjustment has been made in calculating the diluted loss MRFREEBRITES B S BR MR EE
per share amount presented for the year ended 30 June 2018 F2018F6A30H L FE2VzSREEEES
as there were no dilutive potential ordinary shares in issue R VR SR o
during the year.
No adjustment has been made in calculating the diluted loss HRARITHEERESFMZVNERERNEEAR
per share amount presented for the year ended 30 June 2017 BSEIER R FTE A =2017F6 A308 LEF
in respect of the share options outstanding as the options had ERIzERBEFESERTEERAZE-
an anti-dilutive effect on the basic loss per share amounts
presented.
14. DIVIDENDS 14. 2
The Board does not recommend the payment of a final EEe EEREE2018F6A30R IFFELfF
dividend for the year ended 30 June 2018 (2017: nil). REARZ B (20174 : £ ) -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FEeMBEERMEE
For the year ended 30 June 2018 & £2018F6A30H I-F[E
15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. E - BEREH
Leasehold Furniture Office Computer
improvements  and fixtures equipment equipment Total
HERE FUREBE BOZEE ElSH hy
HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET FET
COST 5%.3
At 1 July 2016 20167 A 1H 27,7187 4,923 8,132 5,834 46,676
Additions HNE 8,382 1,076 472 2,854 12,784
Disposals/write off HE /M (6,714) 912) (1,380) (35) (9,041)
Disposal of subsidiaries HENBAF - - (6) (28) (34)
At 30 June 2017 and 20176 A30H &

1 July 2017 201747818 29,455 5,087 7,218 8,625 50,385
Additions NE 4,002 365 295 316 4978
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 40) W EEM B 22 7] (f1:#40) 3,589 200 23 119 3,931
Disposals/write off HE /M (195) - (283) (5) (483)
At 30 June 2018 20186 H30H 36,851 5,652 7,253 9,055 58811
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION R&HirE
At 1 July 2016 R2016%F7A1H 12,368 3,035 6,298 4,101 25,802
Depreciation expense TERY 5,133 582 667 1,105 7,487
Eliminated on disposalsiwrite off ~ H & /i $5 554K 85 (5,543) (871) (1,304) (34) (7,752)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHB AR - - (1) 2) (3)
At 30 June 2017 and R2017%F6A308 &

1 July 2017 20177818 11,958 2,746 5,660 5,170 25,534
Depreciation expense WERY 5,759 698 594 1,211 8,262
Eliminated on disposalsiwrite off 18 /4 $ F 5 84 (198) - (246) (5) (449)
At 30 June 2018 2018665308 17,519 3444 6,008 6,376 33347
CARRYING AMOUNTS REE
At 30 June 2018 H2018F6A30H 19,332 2,208 1,245 2,679 25,464
At 30 June 2017 R201746A30H 17,497 2,341 1,558 3,455 24,851
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

16.

(Continued)

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of property, plant

and equipment over their estimated useful lives, using the

straight-line method, at the following rates per annum:

15. W% -WER®E (&

ME BERRBORAEUNERENE RE
A AT AERTUAME SFORERET:

Leasehold improvements 20% - 30% HEEE 20% - 30%
Furniture and fixtures 20% — 30% RMREE 20% - 30%
Office equipment 20% WRERAME 20%
Computer equipment 20% LR 20%
GOODWILL 16. @&
CGU 1 CGU 2 CGU 3 Total
ReESE ReES HReESE
Bl B2 B3 o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
COST BE
At 1 July 2016, 30 June 2017 R2016%F7H1H 20174
and 1 July 2017 6A30H &2017F7H1H 60 - - 60
Arising from acquisition of REWEHE AT
subsidiaries (Note 40) (B1a40) = 25,448 559 26,007
At 30 June 2018 R2018%F6 A30H 60 25,448 559 26,067
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION £ &H# 88 &= (&
AND IMPAIRMENT
At 1 July 2016, 30 June 2017 R2016%F7H1H 201745
and 1 July 2017 6A308 Kk201747H1H - - - -
Impairment loss recognised EERBEBE - = 559 559
At 30 June 2018 R2018F6 A30H - - 559 559
CARRYING AMOUNTS REE
At 30 June 2018 201846 A30H 60 25,448 - 25,508
At 30 June 2017 R20179F6 A30H 60 - - 60

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HEH A (BE)REEEER A F




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 & £2018F6A30H I-F[E

16. GOODWILL (Continued) 16. M8 (&

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill has been
allocated to three cash generating units (“CGUs”) which
are engaged in money lending business (“CGU 1"), private
educational services (“CGU 2") and IT services (“CGU 3"),

respectively.

CGU 1 - Money lending business

Based on the result of impairment test, no impairment loss
on goodwill allocated to CGU 1 is recognised during the years
ended 30 June 2018 and 2017.

CGU 2 - Private educational services (dance tuition
services)

The recoverable amount of CGU 2 has been determined
based on fair value less costs of disposal (“FVLCD").
In determining the FVLCD of CGU 2, the management
has adopted the market approach (Level 3 fair value
measurements), which have adopted price-to-book (“P/B”)
multiple in the valuation. Several companies with business
scopes and operations similar to those of CGU 2 were adopted
as comparable companies (“Comparable Companies”). The
Comparable Companies were selected mainly with reference
to the following selection criteria:

— the Comparable Companies selected are principally
engaged in provision of providing indoor physical
education classes (e.g. dance, fitness and yoga);

—  the Comparable Companies have sufficient listing and
operating histories; and

— the financial information of the Comparable Companies is
available to the public.

Key assumptions used in the FVLCD calculation of CGU 2 for
the year ended 30 June 2018 included the P/B multiple of
1.96, marketability discount of 20% and control premium of
25%.

RETHRENS ABES EE=ERTEL
B (REELEM]) DB EEEER
(ReELBML]) RARBRE ([REEL
B2]) REMBERRSE (ReELEMI]) -

ReEERMUl-ERRE

REBRER AR #E2018% k201756 H30
BItFEYEANDEERSEE BN EEMRE
R EREE-

BeEEBMu2-LAHTRYE (REN
BHR#%)

R EL B2 AIRE S8R 2 FER &K
A(TRAFERLEXNK])EE-BERESELE
B2 A FEBROERAR EEECRMAT
BER(F=ZMAFEFE) REESEEAMER
(IR B -FRAXFHELEEERNGES
BA2BUNETARERATLLRAR ([AILE
RAE) AR AR ER2EU THERER
B

- PIEENNTLEBRARIERFERHEEAR
Be A A2 (NZEES 2 5 Rafin)

- HUERAFRAGRRNLTREEEL R

- HEBRARNPBEMAHIRERH-

SERSESBMA2NE E2018F6A30H LEF
EHRAFERLEXNARERNEERIRE
1.96 B & 81+ T35 7% 38 M 3T 58 20% K 458 I 4 i
{825% o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME

For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

16. GOODWILL (Continued)

CGU 2 - Private educational services (dance tuition
services) (Continued)

The Directors are of the opinion that based on the FVLCD of
CGU 2, there is no impairment of goodwill allocated to CGU 2
during the year ended 30 June 2018. The Directors believe
that any reasonably possible change in the key assumptions
on which the recoverable amount is based would not cause
the carrying amount of the unit to exceed its recoverable
amount as at 30 June 2018.

CGU 3 - IT services

Due to uncertain operating environment, the estimated
recoverable amount of CGU 3 was below its carrying amount
and goodwill allocated to this unit was fully impaired during
the year ended 30 June 2018 and included in “Other income,
gains and loss”.

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HEH A (BE)REEEER A F

16. @& (&

BeEERMU2-LAHTRE (REN
BR®) (&)

EXZRR REACELBM2HQAFEREE
B B Z2018F6A30R L FE I RERSE
HEB2NE BT ERE - EFEE ATRE SR
kBN E2RENEMNSGERAEEDHHTSE
B BAN2018F6 A30RA M AREEE B H AT ik
Ol & %8 -

BegErEMu3-—EMBERRE
RREEIRE TR - W EL B3N MEF AT
EEBEREERERDEEXZEMNBERE
E2018F6A30R L FEEBBUREL A TH
U - Wz R EIR |



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 & £2018F6A30H I-F[E

The Group’s trademark protects the design and specification
of “BACHELOR EDUCATION CENTRE LIMITED"” logo, and
was assessed to have an indefinite useful life. On the date
of acquisition (i.e. 31 December 2010), the fair value of this
trademark is assessed using an income approach under

the relief from royalty method by an independent qualified

professional valuer.

17. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17. HthEEL B E
Franchise
Trademark rights  IT systems Total
TR
AR YR E¥ et
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
COST B&E

At 1 July 2016, 30 June 2017 R2016%F7H1H 20174

and 1 July 2017 6A30H &2017F7H1H 2,957 1,979 - 4,936
Arising from acquisition of KB U I B A 7

a subsidiary (Note 40) (H5#40) = = 2,960 2,960
At 30 June 2018 7201846 A30H 2,957 1,979 2,960 7,896
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION 2 & &8 & st (B

AND IMPAIRMENT
At 1 July 2016 R2016F7H1H 2,957 1,089 - 4,046
Amortisation expense BIHER = 198 = 198
At 30 June 2017 and 7201746 308 &

1 July 2017 201747 A1H 2957 1,287 - 4,244
Impairment loss recognised BRI EEE = = 2,626 2,626
Amortisation expense BHER = 197 334 531
At 30 June 2018 $201846 A30H 2957 1,484 2960 7,401
CARRYING AMOUNTS REE
At 30 June 2018 7201846 A30H - 495 - 495
At 30 June 2017 R20179F6 A30H - 692 - 692

ANEB N HIZR#% [BACHELOR EDUCATION
CENTRE LIMITED | 2558t R ARA& - WA T E
BEBERAERFEH N UEE B B (BI20104F
12A318) ' WHEENAFEI I H—RBILAE
BB EMEMRAENS A EZNBAEEL T

fle
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=& M3 3 R

For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

17. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 17. Ath L EE (=

Franchise rights represent the right to use the name

BRI RERE )N BHERBEBNENRF

“BACHELOR EDUCATION CENTRE LIMITED” under 75 :% 6 A [BACHELOR EDUCATION CENTRE

contractual franchise agreements in the business of primary

tutoring services. The amortisation period of franchise rights is

10 years.

Due to uncertain operating environment, the estimated
recoverable amount of the IT systems was below its carrying
amount and was fully impaired during the year ended 30 June

2018 and included in “Other income, gains and loss”. Bl

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

18. RBELAFZHE

LIMITED J =B HOHER - B5SF RV B S A R 10%F

RRNEERETH BEAMKZ RGO MGEA
Yo & RN HEREERRBE2018F6 A30H
L FE D BEORELF A TEMRA - Yt M &

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#T FEr
Cost of investments TE KA
— Listed ] - 92,030
— Unlisted —3EEm 5 5
Share of post-acquisition results and FEMRUR BB 18 B
reserves, net of dividends received (MW s) (5) 56,377
Less: Loss in respect of interest in RN RN b e O B =|
an associate - (117,115)
Balance at end of the year REREE R - 31,297

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HEH A (BE)REEEER A F



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 & £2018F6A30H I-F[E

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 18. R BARZES (&

Particulars of the Group’s associates at 30 June 2018 are as REBR2018F6 A30H B & N BIFFIBOT
follows:

Place of Proportion of nominal value

incorporation/ of issued capital held Proportion of
Name of associate operation by the Group voting power held Principal activities

30404 SEEMRFERT FsREE
BELTER EEME BREFEELH :4:] TEEH

2018 2017 2018 2017

Modern Legend Hong Kong/ 50% 50% 50% 50%  Investment holding and its subsidiary is
Management Consultant ~ Hong Kong principally engaged in the provision
of Education Limited of private educational and training
(“Modern Legend”) services in the PRC
(Note i)*

BRERHEEREN BR/EAR 50% 50% 50% 50% REZRRAMBAREERTE
BRAA ([RRER]) =R ELAKE RIFFIRE
(Histi) *

Interactive Entertainment  Cayman Islands N/A 26.66% N/A 26.66%  Investment holding and its subsidiaries
China Cultural and continued in are principally engaged in mobile
Technology Investments Bermuda/Hong internet cultural business and provision
Limited (“IE China") Kong of IT services, provision of hospitality
(Note 1) * and related services in Australia,

money lending business and assets
investments business

BERFEXCRREE REESINAR  FER 26.66% TER 2666% REZRRREAMBLARIENEBHE

BRAR ([RRHAE]) BFE/EE Hﬁ%ﬁft%i‘%&ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂ&ﬂﬁ% g
(Bistii) * PRIMNRADE E RIBERE - E 5
BREEREEY
*  Neither Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited nor another member firm * XBEBEIMERABR L A RXBERR A E
of Baker Tilly International is the auditor of these associates. L 8 2 G145 FF % S0 & 1 Gl B % Z0AT -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

On 18 November 2016, Modern Legend was incorporated and
the Group subscribed 50% equity interest of Modern Legend.
The Group has ability to exercise significant influence through its
shareholding.

|IE China is a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and
continued in Bermuda and its shares are listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange, acts as an investment holding company and
its subsidiaries (collectively, “IE China Group”) are principally
engaged in the mobile internet cultural business and provision
of IT services, provision of hospitality and related services in
Australia, money lending business and assets investments
business.

On 9 September 2016, Fastek Investments Limited (“Fastek”),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and a
vendor, an independent third party of the Company, entered
into the sales and purchase agreement pursuant to which
Fastek agreed to purchase and the vendor agreed to sell
492,576,511 IE China Shares (“Sale Share(s)”), representing
approximately 10% of the total issued share capital of IE China
as at 9 September 2016, at consideration of approximately
HK$32,510,000 (i.e. approximately HK$0.066 per Sale Share).
As a result, the Group held approximately 28.88% of the
then total issued share capital of IE China and has ability to
exercise significant influence through its shareholding. The
Group reclassified the interests in IE China from held-for-trading
investments to interest in an associate and accounted for using
the equity method of accounting during the year ended 30 June
2017. On the date that IE China became an associate of the
Group, the Directors performed a purchase price allocation of
the total cost, including deemed costs represented by the fair
value of the interests previously classified as held-for-trading
investments, against the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the acquired assets and liabilities with reference to valuations
carried out by an independent qualified professional valuer.
As a result, a gain on bargain purchase of approximately
HK$216,549,000 was recognised in profit or loss at the date
of acquisition and included in the determination of the Group’s
share of the results of the associate for the year ended 30 June
2017.

On 20 September 2016, 22 September 2016 and
27 September 2016, several shareholders of IE China had
exercised their share options and the Group’s shareholding
over IE China had diluted from approximately 28.88% to
approximately 26.66%. Loss on deemed disposal arising from
the above share dilution of approximately HK$16,608,000 was
recognised in profit or loss during the year ended 30 June 2017.

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited &&#E (B KEEEER A A

18. RBBATFIZEE (&)
3t -

(i)

(i)

R20165F11A18H RARESETMARIL A%
ERBRAE S050%RE  AEEEHERE
BAETTEEATEN -

ERPER-—MARASEEEMRI RN ARE
FEZ AR ERMOIREZAGEM LT - ERIRE
ERARREMBAR (S BRPEEE])
TENREBHEBRBUCER RRHERBRR
B RN RGURE RARRIIRTS - BEEBREE
BREXRRK-

R2016F9A9R AR AMEEZEEZEWE A A
Fastek Investments Limited ([Fastek | ) 82 & J5
(ARAMBIYIE=F)IIVEEHZ &It
Fastek[@ E & & i1 & 75 [A & 1 §492,576,51 1%
ERPBERMD([HERN]) HERFBER
2016F9 AR BT AN B ENI0% RE A
#932,510,0007% 7T (BD & % 38 & A% 15 £90.06678
) A AEEREEIRAPBEEREEITR
RIBER28.88% e B B EARETHERTE
e REEEFZE2017F6A30B I FEBREIRF
BHEERBEFEEREET D EENE &2 A
FED  WIRARS AR - RERPREK A
AEENBEARIER EERYEAEEELAT
WEEENBBEATFEMNRKN A (BEBES
MABEEBRENERIUATFEZIIMIRIERK
K)FEZBEELR  HiE2E—BBILAER
FEGEMETHEE B ZERBREL
216,549,000/8 ST A UL % B B 18 s AR AT A
ETAEEHE2017F6A30H (FFE 2 BB

7201659 F20H - 20165F9 A22H K 201659 A
278 BRAPEHERRITERLBRE  AEER
B 4R 7h B A0 R £ 4928 .88 % #E £ £126.66% ©
e £ $H8 S AR O A0 1 L 8 MY 1598 4916,608,000
BILRBE2017F6 A30H ILFER B ER -



18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(ii)

(Continued)

As at 30 June 2017, the Directors noted the downward trend
of IE China’s share price. Therefore, the Directors performed
an impairment assessment on the interest in IE China. Based
on the assessment, an impairment loss of approximately
HK$100,507,000 was recognised during the year ended
30 June 2017. The fair value of the Group’s interest in the
associate was determined by reference to the quoted market
price of the shares in IE China as at 30 June 2017.

On 6 April 2018, Fastek has entered into an agreement with
Ms. Cheng Hei Yu (“Ms. Cheng”), an independent third party,
for the disposal of all shares held by Fastek in IE China to Ms.
Cheng. Pursuant to the agreement, the aggregate consideration
for the disposal of all shares held by Fastek in IE China is
approximately HK$66,861,000, representing approximately
HK$0.047 per share. The disposal of IE China was completed
on 15 June 2018 and resulting in a gain on disposal of an
associate of approximately HK$55,826,000.

All of these associates are accounted for using the equity
method in these consolidated financial statements.

Summarised financial information of a material
former associate

Summarised financial information of the former associate

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME

For the year ended 30 June 2018 & £2018F6A30H I-F[E

18. RBBAVFIZEE (&)
Wizt (4&)

(i (&)

M20174F6 A30R F EFMABE R BRER) ~1T
BBt EFHRNERPENERETRE
FTAE - R A /)WEJEETE%’JIOO,BOZOOO/%EEA
HZE2017F6A30R IEFERR - AEEREEQ
AN ATEESEERFPBIRGR20174
6A30H M TS MEET

20184868 *FastekE —Z 3B 5 = T EI =
7+ ([8Z+ | ) FEIA 86 £ & H & Fastek A B IR
Bl FT#5 2 SBAR D 5T L 17k o AR IR 7% + & Fastek
REIRF B AT 2 2P A 10 7Y 42 1 € 966,861,000
BT BERERY0.047E T HEERPERN
2018F6A15HFEM » FEE A & — & A RIAYIL
7% #755,826,0007% It °

BIRCEZE 3 o WNCIN S GR=
ENER

EXABRELAFICHMBERRIBE

B BHERT YRR

AEBEFBERRZMBEERMZEHIMT T

of the Group is set out below. The summarised financial X Frit z IS E R E TR E R AR B RS
information below represents amounts shown in the former WBmELEANRRE M BERERPATEE-
associate’s financial statements prepared in accordance with
HKFRSs.
IE China Group HERBEEE
As at
30 June 2017
20174
6H30H
HK$'000
FET
Current assets MEEE 455,566
Non-current assets ERBEE 531,224
Current labilites TEEE 299,676
Non-current liabilities FEmBEE 178,107
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME

For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Summarised financial information of a material
former associate (Continued)

18. KRB ELAFIZHEG (&

EXAMBEATCHMBRHEE (&)

IE China Group (Continued) HERPEERE (&)
For the For the
period from period from
1 July 2017 9 September 2016
to 15 June 2018 to 30 June 2017
H2017%7H1H E2016%F9 A9H
FE2018%6A15H 220176 A330H
1EHAR I==E5
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Revenue WA 428,345 308,299
Loss from continuing operations REFBECEELNEIE (64,781) (602,118)
Post-tax profit from discontinued operations K B B &R |F &% ETEHBR B & 8 - 513
Loss for the period HRNEE (64,781) (601,605)
Other comprehensive (expense) income HREM2E (X)) KE
for the period (48,514) 16,598
Total comprehensive expense for the period — HAN 2 M f Xk 424 %8 (113,295) (584,647)

Dividend received from the associate

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HEH A (BE)REEEER A F




18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
Summarised financial information of a material
former associate (Continued)

IE China Group (Continued)
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information
to the carrying amount of the interest in the former associate

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME

For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F /&

18. RBELFIZHEG (&
EXMBEATCHMBRHEE (&)

TRPEEN (E)
B B E RS E EMN2017F6 A30H K4 & Bt
BMRAPTHERN A E AR 2 EaRREE S

recognised in the consolidated financial statements as at B
30 June 2017:
As at
30 June 2017
20174
6H30H
HK$'000
FET
Net assets of IE China Group ERAPEER s EEFHA 509,007
Less: Non-controlling interests B IR S (465)
Equity attributable to owners of IE China EIRFPBIMER A (LS 508,542
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest AEBROERFEAEEHS
in IE China Group ez 2t 26.66%
Impairment loss BB E 1 (100,507)
Other adjustments Hh A% (3,773)
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest AEEREIRPEEER 2
in IE China Group w2 BREE 31,297
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME

For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 18. REBIBATRIZHEE (£
Information of an associate that is not individually BEHNEFREXHBRELTEH
material
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#T FEIT
The Group’s share of post-tax loss AEERGKREZEBR - (5)
The Group's share of other comprehensive 7N £ [ &1 & 4th 2 [ 5 &2
expense - =

The Group’s share of total comprehensive — ZN&EfE(L 2 L 4258
expense - ()

Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s ~ RNEBREZE AR 2
interest in the associate e BREE - -
The Group has discontinued recognition of its share of losses AEBECRIEBRAEERE—HEHE R T cEE-
of an associate. The amount of unrecognised share of result FARRFAEREGZBELNTCXESH
of the associate, extracted from the relevant management (B EZBE AR HEEERE )T :
accounts of the associate, for the year and cumulatively, are
as follows:
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FEor
Unrecognised share of loss of an associate 4 X 7 # 72 & {5 —
for the year AN o) 5= (358) (192)
Cumulative unrecognised share of losses RETARERES—H
of an associate /N oy 3 =] (550) (192)

184 Hong Kong Education (Int') Investments Limited &&#E (BE)EEEEHR AR



19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

=& M R

For the year ended 30 June 2018 & £2018F6A30H I-F[E

19. REBLFIZHR

2018 2017

HK$’000 HK$'000

F#ETT FET

Cost of unlisted investments JEEMREKA 14,000 14,250
Share of post-acquisition results, net of FE(R IR 1% 4R

dividends received (HBBE W E) (7,578) (6,251)

Balance at end of the year RE R 6,422 7,999

At 30 June 2018, the Group had interests in the following joint

R2018F6 A30R  AEEMRUT AL AR

ventures:
Place of Proportion of nominal value
incorporation of issued capital held by Proportion of
Name of joint venture and operation the Group voting power held Principal activities
CENCES IR EE R FEARGERTRIEELN FisRRELA IERE
2018 2017 2018 2017
Full Profit Hong Kong Hong Kong 50% 50% 50% 50%  Provision of management and consultancy services
Development Limited for kindergartens
(“Full Profit’)
BRERURERAA  BR 50% 50% 50% 0% AHZRREERREARE
(T2g])
Creative Education Hong Kong N/A 50% N/A 50%  Provision of private educational and training services
Technology Limited
(“Creative Education”)
(Note)
BRYERNERAR AR FiH 50% s 1 50% REHAKE REIRS
([BIB4E)) (Hit)

ANNUAL REPORT 2018 4 #
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

Note:

On 3 June 2013, the Group entered into an agreement with a
joint venture partner (“JV Partner”) in relation to the formation of
Creative Education. Pursuant to the agreement, each of the Group
and the JV Partner holds 50% equity interest in Creative Education
by contributing cash of HK$250,000 each by the Group and the
JV Partner and may increase the investment in Creative Education up
to a total amount of HK$20,000,000 with prior consent of each other.

Pursuant to the agreement between the Group and the JV Partner:

o in the event that the JV Partner (or the holding company of
the JV Partner or a company which is owned as to 50% or
more by the JV partner) has met the listing requirements of
the Taiwan Stock Exchange (including listing on the Taiwan
Stock Exchange, listing on the GreTai Securities Market and
registration on the Emerging Stock Board) or GEM of the Stock
Exchange, the JV Partner shall be entitled the right to subscribe
an additional 10% equity interest in Creative Education at a
subscription price determined at the net asset value of Creative
Education or five times of profit after tax of Creative Education,
whichever is higher (“JV Partner’s Call Option”); and

o in the event that Creative Education has met the listing
requirements of GEM of the Stock Exchange, the Group shall be
entitled the right to subscribe an additional 10% equity interest
in Creative Education at a subscription price determined at the
net asset value of Creative Education or five times of profit after
tax of Creative Education, whichever is higher (“Group’s Call
Option”).

In the opinion of the Directors, the fair value of the Group’s Call
Option and the JV Partner’'s Call Option is insignificant at date of
incorporation of the joint venture and as at 30 June 2017.

On 15 June 2018, the Group has entered into an agreement with
the JV Partner for the disposal of 50% equity interest in Creative
Education held by the Group to the JV Partner at a cash consideration
of HK$62,000. The disposal of equity interest in Creative Education
is completed on 15 June 2018 and resulting in a gain on disposal of
a joint venture of approximately HK$1,000. The Group’s Call Option
and commitment in respect of capital injection in Creative Education
arising from the agreement in relation to the formation of Creative
Education is terminated upon the completion of the disposal and no
further obligation will be responsible by the Group to the JV Partner
nor Creative Education.

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited &&#E (B KEEEER A A

19. REELFIZHES (&)

ES

R2013F6A3R AL EHAERY ([6EBHH
RIABIERB I — D BEZ R AEEEE
EENHSEERAAAEEERSCEREHSAURETE
250,000 T BRI EH B M50 BrRNS A S
ERENBRATEMREELENREERZAEA
20,000,000 7T ©

RIBAEEESEBH 2 HO W

o MAABH (REEBHNERIRX—MHA
ERHER %I LERNRR)TEEEE
FRGM(BENRBEBEFRSM LT R LE
E R EAEREM ) REE X AGEMA) LTS Al
BEBHEARERBE RAEHANEES
BHABHARBREFNNAELE (AREE
RE)EE) RBEIBHERINORRE ([AER
HREME]) R

o HEIBHENAMIAMGEMAY L E5R - BIARLE
BEARZABE (RAEHRAENEEFENKE
EHEGRURENNAGEE ARSERE)E
E)RERIBHEFEIN0%KE ([AEHEREH
AP

BEEAR AEERBHENRSERHABIEREE
N EIFEMAAL A # KR 20179F6 A30R M A FEL A&
*o

R201856A15H ASEHESERHRUNBRSRE
62,0008 LA A B R H & AN B s 8 B2 B 50%
REETSL— D 1hed - S RI B A AR 201856 A 15R
TR EEHE —EEE A RIBKEL1,0008 T c B
BRI BERBE 2 amMEEZ ASHRERERE
MMEEHAE TEZAHENHERKER L BALE
BTEEEBHRABHEAEEAE—FEE-



19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

The joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method
in these consolidated financial statements.

Summarised financial information of a material
joint venture

Summarised financial information in respect of a material joint
venture and its subsidiary (collectively “Full Profit Group”)
of the Group is set out below. The summarised financial
information below represents amounts shown in the joint
venture’s financial statements prepared in accordance with
HKFRSs.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

=& M R

For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F /&

19. REELFIZHER (&)

BERRADNEREREINZEREMBREA
BE o

EXSELFICHBERAGBE

AEEERAERARAWNBAR (KM &E
KE) ZHBERBESRZI 0T o T XAz B
BEMRENIRGERARREBEEMBREER
B2 BMRTARER

Full Profit Group BEEE
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FHET
Current assets MEEE 4,101 4,626
Non-current assets EREEE 3 6
Current liabilities mEaE 1,619 1,304

The above amounts of assets and liabilities include the

tREEFAREEREENNTEE:

following:
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Cash and cash equivalents BeNReEEY 4,065 4,592

Current financial liabilities (excluding trade HEF e BB (TEREE IR

and other payables and provisions) H b A FRIB R )
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187



188

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME

For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) 19. REBAFIZEE (&
Summarised financial information of a material EXSEBLAFIZCHMESHEBE (£)
joint venture (Continued)
Full Profit Group (Continued) BEZEm (&)
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Revenue WA 4,672 6,168
Profit for the year F S uF 2,157 2,995
Other comprehensive income for the year & Efth & E WA - -
Total comprehensive income for the year FEEEMALRE 2,157 2,995
Dividend received from the joint venture BE& &R FWERr AR E 1,500 2,000
The above profit for the year includes the following: FHlFEEFNEEUATSIE:
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Depreciation and amortisation I R 4 4
Interest income 2 WA 1 1
Taxation TIA 431 601

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HEH A (BE)REEEER A F



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

=& M R

For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F /&

19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) 19.

Summarised financial information of a material
joint venture (Continued)

Full Profit Group (Continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information
to the carrying amount of the interest in Full Profit Group
recognised by the Group in the consolidated financial

REBRFIZHEE (&

EXSEQFICHMBRHEBE (&)

BEEH (E)

BB AR AR KERGE M HEREAFT
RRBERE 2 EREE K

statements:
2018 2017
HK$’'000 HK$'000
F#ETT FiET
Net assets of Full Profit Group BREEBENEEFE 2,485 3,328
Proportion of the Group’s ownership rEERREESEHEG’
interest in Full Profit Group U gzogn el 50% 50%
Effect of fair value adjustments at acquisition W B8 N FEFAE 2 2 14,000 14,000
Other adjustments Hth 35 & (8,820) (7,728)
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in =~ AEBN B LEF 5 2
Full Profit Group BREE 6,422 7,936

Information of a joint venture that is not
individually material and has been disposed of on
15 June 2018

EREREXEER2018F6A15HHE
o &N

For the period For the period

from 1 July 2017

from 1 July 2016

to 15 June 2018 to 30 June 2017
H2017#7A1R BH201657A1H
F2018%6H15H £2017%F6H30H
1EHAR JIR::]
HK$’000 HK$000
FET F&ET
The Group's share of post-tax loss REB RGBT ZEE (2) (4)
The Group's share of other comprehensive AEERGEMEZEBA
income = -
The Group’s share of total comprehensive AEBEGEEATRE
expense (2) (4)
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's REBREERRZERZ
interest in the joint venture BIRHE N/AFEHR 63
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

20. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

20. ATLMERE

2018 2017
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt FETT FET
Listed equity securities in BEALETRAFES
Hong Kong at fair value bi- /NS ] (1) 9,181 35,514
Unlisted investment fund, at cost FELEMEREES  HKA (i) - 9,054
Unlisted equity interest in overseas 84MN3E M IR ZAR#E %S (i)
at fair value BAFE 16,114 38,715
25,295 83,283
Notes: Ha

0]

As at 30 June 2018, the listed equity securities represent the
shares of GET Holdings Limited (“GET”, a company listed on
GEM of the Stock Exchange with stock code: 8100) (2017:
shares of GET and Target Insurance (Holdings) Limited (“Target
Insurance”, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange with stock code: 6161)) held by the Group which are
stated at fair value with reference to the quoted market bid price
in the Stock Exchange.

During the year ended 30 June 2018, the Group has disposed
of certain shares in GET and all shares in Target Insurance
resulting in the aggregate loss on disposal of approximately
HK$3,053,000 recorded in the profit or loss and approximately
HK$2,168,000 which has been reclassified from investment
revaluation reserve upon the disposal.

During the year ended 30 June 2017, the Group subscribed
an aggregate of 15,956,078 GET rights shares for an aggregate
subscription amount of approximately HK$8,297,000 and
acquired an aggregate of 5,000,000 Target Insurance shares
on the market through the Stock Exchange for an aggregate
consideration of approximately HK$11,593,000. During the year
ended 30 June 2017, there were a gain on fair value change in
the investment of approximately HK$2,553,000 on GET shares
and loss on fair value change in the investment of approximately
HK$3,843,000 on Target Insurance shares recognised in the
consolidated other comprehensive income (expense), which was
reflected in the “investment revaluation reserve” within equity of
the Group.

During the year ended 30 June 2017, the investment in Target
Insurance shares was determined to be impaired and the loss
of approximately HK$3,843,000 initially recognised in the
investment revaluation reserve was reclassified to profit or loss.

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HEH A (BE)REEEER A F

(i)

R2018F6 30 » LR AEFIEAREFER
BHEBAERRAR (B H] —HRERAGEM
Emz AR B RS  8100) ML {7 (20174
BHREMRE () BRAR ([FNRR]
—FRERPAER ETZAF - RHKE : 6161)
B ) ZERMDSERBZAABRMSEEANE
BRFEDIR -

BIE2018F6A30AILEFER  AEBMEHEST
BoHBRMEMERMRER D EELEBERZ
#H #93,053,0007% JT A 1R 78 P 85 A )2 492,168,000
ATERLEROARESHFBEN IR

BLE201756A30R L FERN AEXEARBA
#15,956,078 B HH R KM (RBAELD
8,297,000 7T ) BB X AT 5 LB A K
5,000,0008% Z= iN4R B2 A& 15 - # A B 4911,593,000
BT HE2017F6 A30B EFERN - E SR
BERHEZ B 42,553,000/ T RN IR
B {0 1918 A B2 BB 18 493,843,000/ 7L 1
GeHEMEEER (FX)PRR R AEE
EEmTH [REEHHE] AR -

BE2017F6 A30RA LLFE AR - REIRIRAD
BREDHEEERDREMINGNREEGREET
R EE 43,843,000 TEEF N E B



20. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

The unlisted investment fund represents the investment in
private fund established in the Cayman Islands. The unlisted
investment is held for an identified long term strategic purpose
so the Group does not intend to dispose them in the foreseeable
future. Due to the uncertainty in the prospect of this investment,
the management considered that the probability to fully recover
investment in the investment fund would be remote and as a
result, the unlisted investment fund was fully impaired by the
Group during the year ended 30 June 2018.

On 9 November 2016, Fastek, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary, entered into a subscription agreement with the
investee and the guarantor, to subscribe approximately
9.49% of unlisted equity interest at a cash consideration of
approximately HK$28,459,000. On 24 January 2017, Fastek
further subscribed 13 rights shares of the unlisted equity
interest at a cash consideration of approximately HK$2,372,000.
The investee acts as an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries (collectively, “Investee Group”) are principally
engaged in the dealing in securities, advising on securities,
advising on corporate finance, asset management, provision
of wealth management service and money lending business in
Hong Kong.

Pursuant to the agreement, the guarantor guarantees to
Fastek that consolidated net profit after tax for the year ended
31 December 2017 of the Investee Group will be not less than
HK$28,000,000, failing which the guarantor shall pay to the
Group the shortfall in cash with a multiplier (“Guarantee”).
On the date of subscription, in the opinion of the Directors,
no contingent consideration receivable is recognised as the
fair value of the contingent consideration receivable is not
significant. The fair value at both the date of subscription
and the end of the reporting period of unlisted equity interest
and contingent consideration are arrived based on market
approach and expected cash flow approach of the Investee
Group's forecast financial budgets respectively, by reference to
valuations carried out by an independent qualified professional
valuer.

During the year ended 30 June 2018, the management
had determined an impairment loss of approximately
HK$14,717,000 (2017: nil) by reference to valuations carried
out by an independent qualified professional valuer after the
reclassification of approximately HK$7,884,000 from investment
revaluation reserve to profit or loss.

(i)

(iii)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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20. AIESHERE (2)

Hiat: (&)

FETREESENHSHERIZMAZERR
B LR EDFHER T AR RIERE iR
SERAERERIE TS ERELE - BIIRRER
RZTEENE EEER/RREZSZIREL
Fr Rl R AT BE 1R DN - Rt AR BIRE 220185
6A30R LFEANE HIELTIREESEERE -

R2016%F11 A9H - M2 &M B 2 AlFastek B3
BERNRRERATIRE RS URERED
28,459,000/ 7T 3R B IE L AR A #E25499.49% © A
201741 A24R » Fastek A 38 £ K (B #92,372,000
S TLE — DR IE T AR AR 2 A9 130% L AR A%
Mo ERAA—MREEBRARRENER
AI(AHEIEREEE T EZRERETENES
RGP BHEBH CERNELER BEEETRE RH
HEEEREREEES-

IR - FZIEIR A [A) Fastek (R BRI E S E A
E2017F12A31 B IEFEHER A FRTR AN
4 1£28,000,0008 7T * 7 A (R A B 7 A 52 B 1A
REXNERNGEASE ([ZER]) -RRBER
B EEZRR YEBRABUKARE  HERE
W ARKERFEILNEKFE ETRRAER R
FARERRBABEBMERRODFEDIER
MIGERESLE - ZBIAERBEERMEMET
HENRREEEFRIVBRENERRERE
EBIER

HE2018F6A30RILFERN EEEBERE— 4
BUAEREEGHEMETZHE REREE
B EH D L7 884,000/ T E 1B EEE R
BB 414,717,000/ 7T (20174 : &) o
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For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

21. NON-CURRENT DEPOSITS

21. FRBEERE

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
T FHEIT
Rental deposits (Note 22) Hems (Bit22) 7,954 8,043
22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 22. BHRHEMEKRIEA

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Accrued revenue and trade receivables FEETUWA KR E 5 e R F I8 1,004 917
Rental deposits Heks 14,016 11,104
Other deposits Hihizse 783 896
Prepayments TEf 5RI8 1,577 5,491
Other receivables H b el 5118 25,397 15,833
Less: Impairment loss on other receivables & = E b & Y SR IB 60 R B B 48 (7,626) =
35,151 34,241

Less: Rental deposits (shown under B HeEe (FAEREBEE)
non-current assets) (7,954) (8,043)

Trade and other receivables (shown under & 5 K H fth e YW R IE

current assets) (FIARBEE) 27,197 26,198

The following is an aged analysis of accrued revenue and

trade receivables, presented based on the invoice date at the

AT RRERESHRERAY (RRZWATER
BHEIRE) 25T IRA R E 5 B UG R

end of the reporting period which approximated the respective BT
revenue recognition dates:
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
F&T FHET
Accrued revenue not yet billed im AR R B A ERTIRA 483 468
Trade receivables: B S REWFRIE
0 - 30 days 0%230H 238 271
31 - 60 days 31&260H 168 84
61 — 90 days 61E90H 21 24
Over 90 days HBiB90H 94 70
1,004 917

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HEH A (BE)REEEER A F




22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Included in the Group’s trade receivables balance are
debtors with an aggregate carrying amount of approximately
HK$94,000 (2017: approximately HK$70,000) which were
past due as at the end of the reporting period for which the
Group did not provide for impairment loss. The Group did not
hold any collateral over these balances. The aging of these
receivables was over 90 days (2017: over 90 days).

As at 30 June 2018 and 2017, accrued revenue and trade
receivables primarily arose from the continuing franchise
income of primary tutoring service to franchisees. The accrued
revenue is not yet due as it is billed in arrears. The credit
periods ranged from 30 days to 90 days. There is no credit

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 & £2018F6A30H I-F[E

22. RARAMBKRIR (&

AEENEZRURBEEREREEREARY
94,000/ 7T, (20174F : £970,000/ 7T ) BV E R
HIPR B HA T AN 62 (B 30 K 39 i 4F R OB E S 1R B R B0
& W R T o AN 5% [ 3 4t % T S R S B (R T HE A
fn © 7% % M8 WK TR BY R i S B 1890 H (20174 -
#83B90H ) °

20184 K 201746 H30H ' EET AR E 5 fE
WD ERRAFHERMBLEERE 2R
BRBEOFFREWRA - AR EETRAR IR E
HERE - BH AR B - EEHN F30R £0H 2
Fe-mRNAFTRKEE ALY EHBERKE

period granted for tuition fee as they are normally received in EHio
advance.
The movements in provision for impairment loss on other Hib IR R EEEREGEEEH T
receivables are as follows:
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFET FET
At beginning of the year REH - -
Add: Impairment loss recognised mn: 2R RESE 7,643 =
Less: Exchange realignment R B H A (17) -
At end of the year RER 7,626 =

As at 30 June 2018, included in the provision for impairment
loss on other receivables was individually impaired other
receivables with balance of approximately HK$7,626,000
(2017: nil).

201846 A30 R » H A & U K 18 1 IRk B /85 18 73¢
BB ERRE Z E b e UK IA#RER 497,626,000
BT (20174 &) -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

23. PROMISSORY NOTE RECEIVABLE 23. BREARTE

194

On 30 December 2016, Rosy Lane Investments Limited
(“Rosy Lane”), a direct wholly-owned subsidiary, entered into
a sale and purchase agreement with a purchaser (“Debtor”),
an independent third party, to dispose of 47% of the issued
share capital of Seasoned Leader Limited (“Seasoned
Leader”), a former associate of the Group which has been
disposed of by the Group during the year ended 30 June
2017, at the consideration of HK$53,000,000, which was
settled by the promissory note issued by the Debtor.

As at 30 June 2017, the promissory note receivable was
secured by share mortgage executed by the Debtor (“Share
Mortgage”), bore interest at a fixed rate of 10% per annum
and shall be repaid on the day falling on first anniversary of
the date of issue of the promissory note (i.e. 30 December
2017, “Maturity Date”).

On the Maturity Date, the Debtor failed to repay the
outstanding principal and the interest accrued (“Aggregate
Outstanding Sum”). After the Maturity Date, the Group has
issued a number of reminders to the Debtor demanding
repayment of the promissory note.

As at 30 June 2018, the accumulated Aggregate Outstanding
Sum is approximately HK$53,529,000.

Subsequent to the reporting period, on 7 September 2018,
Rosy Lane entered into an agreement (“Loan Disposal
Agreement”) with Mr. Wong Kui Shing (“Mr. Wong"),
an independent third party, in respect of disposal of the
promissory note receivable (“Loan Disposal”). Pursuant to the
Loan Disposal Agreement, Rosy Lane has conditionally agreed
to sell and assign, and Mr. Wong has conditionally agreed to
purchase and be assigned, Rosy Lane’s rights, titles, benefits
and interests in and to the Aggregate Outstanding Sum, the
promissory note receivable and the Share Mortgage at a
consideration of HK$48,000,000 (“Consideration”).

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited &&#E (B KEEEER A A

2016512 H30H B # & & M B X F1Rosy
Lane Investments Limited ([Rosy Lane ] ) B35 37
E=7 (EREF [BEBADITVEREHHEN
i & 7K & B pi B 2 2 7] Seasoned Leader Limited
([Seasoned Leader | * AR& B E R & £20174F
6H30R LFEAEEZBE QA B EITRA
#947% » (853,000,000 7T * sZZ BT FREB A
BATHEHERE -

R201746 A30R - WA X REBEHEMH AL
I 12 B 7€ F F E10%=t B0 B0 1248 ([B {0 3%
1B EEM YRR AL EREETESRE A
FER (B12017412H308 - [RHARA ) EE-

REHA  EHAREEERNANE REFHE
(MEARYESREEE]) REHAR AEED
AEFAZELSZDESFBANEREEALRIE-

R2018%6 A30H - W AW E R AERFT /K
53,529,000/ 7T

REREHIE - 720185F9A7H © Rosy Lanef2 ¥ 7
FE=FREREE ([FEE]) REERBFERE
B(EXREEDFT L HE (ERLEEHRE]) -
RIEERHE W% Rosy LaneBE B KHFREZHE
kER MTEEEEREAERETESEE
Rosy LaneR? i AR UK B £ ZEAREE « YU H 2B &
R RB\BEEN HERE MakExs RER
48,000,000/ 7T ([X(E]) -



23.

24.

PROMISSORY NOTE RECEIVABLE (Continued)

The disposal of the promissory note receivable is completed
on 17 September 2018 and HK$5,000,000 is received by the
Group from Mr. Wong upon completion of the disposal.

The Consideration was determined after arm’s length
negotiation between Rosy Lane and Mr. Wong principally with
reference to the amount of the Aggregate Outstanding Sum
as at 30 June 2018 and its recoverability, with a discount of
approximately 10.33%.

In view that the recoverable amount of the promissory note
receivable is HK$48,000,000, a write off of approximately
HK$5,529,000 is recognised in “Other operating expenses”
for the year ended 30 June 2018.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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23.

Bl & RRE (&

HE U R N Z 8 0 A2018F9 A17H AL 0 1M
AEBERHET/KE B T L E£EE5,000,000
BT e

KBTI Rosy LaneBBE AN FREMKEE - &
RER2EHARE S EEAEN201856 H30H
B R M E AW EE (& 410.33%)

EN YR R 2 7] @& 5 /48,000,000
7T ERMEE2018F6 H30R EFER [ Hge s
B 32 | HE SR M 8H £ %R 495,529,000/ T °

LOAN RECEIVABLES 24, B ER
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#T FET
Loan receivables JEULE R 39,253 27,089
Less: Impairment loss B OREER (7,493) -
31,760 27,089

Loan receivables represent outstanding principals and interest
arising from the money lending business of the Group. As
at 30 June 2018 and 2017, all of the loan receivables are
entered with the counterparties with a maturity within the next
twelve months except for a loan receivable with outstanding
principal and interest as at the end of the reporting period in
the aggregate amount of approximately HK$7,493,000 which
has been past due and impaired by the Group during the year
with a maturity in February 2018.

ERERIEAEBEBEESELAZ AEELAS
Ko R B o 720184 201746 8308 - FRE % %
BTN S - U2 ERERN AR+ =@
AR ERRERREERNS R SEEL
7,493,000/ 7T 2 FE W E 5% (720182 A F i)
BN REBRAEERFRELRE:.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

24. LOAN RECEIVABLES (Continued) 24. B ER (&)

196

As at 30 June 2018, the loan receivables are interest-bearing
at fixed rates mutually agreed between the contracting parties,
ranging from 8% to 10% (2017: 8% to 13%) per annum
and all of the loan receivables were unsecured (2017: a loan
receivable of approximately HK$4.11 million was secured by
pledged equity shares beneficially owned by the borrower).

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its loan
receivables in order to minimise credit risk by reviewing
borrowers’ and their guarantors’ financial positions.

The Group has a policy for assessing the impairment on
loan receivables on an individual basis. The assessment
includes evaluation of collectability and aged analysis of
the loan receivables and on management’s judgement on
creditworthiness, collateral and past collection history of each
borrower.

In determining the recoverability of the loan receivables, the
Group will consider the change in the credit quality of the
loan receivables, if any, from the date the loans were initially
granted up to the reporting date. This includes assessing
the credit history of the borrowers, such as past experience
of financial difficulties or default in payments, and current
market conditions.

The movements in provision for impairment loss on loan
receivables are as follows:

R2018F6 H30H B E FIRFT K77 KA E
LN FEFEERELI0% (20174 : 8%E13% ) 2 [E
EMEREF B RMABRKERSERM (20174
U & $ 494,110,000 TABRABGZHR Z
RS EREER)

AEBNREFEBENEREER BBEE
ERAREERAZHBIRR AEEEER

A
oo
2N

o

AEBEERERELEFAERKER 2 BEZHK
B o AT {4 B 1R E W E 32 AT R B R 4 N AR
IMEERBHEERAZEE BEFRMATE
U BR RS 8% 2 FI i -

EEERKRERZ ATREIER  NEEKEER
TEREEREARERE AHILRKERER
Bxz288 (MA) -t BREFGEERAZBEY
BRESERNKEEELELRITHR

EURERREBRREBZEHMNT

2018 2017

HK$'000 HK$'000

TFET FET

At beginning of the year REY] - =
Less: Impairment loss recognised JE - BERERRERSE 7,493 =
At end of the year RER 7,493 S

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HEH A (BE)REEEER A F
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24. LOAN RECEIVABLES (Continued) 24.

Included in the above impairment loss on loan receivables
is a provision for an individually impaired loan receivable of
HK$7,493,000 (2017: nil) with an aggregate carrying amount
of HK$7,493,000 (2017: nil).

Except for the said loan receivable impaired during the year,
all other loan receivables were neither past due nor impaired
at the end of the reporting period. Receivables that were
neither past due nor impaired relate to customers for whom
there was no recent history of default.

25. AMOUNT DUE FROM AN ASSOCIATE 25.

B (=

it E FOREE B B iR BRE(E 57,493,000
BT (20174 - &) 2 (AR E R (B FE W E B
7,493,000/ 7T (20174 &) -

B Lt £ A EIRE Z FRUE RSN P A Rk B U
BN R & B RBE R 78 B 7 AR Rk (B - BE R 8 HA 7%
EREBURETRY BENCER TR
e

Bl—MBREATRE
Maximum amount

outstanding
during the year

REAFKREEDH
EEE&H

At 30 June At 30 June

2018 2017 2018 2017
#2018% 20174

6H30H 6H30H 2018% 20174

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000

TFEIT FET FAETT TFET

Modern Legend BRES 612 291 612 291

The amount is unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable
on demand.

ZREREER RERRERBEER-
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26. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 26. BAFEHAARRHEMEE

PROFIT OR LOSS

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#EIT FET
Equity securities classified as SHEREERNRTES
held-for-trading
— Listed equity securities in Hong Kong, — BB LETRAES  BATE
at fair value (Note (7)) (HaEa)) 27,071 91,126
— Suspended listed equity securities in —BBEELIMRAZS
Hong Kong, at fair value (Note (ii)) WNTE (B aEd)) 38,100 =
Financial assets designated at fair value ¥EERAFEHHABSINHEMEE
through profit or loss
— Unlisted investment fund, at fair value — LR EES BATE
(Note (iii)) (B & Gir) ) 477 61,097
— Unlisted convertible bonds, at fair value ~ —3E_EM AR E % @ 1 A F1E
(Note (iv)) (Btat(iv)) 8,998 =
74,646 152,223

Notes:

0]

(ii)

The amount represents equity securities listed in Hong Kong.
The fair values of the investments are determined with reference
to the quoted market bid prices in the Stock Exchange.

On 9 September 2016, the interest in IE China of approximately
HK$59,520,000 was reclassified from equity securities classified
as held-for-trading to interests in associates and it has been
disposed of by the Group on 15 June 2018 (see Note 18).

As at 30 June 2018, the fair value of the suspended listed
equity security represents the Convoy Shares which was
determined by the Directors with reference to valuation carried
out by an independent qualified professional valuer. During
the year ended 30 June 2018, loss on change in fair value
in respect of the Convoy Shares amounting to approximately
HK$20,167,000 was recognised in profit or loss. Such
unrealised loss represented the decline in its fair value by
comparing its carrying amount as at 30 June 2018 and that
prior to the suspension of trading.

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited &&#E (B KEEEER A A

(i)

(i)

Wyt

FZRBERERLTORARE S - REZQTE
TS ERBIMABMISEANBREE -

201659 H9R « M B 4R A Bl 8 #E53 4959,520,000
BRI BERFEEENREAEREN S BER/N—
e A B R - RASEEN201856A15H
HEZ SR (RMEEL8) -

M2018F6A30R - B EMBRARESF 2 A FERE
BRBRG EHEEE2R - E2BUAEREHE
HERDETT < [ E T - N B 2201856 A30H
LTHEER FREZRNZAFEEHEIRLY
20,167,000 TE N B MR - X FARE R A
EHRAFEER2018F6A30H R EERHAIZ
FREEMEL 2B



26. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

On 22 March 2017, the Group through Wise Action Limited
(“Wise Action”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary, subscribed
for 7,750 participating shares in an unlisted investment fund
with a subscription amount of US$7,750,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$60,927,000). The unlisted investment fund
represents a private fund established in the Cayman Islands.

On 27 June 2017 and 28 July 2017, the Group served notice
to redeem its interests in the unlisted investment fund in the
amount of US$3,875,000 and US$3,975,540, representing
approximately 3,794 and 3,892 participating shares in the
unlisted investment fund, both at the redemption price of
US$1,021.36 per participating share. Upon completion of the
redemptions during the year and as at 30 June 2018, the Group
remains to hold approximately 64 participating shares in the
unlisted investment fund.

The management had determined a gain on fair value change of
approximately HK$652,000 (2017: approximately HK$170,000)
based on closing net asset value of the fund at 30 June 2018
and recognised in profit or loss during the year ended 30 June
2018.

On 12 January 2018, the Group acquired unlisted convertible
bonds from an independent third party at a cash consideration
of HK$9,300,000. The convertible bonds were issued by Larry
Jewelry International Company Limited (a company listed on
GEM of the Stock Exchange with stock code: 8351) (“Larry
Jewelry”). The convertible bonds is unsecured, bears interest at
a fixed rate of 7.5% per annum and will mature on the second
anniversary of the first issue date (i.e. 4 September 2019)
(“Maturity Date”).

The initial conversion price of the convertible bonds is
HK$0.3 subject to adjustments in accordance with the certain
conditions. The conversion period of the convertible bonds
commencing from the date of first issue of the convertible
bonds up to and including the date falling on the seventh day
immediately prior to the Maturity Date.

At any time prior to the Maturity Date, Larry Jewelry may
redeem the convertible bonds at 100% of the principal amount
outstanding plus interest accrued by giving written notice to
the Group. The Group has no right to request Larry Jewelry to
redeem the convertible bonds at any time prior to the Maturity
Date.

As at 30 June 2018, the fair value of the unlisted convertible
bonds were determined by the Directors with reference to
valuations carried out by an independent qualified professional
valuer. During the year ended 30 June 2018, loss on change in
fair value in respect of the unlisted convertible bonds amounting
to approximately HK$302,000 was recognised in profit or loss.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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26. BAFEHARHEMEE ()

Hiat: (&)

(i) M201743A220  AEEEBHE2EANB AR
BEARAR ([EBE])RE—(EELMRERES
17,7500% £ B2 R% {5 - REEEE A&7,750,0003 7T (48
B 4760,927,000/87T) - JELTIREHE S A — A
RESHERIHLEES -

201746 4278 k2017567 A288 » N E# T
BAERERIELTIRE RS $5/53,875,000%
JL}%3,975,540F o 2 # i B R IELTIRE R
%m 7940% 23,8920k 2 Bk 1h - BERIE AE

2R 1,021.363E 70 - R E N K 12201846 A
3OEI FERXER%  AEEDRIELMREESF
B 464 2 RS -

BIBEBIRE L N2018FE6 308 WA E FEE
TE A FAE # B) YR 25 £9652,000 7T (20176 : 49
17OOOO/E7E) IR E E2018F6 A308 It FE
RIBEER

(iv) #2018%1A128 7 &£ @ A IR £ £ 89,300,000
BRI —BBYFE = HWREIE LTI BRRES-
ARBRESFTTREXELAEEER AR (—HER
B R FTGEMETM 2 A7 BRD 5% :8351) (&
XEA|) T A BRES D EIKT - 127.5%E
FEMNRFELREERTEHRE _@EBAF AR
BA (EN201949 848 ) ([REAE]) -

AR E S 2 IREHRER0IBIT  AIREET
R TIARE AT MRES 2 ERMRE BIRE
TRMRESFABEEZRIHAANELA (2
EBER) ILHRE -

RE B HAEABEA - EXEARBBRNE
EEHEEBRY REHREERNSES NES
MBZ e BOWHRRES - $%‘%Iﬂﬁ%ﬁé@]%@
AR ZREXERBED AT RRES

M2018F6H30H  EF K2R —BBUSER
ﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬂiiﬁﬁz%@I%E#tm—HﬁHx 5L

RNE A E2018F6 30 LFER BN 1E
BEARFLTARRESZATEEIEERY
302,000 7T, ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

27.

28.

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances carried interest at market rates ranging from
0.001% to 0.02% (2017: 0.001% to 0.02%) per annum.

As at 30 June 2018, the Group’s bank balances and cash with
an aggregate carrying amount of approximately HK$1,932,000
(2017: HK$554,000) were denominated in Renminbi
(“RMB") and placed with bank in the PRC, which is not a
freely convertible currency in the international market. The
government of the PRC has implemented foreign exchange
control and the remittance of these funds out of the PRC is
subject to exchange restrictions imposed by the government of
the PRC.

DISPOSAL GROUP HELD FOR SALE

On 1 June 2017, the Group entered into a memorandum
of understanding with an independent third party and other
parties to dispose of its 60% equity interest in Ultimate Elite
Investments Limited (“Ultimate Elite”) which directly held
100% equity interest in Vision Smart Limited (“Vision Smart”)
(collectively, “Ultimate Elite Group”) at the consideration of
HK$89,238,000 (subject to adjustment). On 31 July 2017,
a sale and purchase agreement was signed on the same
principal terms with the memorandum of understanding and
completion of the disposal has taken place on 28 August
2017 (see Note 41).

On 30 June 2017, the Group entered into a conditional sale
and purchase agreement with an independent third party to
dispose of its entire equity interest in Dignity Choice Limited
(“Dignity Choice”) at the consideration of HK$30,500,000
(subject to adjustment). The completion of the disposal has
taken place on 29 September 2017 (see Note 41).

The above disposals represented the property investments
business of the Group (“Disposal Group”). And the assets
and liabilities of the Disposal Group have been classified as a
disposal group held for sale and are presented separately in
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June
2017.

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited &&#E (B KEEEER A A

27.

28.

BITEBRRRASR

RITELIEN FHHF0.001%Z=0.02% (20174 :
0.001%%0.02% ) KT FR5H 8 -

201856 A30H « A% @ 48 AR {8 491,932,000
7B 7T (20174 : 554,000/ 7T ) 2 SRITAEH MR
AARE (TARE ) HE X HERHERERTT

MARBAUIFEET S LzBhLBRER, -
B2 EITIMNEE S B ELPBEIRINAR H
B BT B e 2 B S PR B T AR R ©

FEHEMHSHES

R20176A1B  AEBE-—FZBIE=TK
H A ET 4977 5] S an A 8 = &% - DAR (889,238,000
BT (A THE) B S E A HUItimate  Elite
Investments Limited ([Ultimate Elite | ) 60%/%
7 - i Ultimate Elite & %245 A Vision Smart Limited
([Vision Smart ] )100% A& # ( £3#8 [ Ultimate Elite
£ ]) - 201747 A31 8 1% B 55 R 5 & 8% 48
AHEZEHRIAGTVEERE ZEEFEDR
20178 A28H ek ( R HiFH41) -

M201766A30R A& BE—EBILFE=F
RIS B E & )  MAR (830,500,000 7T
(A F %) ti & Dignity Choice Limited ( [ Dignity
Choice ]) M) 2 PR ## - sz B T 2 MH20174
9A29H A (R MIzE41) o

PR EEHERAKRENMEREEK ([HE
HAE]) - M2017F6H30H HEHENEER
BECHEIEAFIELENLEMAS INEA
MBRREKADFEES -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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28. DISPOSAL GROUP HELD FOR SALE (Continued) 28. IFEFHEMHERE (&)

The net proceeds of the disposals are expected to exceed the HE2017F6A30H EFERN BHLEEEN
net carrying amount of the relevant assets and liabilities and s ERREREERBENEREFE
accordingly, no impairment loss has been recognised during BRl 1bt 37 4 T SRR (B B 18 ©

the year ended 30 June 2017.

The assets and liabilities of Ultimate Elite Group and Dignity Ultimate Elite£s & & Dignity Choice/ 2201746 A
Choice (excluding inter-company loan which is eliminated on I0AMEEREBE (TEIEAHFERENARME
consolidation) as at 30 June 2017 were as follows: BEROMT:
Ultimate
Elite Group Total
Ultimate Dignity
Elite5E Choice #aEt
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Assets g9E
Investment properties "EME
(Notes i and ii) (Hiatikii) 126,200 30,500 156,700
Other receivables and deposits £ th & W kT8 M ¥7 & 121 280 401
Bank balances SRITHER 1,418 8 1,426

Assets associated with disposal H29 $8 A HEHEH EH

group classified as held for sale HEHAAHBHEE 127,739 30,788 158,527
Liabilities =L
Other payables and accruals — H & ZE & fE =T & B (691) (145) (836)
Bank borrowings RITIER (23,000) - (23,000)
Deferred tax liabilities BEEFIBAE (419) (1,448) (1,867)
Liabilities associated with HAOEARFELERN

disposal group classified as HEHEEHEENEE

held for sale (24,110) (1,593) (25,703)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME

For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

28. DISPOSAL GROUP HELD FOR SALE (Continued)

Notes:

(i)

(i)

Investment properties at fair value

The fair value of the Disposal Group’s investment properties as
at 30 June 2017 has been arrived at on the basis of valuations
carried out on the respective date by independent qualified
professional valuers.

The fair value was determined based on the market comparison
approach by reference to recent sales price of comparable
properties on a price per square foot basis. There has been no
change from the valuation technique used in the prior year. In
estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best
use of the properties is their current use.

Details of the Disposal Group’s investment properties and
information about the fair value hierarchy are as follows:

28. [HHeHEMHERS (&£)
Wyt

(i)

BAFEFEZREDE

M2017F6A30A  HEHAZREMEN R FE
TRBUSEREEMGEMNE B A BETHME
BifmEe

RHEDZEALEYERGFHREREEZ
MEHEERBEMIGLEAEE - L —FEME
Rz EERMT EEE RitstZWEZATFE
B ZWEz&EREEREHENRE-

HEAEZREMEFBRATFERFINERH
FIanT

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
@ ot et it
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FHET FET FET FET
As at 30 June 2017 R201746A308
Commercial property units REBz ERMEEN
located in Hong Kong - 156,700 - 156,700

At 30 June 2017, the Disposal Group’s investment properties
with aggregate carrying amount of HK$151,500,000 has been
pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the
Disposal Group and the Group. Upon completion of the disposal
of the Disposal Group, the general banking facilities previously
granted to the Disposal Group were released during the year.

29. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

(i)

MR2017F6A30H HEMA AR EMEAKRAE
151,500,000 TEHE FHEHE AL EN
—RRITEEEHERER HEAEGHERK
% AR THEAEN —RRTEERERRE
@o

29. At EEMRIR EARA

2018 2017

HK$’'000 HK$'000

TFET FET

Other payables H M E S 5RI8 3,811 15,077
Accrued tutor contractor fee, salary and JEETEMARE - HE R

bonus and other accruals TEAL R E AL EST & A 5,827 9,028

9,638 24,105

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HEH A (BE)REEEER A F




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

=& M R

For the year ended 30 June 2018 & £2018F6A30H I-F[E

29. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (Continued) 29.

As at 30 June 2017, included in the other payables were
deposits received of HK$4,200,000 and HK$6,100,000 for
the disposals of Ultimate Elite Group and Dignity Choice,
respectively and the disposals were completed during the year
ended 30 June 2018 (see Notes 28 and 41).

HttEAREREAER (&

M201766RA30R HwEN KB AL E
Ultimate Elite%e Bl & Dignity Choice? Bll B Wi &
4,200,000 7T &6,100,0007% 7T - 188 L & =18
BREE2018F6A308 1 FE 5w (7T E28
K41) »

30. AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED PARTIES 30. FEfTRABE A RIE

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#T FET

Amounts due to a director and a JENMREEERBRAA

non-controlling shareholder of —REEN—BIFER

Able Investment Development Limited A% R IB 495 495

Amount due to a director of RN TERERRERAA
Wind Fly Dragon Int'l Limited (“Wind Fly”) ([FERRE]) —BRESFIA 5,373 =
5,868 495

The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and
repayable on demand.

ZEEFRTEER 2R RIREREEE-

31. BANK BORROWINGS 31. RITER
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FHET
Unsecured: AR

Revolving loan BIRER® - 14,400

The bank borrowings are repayable as ARNUTHHEEED

follows: RITRER

Within one year —F N = 14,400

As at 30 June 2017, the bank borrowings of the Group carried
variable interest rates at Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate
plus 1.5% and 2.3% per annum.

The bank borrowings have been fully settled during the year
ended 30 June 2018 and no balance of bank borrowings was
outstanding as at 30 June 2018.

R201746 A30R » AEBIRITEFHIL BB RTT
RIEFRIMNEFLE%R23%0FENFI KB

RITERERBE20185F6A30R L FEHEVF
18 - 2018F6 A30H - EHABEMNIRITIERLE

o

e
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

On 17 December 2015, the Company issued 8%
unsubordinated and unsecured notes due on 16 December
2017 (“Loan Notes”) in the aggregate principal amount of
HK$150,000,000. The Loan Notes carried an interest of 8%
per annum payable quarterly in arrears.

The Company may at its option redeem the Loan Notes, in
whole or any part thereof outstanding on a business day must
be a day after the first anniversary of the date of issue of the
Loan Notes and before the maturity date. Also, the noteholder
may at its option redeem the Loan Notes, in whole or any part
thereof outstanding on a business day after the eighteenth
month of the date of issue of the Loan Notes and before the
maturity date.

During the year end 30 June 2018, the Loan Notes have
been redeemed for which the Company has paid to the
noteholder the principal amount of the Loan Notes plus all
accrued interest on the principal amount of the Loan Notes.
No balance of the Loan Notes was outstanding as at 30 June
2018.

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HEH A (BE)REEEER A F

32. LOAN NOTES 32. EREE
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FHT
Loan notes — unsecured BEREE —EEH = 150,500

M20155F 124178 AR & #1TR2017412A8
6B R H 8% NBREEFER([ERE
) K& # %8 5150,000,000/8 7T - EREIKL
BE8% I EFE  WEBSTEfT-

ARREERERRBERITAZE —@ABFA
BEIPAAMNEERBROAREEERZENS
MRS - b REFEATEERE
FREBHTHER T /\EAREIHAAMNER
RERAREEERREN2A L ERMED -

HE2018F6A30H LFER  BEREIEEED -
MARRERERNERERAZERBAINE
HEENASBEMEREBRANSEN 2 BEF
B 2018F6A30R BHAEBENERSZE-



33. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

The following are the deferred tax liabilities recognised and
movements thereon during both years:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

=& M R

For the year ended 30 June 2018 & £2018F6A30H I-F[E

33. BERFAR

AT AmESFERANECHARBEILEZE:

Losses available

for offsetting
Intangible Accelerated against future
assets  tax depreciation taxable profits Total
AT B 8K %
ERRFIEN
ELEE MERARE B Mt
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FHET FET FET
At 1 July 2016 #201657518 (146) (1,247) - (1,393)
Credited (charged) to profit or FRRNBRFFIA (1K)
loss during the year 33 (1,106) 397 (676)
Reclassification to liabilities BENOBEENEAR
associated with disposal group BEHENLEAS
classified as held for sale HEmaE = 2,264 (397) 1,867
At 30 June 2017 and 1 July 2017 1#201746A308 I
2017%7R1H (113) (89) = (202)
Credited to profit or loss during ~ FRRBFRETA (HiZ)
the year (Note) 33 - - 33
At30 June 2018 32018464308 (80) (89) - (169)
Note: HeE -

Credit movement in respect of deferred tax liabilities of approximately
HK$1,348,000 contributed by the disposed group classified as held
for sale was not included in the credit movement to profit or loss
during the year.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had unused tax losses
of approximately HK$131,951,000 (2017: HK$104,621,000) available
for offsetting against future profits of the companies in which the
losses arose. As at 30 June 2017, deferred tax assets have been
recognised in respect of approximately HK$2,403,000 of such tax
losses and had been reclassified to liabilities associated with disposal
group classified as held for sale. As at 30 June 2018, no deferred
tax assets have been recognised in respect of tax losses due to
unpredictability of future profit streams. All tax losses can be carried
forward indefinitely.

SIA RN B B A 2 4 141,348,000 T
EREEEOREERDL AR AFNBBANEER
BT-

RI|ERAR REES RS AHIAEEL131,951,000
P& 7T (20174 : 104,621,000 7T ) o] B AR S E £ 518
NAIMARRE F - R2017F6A30R BLEHBEEE
B RTIA R 18 402,403,000/ ST HER I ST 9 M B
DERFELENHEAARENAE -N2018%6A
308 - A AR SR TR A AT TR - WM B BIRE
ERREEVIAEE - MERBEBRENERAMEE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME

For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

34. PROVISION FOR LONG SERVICE PAYMENTS 34. R &R
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ETT FET
At beginning of the year REA] 1,599 1,857
Credited to profit or loss during the year FFAFRNER (295) (175)
Reductions arising from payments NREA 2R (37) (83)
At end of the year RER 1,267 1,599
The provision for long service payments is based on the R S BEDRER RSO K EMETE
best estimate of the future payments required to settle the - MARRSRTDAREERBEE B EBIGOI
obligations under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance in AEBERENEEBARENET-
relation to the employees of the Group in Hong Kong.
35. SHARE CAPITAL 35. &
Number
of shares Amount
Bin @ E &8
HK$'000
FET
Authorised EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each R TE1E0.05/%8 7T /Y 58 A%
At 1 July 2016, 30 June 2017 and MR20165F7H1H 20176 A308 &
30 June 2018 20186 A30H 6,000,000,000 300,000
Issued and fully paid BE#FTR#HE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each &I E1E0.05/%8 7T /Y 58 A%
At 1 July 2016 R2016%F7AH1H 456,314,880 22,816
Issue of shares upon placing on 2016104 25H
25 October 2016 (Note) WREBRMDEEIT (HaE) 91,256,000 4,563
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each AR E(E0.057%8 7T /Y & 3 A%
At 30 June 2017 and MR20179F6 A308 &
30 June 2018 2018%F6 A30H 547,570,880 27,379

206 Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited E&#E (R )R E EE AR A A



35.

36.

SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)
Note:

On 25 October 2016, an aggregate of 91,256,000 ordinary shares
of HK$0.05 each were issued to not less than six placees, who and
whose ultimate beneficial owners were independent third parties, at a
placing price of HK$0.663 per share. The net proceeds from placing
are approximately HK$58.25 million. The net proceeds were used as
general working capital of the Group and/or for financing the Group’s
future investment opportunities (including but not limited to property
investment and/or securities investment) as intended.

The shares issued rank pari passu with other shares of the
Company in issue in all respects. None of the Company or its
subsidiaries repurchased, sold, redeemed or cancelled any of
the Company’s shares during the years ended 30 June 2018
and 2017.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has a share option scheme (“Share Option
Scheme”) which was adopted pursuant to a resolution
in writing of all shareholders passed on 11 June 2011
(“Adoption Date”). The purposes of the Share Option
Scheme are to attract and retain the best available personnel
and to provide additional incentives or rewards to full time
or part-time employees, Directors (whether executive or
non-executive), consultants, supplier, customer, joint venture
partner, business associates and advisor (professional or
otherwise) of the Company for their contribution to the
Company and to promote the Company’s success. The
Share Option Scheme became effective on 4 July 2011
(“Effective Date”). Subject to earlier termination by the
Directors and approved in advance by the shareholders in a
general meeting, the Share Option Scheme shall be valid and
effecting for a period commencing from the Effective Date and
expiring at 5:00 p.m. on the business day preceding the tenth
anniversary of the Adoption Date.

The total number of shares of the Company available for
issue under the Share Option Scheme must not in aggregate,
exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the Company at the
Effective Date.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 30 June 2018 & £2018F6A30H I-F[E

35.

36.

(2 E P
X

2016107250 + & 91,256,000/ &I E H0.057%
T E B E R T R0.663E TR BB ET T AR
AN (RERRE2EREGEBEANRBIFE=
77) - B A5 SRR H 88 4)58,250,00078 7T ° FT{S 5B
ERAFEAEEN —RLELES R/ IAEXEEHRK
RRE#E (BEETRAYERER REHKRE)

RHES-

BERTBRORMBETEERARREEITZEM
P fn ZF B R F AL - R EE20185F M2017F6 A
0B LEFE - ARAAHEMBRRAMERBELD - B
& BEKEHEIMARRRRD -

R B fE &t B

AREBEREIRRMN2011F6 4118 ([FHH
H1]) mENEERRRRMBAE S ([BE
rE]) -BEREREEERSI MBRERERT
ERAARNEHAGEEES EF (BRAT
HIETT) AN HER FF AEBH X
BRHLER (FEREM)RHBINERHHD
HAREREHARRMENETR LRER
RAMRY) - BT 8IN2011F7 A48 (TERK
BRI £ AR 8IS B £ B HIE 2R A
HEIE HEFRERA T F R EERR A
B HAREFERSRRNBERAE LFE
BERBR THRER L

RIBEBAE S AR BT 2 AR RN BBAE K
FEBEARRNER A D HITRAZ10% -
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For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The maximum number of shares issuable upon exercise of
the options which may be granted under the Share Option
Scheme (including exercised, cancelled or outstanding
options) to each participant (other than a substantial
shareholder, chief executive or director as explained below) in
any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share
capital of the Company for the time being. Any further grant of
share options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’
approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a Director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their
respective associates (as defined under the Listing Rules),
are subject to approval in advance by the independent
non-executive Directors (excluding any independent
non-executive Director who is the grantee of the options).
In addition, any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive Director of the
Company, or to any of their respective associates, in excess of
0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue with an aggregate
value (based on the closing price of the Company’s shares
at the date of the grant) in excess of HK$5,000,000, in the
12-month period up to and including the date of grant, are
subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted in
writing by a participant within 21 days from the date of
offer upon payment of a nominal consideration of HK$1 by
the grantee. No consideration is payable on the grant of an
option. The exercise period for the share options granted is
determined by the Directors, which period may commence
from the date of acceptance of the offer for the grant of share
options but shall end, in any event, not later than 10 years
from the date of the conditional adoption of the Share Option
Scheme by the shareholders subject to the provisions for early
termination under the Share Option Scheme.

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited &&#E (B KEEEER A A

36. R MEEtE (&)

PER+ 8 A SR A RRER R B TR T
BUZEE (TEETITXMlz T ERE T2
TTBRABRESR) 2BRE (BREDITE EiHk
WIARTTE Z BB ) T M A BT Z I 8RB
FRTABBBARAERESHETRAZI% -
Hitt ERZEE— PR EBREARRRAS
LS BOR A -

AARRESE TBTRABRTERRIKSE
EEZEMBEAL(ERERLETRADETE
REBRELEDSBUINTES (TEHEIRE
PR B IEITES ) #f - N
WEREERLBH (BHR%ZEB) L+ A H
A RTFARA T ERRIBILIFNTESERK
BESBZEABEA LT ZERBEREBLAR
A BTN 201%8@E (RERLEBAR
ARy 2 W T (B 58 ) #87815,000,000% 7T - RlIZA
EREREAE EEGIRERAE -

RERAFGRIBTZz2EREER 2EETR
ZXNRHEF2IEANEHERNERBREZZ
H-BELBREBAXNRE-EROBEREZ
TEARERRE  ZHE TR R AR BERE
ZEHNBEHFS  BEROAIARBERB RER
BB RT3 A R THFEARK L YAXER
TR T 2R R AR L IRICPTARRR -



36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Details of the share options granted under the Share Option
Scheme to Directors, employees, consultants and other

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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36. ERREER (&

FARBEREAEANARAES EBR &H
AREMAEBERBRER D ZBRERKRENF

eligible participants of the Company during the year and NETIE R E 2 EB)FFI5m T
movement in such holding during the year are as follows:
Exercisable ~ Qutstanding Granted Lapsed Exercised  Outstanding Lapsed Exercised  Outstanding
price at 1 July during during during at 30 June during during at 30 June
Date of grant Exercisable period per share 2016 the year the year the year 2017 the year the year 2018
20165 2017 R2018F
7R1A 6A30R 6A30R
idil:b fTEs BRITER R FRBH EREN ERiTE BFTE EREN ERiTE BFTE
Directors 2012017 23.01.2017 10 22.01.2018 1142 - 10,144,000 - - 10144000  (10,144,000) - -
EZ 1751823A 1751ABAE
N18F1A2A
Employegs 2012017 23.01.2017 10 22.01.2018 1142 - 25343488 - - 5343488 (25,343488) - -
E8 1751823A 1751ABAE
N18F1A2A
Consultant 2012017 23.01.2017 10 22.01.2018 1142 - 5,072,000 - - 5,072,000 (5,072,000) - -
EHA 1751823A 1751ABAE
N18F1A2A
Others 2012017 23.01.2017 10 22.01.2018 1142 - 5,072,000 - - 5,072,000 (5,072,000) - -
i 1751823A 1751ABAE
N18F1A2A
Total
&t - 45634 - - 45631488 (45,631,488) S S
Exercisable at end of the year
RERTAR - 45,631,488 =
Weighted average exercise price (HK$)
ETHEE () - 1142 - - 1142 - - 1142

During the year ended 30 June 2017, 35,487,488 options
were granted to the Group’s Directors and employees on
23 January 2017. The Group recognised total expense of
approximately HK$10,647,000 for the year ended 30 June
2017 in profit or loss in relation to share options granted by
the Company to the Group’s Directors and employees. The
weighted average fair value of share options granted to the
Group’s Directors and employees during the year ended
30 June 2017 at measurement date was approximately
HK$0.3 per option.

During the year ended 30 June 2017, 10,144,000 options
were granted to other parties on 23 January 2017. The fair
value of the share options granted to other parties amounted
to approximately HK$2,921,000 has been recognised in profit
or loss for the year ended 30 June 2017.

#H E2017F6H30R IEFE AN 35,487,488 &
fE#E B R2017F 123 B FAEBEE M E
B AEERARABETAEEEEZREENE
REAERE 220176 A30H I FE M8 R M
48 %E #710,647,0007 7T - B £2017F6 4308
IFFEERTASBEZESZREENERENRTER
HOMEF A TFENETHEREIE T

E Z=2017%6A308 IEF E A - 10,144,00017 fE
BRECR2017F1ABRFHEM S -HFH
ftb 75 B9 BB AR 4 A F (B 492,921,000 TR E &
20176 A30R L F EEm=FHER -
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The share options of the Group are accounted for equity
share-based payment under HKFRS 2.

Options granted are fully vested at the date of grant.

The fair values of the share options granted to Directors and
employees were calculated using the binomial option pricing
model. The inputs into the binomial option pricing model were
as follows:

Date of grant
FHAH

36. AR (2)

AEENBRERBER SV RS EAFE2HRA
ARY| R AR D M ER Z 5K

PR BRENIR L A RERBEE -
BRTE=EREENBREZ A TFETER BN

HEFEEXTUAE B HREEERAT
R AR T :

23 January 2017
2017%1A23H

Closing share price at the date of grant
Exercise price T fE
Contractual option life
2 [ B M) 2

FEBE R

Risk-free rate

Annualised dividend yield

Expected volatility of underlying share
Expected exercise multiple

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical
volatility of the Company’s share price over the most recent
period commensurate with the expected life of the share
options.

The fair values were calculated by an independent qualified
professional valuer.

During the year ended 30 June 2018, total of 45,631,488

share options were lapsed. As at 30 June 2018, no share
options were outstanding (2017: 45,631,488 share options).

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HEH A (BE)REEEER A F

R B HR O K E

B #I BB R F

A8 A R 1) O B H O
BHITEER

HK$1.110/% 7T
HK$1.1427% 7T
1 yearsE
0.850%

0%

79.829%
1.60X-2.47X

TEHTR MR T8 A AR 2 RIRUE 70 £ 8 M T8 1 47 1
BRSO RN E L RIBEE -

RFEDR—BBULEEBERMEM T A
o

Bl E20185F6 A30H It FE A - & $£45,631,488
DEEARE R KK - FR20185F6 H30H - I (5 R1T
{7 /O B8 A 4 (20174F - 45,631,488 fE i) -



37. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Group as lessee

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
commitments for the following future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases to mainly
independent third parties in respect of rented premises which
fall due as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME

For the year ended 30 June 2018 & £2018F6A30H I-F[E

37. BEHARIE
FRESFEA
R|BEMR - AEERE AT HHEEHEHRE
EMETZRBULE = MR RRKER A
ERIHRERWT :

2018 2017

HK$’000 HK$'000

TFE&T FET

Within one year —FR 38,159 31,793
In the second to fifth years inclusive F_FEFERF

(BEEMEREEN) 48,816 46,590

86,975 78,383

Leases are negotiated and rentals are fixed for lease terms of
one to four (2017: one to five) years.

The Group as lessor

As at 30 June 2017, the Group had contracted with tenants
for the following future minimum lease payments under

MOREEEABETHES HHRANA—EW4E
(2017F : —&=RHF) o

FRESHEA

R2017F6A30R AEBEEB L RN A THR
AN TR REEEHER TR ARRKEHEEFT

non-cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows: NEH:
2017
HK$000
FET
Within one year —FR 2,683
In the second to fifth years inclusive F_FEFRF (HEMEREENR) 2,632
SFolis)

Leases were negotiated and rentals were fixed for lease terms
of one to three years.

As at 30 June 2017, all leased properties were classified as
assets associated with disposal group classified as held for
sale (see Note 28) and the disposal of the Disposal Group
has been completed during the year ended 30 June 2018.
As a result, the Group, as lessor, has no future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases as at
30 June 2018.

HOgEpEs Hele BHA/R—ZE2=F-

R201756 A30R - IEHEME IR REDE
RFHELE 2 HEASHENEE (RHE28) -
HEASNHHED KRB E2018F6 30 LFE
sEAK o E It - 1201856 A30H - A% E (1R
A WA HEHE 2 HEH TR R K&K
B -
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38. COMMITMENTS 38. #&iE
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#T FET
Capital expenditure contracted for but not ~ FLEF] #1BE KRR
provided in the consolidated financial AV BHmES

statements in respect of: BEHEARRYE

— capital injection in a joint venture (Note) —-R—EEERFNTE (MiF) - 9,750

Note:

The joint venture has been disposed of by the Group on 15 June
2018 and upon completion of the disposal, the Group has been
released from the commitment of capital injection in the joint venture
(see Note 19).

39. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities
are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will
be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash
flows as cash flows from financing activities.

39%

Hiat

REBE N2018F6AISH L ESE AR HETK
& AEBERBRMEERNREENHREE (RHFEL9) -

mEEIDEERADHIR

TRHINAKERETHAELABNES B
EReEMIFASEH -RETHAELABLR
EREARKBEEREBINAKEGRREERE
ENBRBMERPMRRERENAR-

Amounts
due to Promissory
related Bank Loan note
parties borrowings notes payable Total
fEft Mt
WBARE BITER AERRE RRARRE it
(Note 30) (Note 31) (Note 32)
(HK#30) (Wi31) (K##32)
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
AT THET TAT FET FET
At beginning of the year RER 495 14,400 150,500 - 165,395
Repayments of loans, promissory note, B2 B F AL EE EFAR
borrowings and to related parties EREBATE (158) (14,400) (150,000) (29,000) (193,558)
Interest paid BHFE - (114) (3,570) (210) (3,894)
Non-cash changes: IH2EE:
Finance costs AN - 135 3,070 210 3415
Arising from acquisition of subsidiaries K EYEN B AR 5,531 = = 29,000 34,531
Others it - (21) = = (21)
At end of the year REXR 5,368 - - = 5,868
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FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 & £2018F6A30H I-F[E

40. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES AND 40. BB 2 FI R R & B

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
(a) Acquisition of subsidiaries and business

(a) WMEE20185F6A30H Lk 5F B U g b

combinations during the year ended

30 June 2018

On 13 September 2017, the Group acquired the entire
issued shares of Wisdom Union Holdings Limited
(“Wisdom Union”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
“Wisdom Union Group”) from an independent third
party at a consideration of HK$4,200,000 which was
settled by offsetting the loan receivable borrowed by the
vendor from the Group in prior years. The acquisition
was completed on 13 September 2017 and Wisdom
Union became an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company upon completion of acquisition. Wisdom Union
Group is principally engaged in provision of IT solutions
in Hong Kong.

On 30 April 2018, the Group acquired the entire
issued shares of Wind Fly from an independent
third party at a consideration of HK$34,000,000, in
which HK$5,000,000 was settled by cash and the
remaining HK$29,000,000 was settled by issuance of a
promissory note (“Promissory Note Payable”) by Diligent
Lush Holdings Limited (“Diligent Lush”), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, to the vendor.
The Promissory Note Payable bore interest at a rate
of 5% per annum and shall be repayable on 3 August
2018, subject to early repayment at the sole discretion
of Diligent Lush. The Promissory Note Payable was fully
repaid on 22 June 2018. Wind Fly is principally engaged
in provision of dance tuition services in Hong Kong.

The primary reason for the above acquisitions was for
the expansion of the Group’s business and to increase
returns to its shareholders.

BLoRRRESH

R201749R 138 A& EE —BBIUFE
=77 Y B Wisdom Union Holdings Limited
(TWisdom Union |) R EK B A7 (#7E
[Wisdom Union% & |) 892 & E 21715 -
R1E 54,200,000 T ZRECBBIKHEE
FREMFERAAEEEBSNERERE
B -z W B R20174F9A 138 52K I iE
A& - Wisdom Union 2 5k BN A B K
2 &K B AT > Wisdom UnionEB =B &S
BREREEMBREBRATRER-

20184 A30R  AEER —EBUE=
THETERENEMSETRD RER
34,000,000/ 7T * £ H15,000,0007% T AR &
St I #229,000,00078 TT A AR 2 A H 42
2EMBRRANHERARAR ([FH])
MENBRTALERR ([BNALRE])X
o B AR RBRIRE N XR5%5H B AL AR
201858 A3RMEE R B A 2R TEIRA
B BNAGRBEEN2018F6A22A %
BEE  TERRIECTBULEREEE
BERBES -

B EENERZRABBARKENE
75 3t 4 N AR 12 % -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

40. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES AND
BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued)

(a) Acquisition of subsidiaries and business

40. BB ATRREH S (&

(a) WHEE20185F6A30H Lk 5F B U i b

combinations during the year ended BAFIRRBAH (£)
30 June 2018 (Continued)
Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of RIGBAFTKBHEERBEMAE
acquisition
Wisdom
Union Group Wind Fly Total
Wisdom
Union$k E TERAE #gt
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET F#ET FET
Assets EE
Property, plant and W BER
equipment Rt 143 3,788 3,931
Intangible assets mEEE 2,960 = 2,960
Trade and other receivables & 5 & H fth fE U5 IE 390 14,095 14,485
Cash and cash equivalents HR&ENEREFEY 154 1,688 1,842
Liabilities &8
Other payables and accruals ~ E ftb FE T 5K I8 R FE 5+ & A (6) (1,364) (1,370)
Deferred income EIEU A - (4,124) (4,124)
Amount due to a related party F&1FBEES 75 5018 = (5,531) (5,531)
Fair value of identifiable net B Y8 A &5l # & EHY
assets acquired NS 3,641 8,552 12,193
Goodwill i 559 25,448 26,007
Total consideration wRE 4,200 34,000 38,200

The fair value of receivables acquired approximated
the gross contractual amounts. The best estimate
at acquisition date of the contractual cash flows not
expected to be collected was nil.

214 Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited EF&#E (R )& EE AR QA
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FEMBERME

For the year ended 30 June 2018 & £2018F6A30H I-F[E

40. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES AND 40. BB ATIRREBE SO (£
BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued)
(a) Acquisition of subsidiaries and business (a) REFE20185F6H30H LEF E U iEbs
combinations during the year ended BAFIREBAH (£)
30 June 2018 (Continued)
Net cash inflow (outflow) arising on acquisitions KEBEERR LKA () B8
Wisdom
Union Group Wind Fly Total
Wisdom
Union$k TEREE st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
F#&IT F#EIT F#&IT
Purchase consideration BERE (4,200) (34,000) (38,200)
Less: Cash and cash BT EER S R
equivalents acquired BeZEEY 154 1,688 1,842
Offset with loan receivable I £ e I B 3R 4,200 = 4,200
Issuance of promissory note 1T B AN RE
payable - 29,000 29,000
154 (3,312) (3,158)
Goodwill arose from the above acquisitions because the BARE R A B IE SR E - Bt bt
cost of the combination included a control premium. WHEEBEELEEE I meaHIAHR
In addition, the consideration paid for the combination BERREEWEREHBEIE - AR -
effectively included amounts in relation to the benefit RRMIGEREAEEANBEERNZO S
of expected synergies, revenue growth, future market Bo-ZEMNmRA AN RNERLEENTE
development and the assembled workforce of the RIZEM R LA ERER -

Group's business. These benefits are not recognised
separately from goodwill because they do not meet the
recognition criteria for identifiable intangible assets.

None of the goodwill arising on these acquisitions is ZEWEEHEHELENEBE TENH
expected to be deductible for tax purposes. I8 -

The acquisition-related costs of approximately F WS Z BRI AN49124,000 BTTER
HK$124,000 were recognised as expenses in the current Hi @ e ABRAERY -

year, within other operating expenses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME

For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

40. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES AND
BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued)

(a) Acquisition of subsidiaries and business

combinations during the year ended

30 June 2018 (Continued)

Impact of acquisitions on the results of the Group

The acquired subsidiaries contributed approximately
HK$2,440,000 to the Group’s revenue and resulted loss
of approximately HK$5,824,000 for the period between
the respective dates of acquisition and the end of the
reporting period.

Had the above acquisitions been effected at the
beginning of the reporting period, the total amount
of revenue of the Group for the year ended 30 June
2018 would have been approximately HK$120,751,000
and the amount of the loss for the year would have
been approximately HK$18,340,000. The pro forma
information is for illustrative purposes only and is not
necessarily an indication of revenue and results of
operations of the Group that actually would have been
achieved had the acquisition been completed at the
beginning of the reporting period, nor is it intended to be
a projection of future results.

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HEH A (BE)REEEER A F

40. BB ATRREH S (&

(a) WHEE20185F6A30H Lk 5F B U i b

BoFIREHSH (&)

KBBHERBREHEE
BEREBEWRBEMEEREHRIEHME
FUBHBARERAEETBRMBAL
2,440,000 TR EHAEEELEERY
5,824,000/% JT °

SR LA WERRE RIS ER KK
B E2018F6A30H L FEM K ABEE
#47120,751,0008 7L MFEHETRERELN
18,340,000/8 7T - iz e E B RHEHF A - R
PBRRESBURENRERIE TRHIER
T AEEERETNRAREERE T
FERMEE ZTER -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME

For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F /&

40. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES AND 40. KRB ARTRREBESH (2)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued)

(b) Acquisition of a subsidiary and business (b) R&E20175F6A30H LLFEURFBHH
combination during the year ended BAFIRETEBSH
30 June 2017
On 4 November 2016, the Group acquired the entire M20165F11 A48 - A& B AR {E 491,000
issued shares of Modern iClass Limited (“Modern BrAkEEL LT ([hit] AEBEET
iClass”) from Ms. Yiu Wai Yee, Catherine (“Ms. Yiu”), MEARMMNEER) WBRRETHESR
a former director of certain subsidiaries of the Group, RAR([RRZTHAZE])NEHE TR
at the consideration of approximately HK$1,000. The Mol BE D MN20165F 11 A48 = - B Z
acquisition was completed on 4 November 2016 THERATEBENEEZE2ENB AR
and Modern iClass became an indirect wholly-owned RETHEZEWSRMEERI-

subsidiary of the Group. Modern iClass is principally
engaged in provision of interest classes.

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of RIEBAFTKBZEERBHEZARE
acquisition

HK$'000

FET

Assets EE
Trade and other receivables B 5 I H fth & W RIR 386
Bank balance RITHE R 144
Liabilities afe
Accruals FERT &R (8)
Amounts due to related companies FE S B B R R FIE (520)
Total identifiable net assets AR E EFEESE 2
Gain on bargain purchase SEERE KR (1)
Cash consideration RERE 1
The fair value of receivables acquired approximated the Frig g e s IBE AP EEE N B EMESE -
gross contractual amounts. There were no contractual R T FEEEZRENENRESRE-

cash flows not expected to be collected.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME

For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

40. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES AND 40. KRB ARTRREBSH (2)
BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued)
(b) Acquisition of a subsidiary and business (b) WEE2017F6H30H LLF K U BB B

218

combination during the year ended
30 June 2017 (Continued)

BoRIRETERSH (&)

Net cash inflow arising on acquisition KBEEZ R LKA RHE
HK$'000
FET
Consideration paid in cash NBEESZMHZRE (1)
Less: Cash and cash equivalents acquired 8 : FTKEE 2 IR & RIS ZEBEY 144
143

Impact of acquisition on the results of the Group KBS EEERNIE

Modern iClass contributed revenue of nil and net loss of
approximately HK$7,000 to the Group for the period from
the date of acquisition to 30 June 2017. If the acquisition
had occurred on 1 July 2016, the loss for the year of the
Group would have been approximately HK$330,573,000.
This pro forma information was for illustrative purposes
only and was not necessarily an indication of the results
of the Group that actually would have been achieved
had the acquisition occurred on 1 July 2016, nor was it
intended to be a projection of future results.

41. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
(a) Disposal of interests in Ultimate Elite Group

and Dignity Choice during the year ended
30 June 2018

On 28 August 2017, Rosy Lane disposed of its 60%
equity interest in Ultimate Elite which directly held 100%
equity interest in Vision Smart at an adjusted cash
consideration of approximately HK$89,568,000.

On 29 September 2017, Rosy Lane disposed of its entire
equity interest in Dignity Choice at an adjusted cash
consideration of approximately HK$30,366,000.

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HEH A (BE)REEEER A F

B Uk B BB R =201746 4308 1L A3 fE -
BRETBESERAEEER M ENE
A% B B 97,0007 TT - fis B 2 M2016F
TRAIBET AEENFEEREERD
330,573,000/ 7T ° It 5 & B FHE FL 5 A -
WIEER MU R20166F7 A1 R #17 &
SERERERNEE TOERREEZRE

Al e

41. HEMB LT

(a) WEBE2018F6A30HILFEHE
Ultimate Elite$R[E & Dignity ChoiceZ
g2
R201758A28H * Rosy LanelA &8 38 #18
& R B 989,568,000 7T it & E 7 Ultimate
Elite®160% 8% # + i Ultimate EliteE #3548
Vision Smart#y 2 ZRA% % -

201799 829H * Rosy LanelA &L &R
% B 930,366,000 7T i & H 5 Dignity
Choicery 2 HF A%



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 & £2018F6A30H I-F[E

41. HERB2TE (&)

(a) WEE2018F6H30HLLFEEHE
Ultimate Elite$R[E & Dignity ChoiceZ

41. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(a) Disposal of interests in Ultimate Elite Group
and Dignity Choice during the year ended

30 June 2018 (Continued) wa (=)
The net assets of Ultimate Elite Group and Dignity Choice Ultimate Elites [ X Dignity Choice’ H & H
at the dates of disposal were as follows: HNEEFENT
Ultimate
Elite Group Total
Ultimate Dignity
Elite Sk E Choice #at
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
F#T F#ET F#ETT
Assets HE
Investment properties "EME 126,200 30,500 156,700
Other deposits HEMiz® 387 3 390
Bank balances and cash RITEHRNIR S 1,634 = 1,634
Liabilities RfR
Other payables and accruals — H ftb FE 5 518 R FE & & A (740) (137) (877)
Amount due to the Group R AREEFKIA = (18,822) (18,822)
Bank borrowings IRITEK (23,000) - (23,000)
Deferred tax liabilities EERIEEE (419) (100) (519)
104,062 11,444 115,506
Non-controlling interests IR S (51,125) - (51,125)
Gain on disposal & 13,631 100 13,731
66,568 11,544 78,112
Satisfied by: FBBATAHAEN
Cash consideration BeNRE 89,568 30,366 119,934
Repayment of EERITER
bank borrowings (23,000) - (23,000)
Assignment of amount due & BT AN KB FKIA
to the Group - (18,822) (18,822)
66,568 11,544 78,112
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME

For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

41. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 41. HERB LT (£)
(a) Disposal of interests in Ultimate Elite Group (a) R&FE2018F6A30HILLFEEHE
and Dignity Choice during the year ended Ultimate Elite52 B & Dignity ChoiceZ
30 June 2018 (Continued) g (&)
Net cash inflow arising on disposal HERELEN R KA PE
Ultimate
Elite Group Total
Ultimate Dignity
Elite5E E Choice #et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
F#EiT F#&IT F#&iT
Cash consideration HERE 89,568 30,366 119,934
Repayment of BRRITER
bank borrowings (23,000) - (23,000)
Cash and cash equivalents FTHER RV EEFEY
disposed of (1,634) - (1,634)
64,934 30,366 95,300
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME

For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F /&

41. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 41. HERB AR (£)

(b) Disposal of interests in Bullish Times (b) WEE2017F6A30ALLFEFEHEX
Media Limited (“BTML”) and Bullish Times HRAEEERAF ([ KEAEER])R
Technology Limited (“BTTL”) during the year KERBEEBERAT ([ XEFARB])
ended 30 June 2017 ZES
On 1 July 2016, Think Smart Global Limited, an MR2016%F7H1H ' Think Smart Global
indirect 70% owned subsidiary, disposed of its 41.8% Limited (R E#B70%M W B R R)) &
equity interest in each of BTML and BTTL at a cash EHRABREHEENRABAMZZEH
consideration of approximately HK$419,000 and 41.8% A% - I & KB 7 Hl49419,000/% 7T &
HK$210,000, respectively. 210,000 7T ©
The net liabilities of BTML and BTTL at the date of AERBEERARAREREEBANEE
disposal were as follows: SRR

BTML BTTL Total
AR EE REERBHE 5T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET
Assets EE
Property, plant and equipment %13 ~ % K& 2% 6 31 = 31
Other deposits Hihiz® 695 140 835
Bank balances and cash RITHEBNIES 557 495 1,052
Liabilities A&\
Other payables and accruals — H fth f& 518 & e 5+ & A (33) (145) (178)
Deferred income B A (286) = (286)
Amount due to group entity BN S EEEEFIE (510) (255) (765)
Amount due to non-controlling F& < FE 5 I% # %5 5K 18
interests (490) (245) (735)
(36) (10) (46)
Non-controlling interest eI i 24 7 31
Gain on disposal & s 13 4 17
1 1 2
Satisfied by: FRATHEN
Cash consideration RERE 419 210 629
Assignment of shareholder's ¥ :EA& R &3
loan (418) (209) (627)
1 1 2
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME

For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

41. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

41. HEMRB 2T (&)

(b) Disposal of interests in Bullish Times (b) WEE2017F6A30LLFEFEHEX
Media Limited (“BTML”) and Bullish Times HAEERERAR ([ KEAEHE])R
Technology Limited (“BTTL”) during the year KERBEARLT ([KER#EK])
ended 30 June 2017 (Continued) e (£
Net cash outflow arising on disposal HEFTEER R £TTH B

BTML BTTL Total
ARREHE RNEREHE BEr
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET

Consideration received in EUREGRE &
cash and cash equivalents ReFEEYMRE 419 210 629

Cash and cash equivalents ~ PTHER® K
disposed of ReSEDER (557) (495) (1,052)
(138) (285) (423)

42. iFER

42. LITIGATION

(1) On 7 November 2017, the Company received a writ of
summons (“Writ”) with an indorsement of claim issued
in the Court of First Instance of the High Court of Hong
Kong (“CFI") by the plaintiff against the Company
and certain of its then existing Directors to claim for,
among other things, a declaration on the validity of
his appointment as a Director on 22 October 2017
and damages for breach of contract. The action was
discontinued pursuant to the consent order issued by the
CFl on 20 December 2017.

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HEH A (BE)REEEER A F

R2017F11A78 AR AHEEHREAR
EEREERRMEE ([RIVEE]) St
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42. LITIGATION (Continued)

2

On 19 December 2017, Fastek received a writ of
summons with Statement of Claim issued in the CFI by

Convoy and certain of Convoy’s subsidiaries (“Plaintiffs”)

to claim an order against Fastek, as one of the placees

under the placing of shares (“Convoy Shares”) of Convoy

conducted in October 2015, that Fastek was wrongly

placed the Convoy Shares and wrongly received certain

circular financing facilities by one of the Plaintiffs.

On 31 May 2018, the Plaintiffs filed an amended
Statement of Claim against, among other defendants,

Fastek as one of the defendants, pursuant to which:

(M)

(i)

(iii)

Convoy (the 1st plaintiff) seeks, inter alia, (i) a
declaration and order as against the placees that
the allotment of the Convoy Shares is null and
void or has been rescinded and set aside; (ii) an
account of profits and an order for payment of any
sums found to be due, equitable compensation to
be assessed, and/or damages to be assessed for
breach of fiduciary, common law and/or statutory
duties, dishonest assistance, unlawful means
conspiracy and/or lawful means conspiracy, as

against, among others, Fastek;

Convoy Collateral Limited and CSL Securities
Limited (the 2nd plaintiff and the 3rd plaintiff) seek,
inter alia, an order against, among others, Fastek as
one of the direct recipients of funds under the said
circular financing arrangement for an account of
profits and an order for payment of any sums found
to be due, equitable compensation to be assessed,
and/or damages to be assessed for breach of
fiduciary, common law and/or statutory duties,
dishonest assistance, unlawful means conspiracy
and/or lawful means conspiracy; and

the Plaintiffs seek against all the defendants (a)
general or special damages; (b) interests; (c) costs;
(d) further and/or other reliefs.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

=& M R
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42.
(2)

BRER ()

#2017F 12191 * FastekiZ & FE = M E R
ETHEAR (ZERE])RRDEEE
EHEASRERRRFMLE ZERES
Skt Fastek (1EAR2015F 10 #7172
TR (ERRG]EEFENHEFR —F
AN BETNERBERERARND R TEERE
F—EZZERERENETERBEEEN
B

MR2018F5831H ZEREHEHHE (B
FEEMM ) Fastek (1EAER—RHE) X

RIETHRRAE - &t
) BZE(F-—RE)SK(ETEE) ()

BARALBEZBRDOEEBIEE
RERHCHERBENRBANRS
(IZEMEMNBES R -—HRRRRE
B E@ER/REEEE THRE
BB EERHEEFRBFEME Y
(B BE) FastekEH M9 B B X M {E
ENFRIE B TRE2ETHER
EHTFHEZEERENES

(il REVBERAREEEARAR (F
“REREZRE) SR H (KPR
&) Fastek ({E /3 LA {EER B E 2 HER
H—2EERERA) BRIERMER
BRRSRRERRERET BBER
SREREME THREWE AR

HAETFRBRMELNBRAXNE
HFEH RIH - Hj‘%ﬁﬁEZkﬁP%ﬁ &/
EHTFHEZEERENES
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EERNEEEE OFE: CORE:
iﬁ—i&/ikﬁi\ﬁﬂﬂbm

(iii)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

42. LITIGATION (Continued)

(2) (Continued)

On 5 June 2018, the solicitors for Fastek received a
letter from the solicitors for the Plaintiffs dated 4 June
2018 which clarified that the amended Statement of
Claim (which states “re-filed on 31 May 2018") served
on Fastek on 31 May 2018 has yet to be officially filed
in the Court pending the resolutions of the Plaintiffs’
applications lodged to Mr. Justice Harris on 4 June 2018
to amend the Statement of Claim and to add new parties
by amending the Writ of Summons.

On 25 July 2018, Fastek received a sealed order of the
hearing for the Plaintiffs’ summons held on 28 June
2018 (“Order”). Pursuant to the Order, it is ordered,
among other matters, that as between the Plaintiffs and
Fastek (among certain other defendants), the Plaintiffs
do have leave to file and serve the amended Statement
of Claim. On 9 July 2018, the Plaintiffs served on Fastek
copies of the amended Writ and amended Statement of
Claim.

(3) On 2 January 2018, Fastek received a petition dated
27 December 2017 made by the petitioner filed with the
CFl, whereby the petitioner seeks, among other things,
a declaration that the placement of Convoy Shares to
Fastek in October 2015 is void ab initio and of no legal
effect.

Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated
8 November 2017, 19 December 2017, 21 December 2017,
2 January 2018, 4 June 2018, 7 June 2018 and 25 July 2018
for details on the litigations involving the Group during the year
and after the reporting period.

Given that the litigations are still at a preliminary stage and has
not gone into substantive pleading stage, having considered
the alleged claims and consulted with the Company’s legal
advisers, the Directors are of the views that (i) it is premature
to assess the possible outcome of any claim which is
pending, either individually or on a combined basis; (ii) it is
uncertain as to whether there will be any impact, and if so, the
quantum, on the financial position of the Group; and (iii) no
provision for the claims in these legal proceedings is required
to be made based on their current development. The Directors
will monitor these litigations against the Group closely.

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited &&#E (B KEEEER A A

42.

(2) (#&)

201846 A5R © Fastekiy 2 Al 232 £ IR
HHRAEREH B B 5201846 4 B R K4 -
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43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Parties are considered to be related if one party has, (@) fW—FHBRENEEM A B IS R A SRR

(a)

directly or indirectly, the ability to control or jointly

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 & £2018F6A30H I-F[E

43. MBHE XS

B ERREEER AR TSRS Ly

control or has significant influence over the other BEAFE AZFHERAEEEM A B

party in making financial and operating decisions. The

FoERERR UTRR/ ALRFRAE

management is of the view that the following companies/ AEEETERR SN A EHNBEE
persons were related parties that had significant

transactions or balances with the Group during the year.

Name of related party

BB &8

Relationship with the Group
BEEEPRE

China Vantage International Holdings Limited
(“China Vantage”)

TREREEARAR
(&)

Sun Ace (HK) Limited
(“Sun Ace”)

ME(BB)BRAA
([#raE])

Group Benefit Development Limited
(“Group Benefit”)

HERERARAA
(M&Eeasl)

A wholly-owned subsidiary of Seasoned Leader and an
associate of the Group. As the Group had disposed of
its entire interest in Seasoned Leader, it ceased to be an
associate of the Group with effect from 30 December 2016
Seasoned Leaderz & & M B A &) R A & B #) B & A A
MR AREED & H R Seasoned Leaderfy 2 Ef#E 25 -
HE2016F12A30B THEAREENEE QT

An indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of IE China who
became an associate of the Group with effect from
9 September 2016 and Sun Ace ceased to be a subsidiary
of IE China with effect from 14 June 2018
BERHPENEEEZENE QR HR2016F9H9H
XA E R A E RFTEMN2018F6 A14R 41L&
HIRFEMME A A

A non wholly-owned subsidiary of IE China who became an
associate of the Group with effect from 9 September 2016.
IE China’s shareholding over Group Benefit's intermediate
holding company was diluted below 50% and Group Benefit
ceased to be a subsidiary and became an associate of
IE China with effect from 23 June 2017 and IE China ceased
to be an associate of the Group with effect from 15 June
2018

BERAHPEHNIEZEMBE QR AN20165F9H9R KA
AEEMBE AT BRPBENFEENEEZERA TN
M HE R R N50%  REEEN2017F6 H23B & LR
ERHPENMEARMKARBEAR MERPEE
20186 A15A #&X I A& B/ EE & A R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 43. MBMBE XS (&

226

(a)

(Continued)

Name of related party

(@) (#&)

Relationship with the Group

RABS&E HEEEPRAE

Mr. Lee A former Director who resigned on 9 November 2017 and
a former director of certain subsidiaries of the Group up to
15 June 2018

TEE AIEE  KEN2017F11 A9B & E E HEE2018F6 A 158
RAEEETHEARIZAIEES

Ms. Yiu A former director of certain subsidiaries of the Group who
resigned on 1 April 2017

w2z + AEEETHBRARMNAES KEN2017F4810 #E

Mr. Chau Kai Man
BRI A

Progress Ever Limited
EIXBRAA]

Ms. Wong Ka Man

BERXKXL

A director of certain subsidiaries of the Group

AEBETHBLARMNES

100% equity interest held by Mr. Chau Kai Man
JEI R XX 58 A %5 5 100 % A 1

A director of a subsidiary of the Group with effect from
30 April 2018
B2018F4A30B RAEEMEARINES

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HEH A (BE)REEEER A F



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME

For the year ended 30 June 2018 & £2018F6A30H I-F[E

43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 43. MBA RS (&
Save as the balances with related parties as disclosed (b) PBRERA B 75 AR 5% P 45 75 B B B 05 B9 45 o4k

(b)

in the consolidated statement of financial position, the

Sh REBRFRNEBE AR LA TERR

Group entered into the following significant transactions 2

with related parties during the year:

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Rental expenses to: MUTRARZNHESRE
— China Vantage — & = 54
— Sun Ace —¥rn 860 750
Commission expenses to: MATARZ AR :
— China Vantage — g = 4,862
Tutor contractor fee to: MUTALTZHEMEBE :
— Mr. Lee —ZFghE 152 217
— Ms. Yiu —tkz+ - 91
Loan interest income from: KEUTARIZERFE
— Progress Ever Limited —EXBRAF 81 160
Rental income from: KEUTARIZEHESWA :
— Group Benefit — R - 610
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(c)

(d)

The particulars of the related party transactions regarding
the tutor contractor fee to Mr. Lee as disclosed in (b)
above are as follows:

On 30 April 2016, Sense Publishing Company Limited
(“Sense Publishing”) and Mr. Lee entered into a service
contract with the Group, pursuant to which Sense
Publishing agreed to (i) procure Mr. Lee to provide
tutoring services to students of the Group; and (ii) grant
a sole, exclusive and non-transferable licence to the
Group to use and reproduce the teaching materials
prepared by Mr. Lee for the tutorial courses organised by
the Group for secondary school students and conducted
by teaching assistants with the said teaching materials
for a term commenced on 1 July 2016 and expiring on
30 June 2019.

Pursuant to the service contract, Sense Publishing is
entitled to certain fees calculated at a commission rate
(comprising of the commission and gratuity components)
of 60% of the tuition fees net of any refund, discounts
or rebate paid by the students to the Group for attending
the tutorial courses conducted entirely by Mr. Lee
in person. If the tutorial class is not entirely taught
by Mr. Lee in person but by other tutors or teaching
assistants using the teaching materials prepared by
Mr. Lee and/or his teaching assistants, the commission
rate will be adjusted downwards by 1.5% to 8%. The fee
payable by the Group to Sense Publishing is the product
of the relevant commission rate and the net tuition fee
aforesaid subject to further other deductions such as
the costs of teaching assistants and other certain costs
associated with his classes, including promotional and
marketing events, reference materials and copyright
licence fees.

Upon resignation of Mr. Lee as a Director on 9 November
2017 and as a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Group on 15 June 2018, the Group considered Mr. Lee
has discontinued to be a related party of the Group.

The key management personnel includes Directors and
chief executive of the Company and the compensation
paid to them is disclosed in Note 11.

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited &&#E (B KEEEER A A

43. MMAERR (&

(c)

R EX OB MEERFLEEX T ERAR
ENBB TR SHFBOT

M20165F4A30R HEEZHRAB MR A F
(TBABEELMR]) RF A EERNEBE VR
BEXK B AEELRFAEORESTL
ERAEEZEREME RS RONTHE
— BEREREIAEESFTETAEETAR
BRIZEEMRENEM  LARTEERR
R MRIY HREBIREFFIEHM BT
EITHRERE  FHR2016F7A1H A%
N %201946 A308 f&@ i °

RBRBEH ABEHRERETIREE
BRHE T ERFRERBBENMERE
M FAEEOHEEE (NEREFERR-
P EM) 0% ME XA BENETER
(BREAS RARMMEEMD) - MBI 3E
TERFLEERBHR HAEMBEMIH
SHRERFTEER AEHBEYBRERD
BB AME R THLE%ESR °
AEEXNTHABEHRNERAEBRES
RFA ERF B ENE - AL — PFED
HApHE - fImnB BN ERREEAR
ENHMETER BREELTSHERESL
B 2EMMMREE -

T hEAER2017F1IIAIHBTEE LR
2018F6AICHBEASEE THB AR Z
EEk AEERAFTEETHERAAEE
B A -

ITREBEABBRESRARRERITRA
8- MRS M R L1 -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME

For the year ended 30 June 2018 & £2018F6A30H I-F[E

44. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 44. T EME LT
Particulars of Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 30 June RAFIR2018F6 A30H 2 = EWE R AIFFIBH
2018 are set out as follows: FaT

Issued and fully

Place of incorporation/ paid share capital/ Attributable equity
Name of principal subsidiary establishment Place of operation registered capital interest of the Group Principal activities
ERITRMRES/
TERBLTER i/ i BEHE EmEs FRERHERIEE TERE
2018 2017
Able Investment Development Limited British Virgin Islands (“BVI") Hong Kong US$10,000 88.75% 88.75%  Investment holding
HRRAERARAA EBRLES 3 10,000%7 88.75% 88.75% HA%R
Bachelor Education Centre Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 88.75% 88.75%  Provision of primary tutoring Services,
skill courses and test preparation
courses
SHHUZARAA B Bl 100007 88.75% 875% R EBERE BEER
Dignity Choice ® BVI Hong Kong Us$1 N/A 100%  2018: N/A (2017: Property
investments)
EBRLES & 1% &R 100%  2018% : T@R (20175 - MERE)
Intelligent Education Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100%  2018: Inactive (2017: Provision of
secondary day school education
services)
RRAGEHBARRT B Bk 1007 100% 100% 20185 : E£% (20174  REEAA
RRERS)
Modem Education (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$41,429 473 100% 100%  Provision of tutoring services
RRAE (BB ERAT B Bl 4140947357 100% 100% REHBRE
Rosy Lane ! BVI Hong Kong Us$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
EBRLES & 1% 100% 100% HERR
Sino Network * BVI Hong Kong US$13,983 100% 100%  Investment holding
EBRLES & 13983% 7T 100% 100% HERR
Wise Action Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%  Investment in securities
BE ) Bk 10,0007 ¢ 100% 100% #%EES
China Rich Finance Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1,000 100% 100%  Money lending
EEVBERAR B Bk 10007 100% 00% 8

ANNUAL REPORT 2018 &% 229



230

2018 are set out as follows: (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME

For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

44. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Particulars of Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 30 June

44. T EMBLTE (&)

RRRINR2018F6A30R 2 EEWMBARIFEH
ST (&)

Issued and fully

Place of incorporation/ paid share capital/ Attributable equity
Name of principal subsidiary establishment Place of operation registered capital interest of the Group Principal activities
ERITRMRES/
TEMBLTER i/ R BEHE EREs FREORERFEE TERE
2018 2017
Modem Bachelor Education Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%  Provision of primary tutoring Services,
skill courses and test preparation
courses
ARNELERAT B B 100007 100% 100% RENSESRE RERRRES
g
Vision Smart ? Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$100 N/A 60%  2018: N/A (2017: Property investment)
B B 1007 FER 60% 20185 : MER (20075 ERE)
Fastek BVI Hong Kong Us$1 100% 100%  Investment in securities
EBRLHS & 1% 100% 100% RERH
Central Talent Holdings Limited BVI Hong Kong Us$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
EBRLHS & 1% 100% 100% AR
Hong Kong Academy of Financial Hong Kong Hong Kong HKS$1 70% 70%  2018: Inactive (2017: Provision of
Sciences Limited education and research consultancy
services)
EEERMERARLT i3 & %% 70% 0% 2018F : EXH (0175 REAER
HEFARE)
Modem iClass Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100%  Provision of interest classes
ARETHE i3 30 10077 100% 100% REESN
Lucky Joy Investment Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%  Provision of physical office to fellow
subsidiaries (2017: Inactive)
EEREARLA 3 30 10,0007 100% 100% RRAZHBERAAREERHAE
(20075 - EX5%)
Think Smart Global Limited BVI Hong Kong US$500 70% 70%  Investment holding
EBRLHS & 00T 70% 70% RERR
Cosmic Path Holdings Limited BVI Hong Kong US$100 100% 100%  Investment holding
EBRLHS & 100%7 100% 100% AR

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HEH A (BE)REEEER A F



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

=& M R

For the year ended 30 June 2018 & £2018F6A30H I-F[E

44. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 44. T EMBLTE (&)
Particulars of Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 30 June RAFIR2018F6 A30H 2 = EWE R AIFFIBH
2018 are set out as follows: (Continued) A (&)

Issued and fully

Place of incorporation/ paid share capital/ Attributable equity
Name of principal subsidiary establishment Place of operation registered capital interest of the Group Principal activities
ERITRMRES/
TERBLTER i/ i BEHE EmEs FRERHERIEE TERE
2018 2017
Ultimate Elite ? BVI Hong Kong US$20 N/A 60%  2018: N/A (2017: Investment holding)
EBRLES & X% &R 60% 20185 : MR (0175 HEER)
Wisdom Union* BVI Hong Kong US$4,000 100% N/A Investment holding
EBRLES & 4,000%7T 100% TR REBR
Wind Fly 8 Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$19,010,000 100% N/A Provision of dance tuition services
TERE i 3 19,010,000% 7t 100% IR RESEHERK
Paramount Ride BVI Hong Kong Us$1 100% N/A Investment holding
EBRLES & 1% 100% TR REBR
Diligent Lush” BVI Hong Kong Us$1 100% N/A Investment holding
By EBRLES & 1% 100% TR REBR

L The companies are directly held by the Company. All other L
subsidiaries are indirectly held by the Company.

2 The companies have no longer been the subsidiaries of the e
Company with effect from 28 August 2017. Further details are
set out in Notes 28 and 41.

e The company has no longer been the subsidiary of the Company 2
with effect from 29 September 2017. Further details are set out
in Notes 28 and 41.

& The company was acquired by the Group on 13 September &
2017. Further details are set out in Note 40.

2 The company was acquired by the Group on 30 April 2018. 2
Further details are set out in Note 40.

e The company was incorporated in the BVI on 15 March 2018. .

Y The company was incorporated in the BVI on 16 March 2018. Y

RERFRARBEERF B -MAEMLHE AT
BHARRIEERE -

ZE AR B2017E8A28B 2 N B AKX R TR
B AR — SRR EN M T8 K41 -

Z AR B2017F9A29H BT B RA R A8 B
N - T FHIEHRHI T8R4 -

REBMP2017FIA ISR KEZ AR - E—TFHIF
BT FE40 ©

NEEM2018F4 A30 B WHEZ AR  #E—FH1E
AT FE40 ©

ZAEIR2018F3 A 16 H K 3 8 B & B B s il A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

44. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 44. X EMBLT (£)

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding
at the end of, or during, either reporting period.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the Directors, principally affect the results
or assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries
would, in the opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of
excessive length.

Details of a former non wholly-owned subsidiary
that had material non-controlling interest

The table below shows the information relating to Ultimate
Elite Group, a former non wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group together with its wholly-owned subsidiary, that had
material non-controlling interest as at 30 June 2017. The

PR E BR S R & B - BLE A B A R A 1A
HARTTEMERES

ERAVNZARBTMBLRAE NEERREUAE
BeRxEREEEEATEZHNBAR EER
R LR B AR ZHEREEEEE
BRItk -

WEEXERRUEZ RS AMB AT
ZH R

TRETIEER2017F6 A30H B E AR
#z 2 Ultimate Elite(2 B - IR BV ATIER B MY
BAREREZEMBARZER -UATHBE
M E2REEARRHEYHEATZ S/ -

summarised financial information below represents amounts
before intragroup eliminations.

Place of incorporation/ Proportion of ownership Profits allocated to Accumulated
principal place interests held by the non-controlling non-controlling
Name of subsidiary of business non-controlling interest interest interest
e/ FEREBFEHL
HELRRE FEEEHE HARERHILA REEFRREGHET RIFRER
For the For the
period from period from
1uly2017t0  1July 201710
2018 2017 28 August 2018 30 June 2017 2018 2017
R2017% R2017F
TR1AZE2018% 7AIHZENIE
2018 2017 8A28AHME 64308 2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET TE7 FET TE7
Uttimate Elite Group BVI/Hong Kong N/A 40% 105 2415 N/A 51,020
Ulimate EliteZE AERUEE/EE TR Sl
Individually immaterial subsidiaries with non-controlling interests (510) (419)
EREG RGN AEANBAR
(510) 50,601
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME

For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F /&

44. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 44. T EMBLE (&)
Details of a former non wholly-owned subsidiary HAEXFEREREZMIIFZRMELT
that had material non-controlling interest ZHEE (&)
(Continued)
Ultimate Elite Group Ultimate Elite3% &
As at
30 June 2017
20174
6H30H
HK$'000
FET
Current assets MENVEE 24 592
Non-current assets IERBEE 126,200
Current liabilities nEaE 23,817
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 419
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 72 &) A A FE{G s 75,536
Non-controlling interest JEIE R i 51,020
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME

For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

44. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 44. TEMBAT (&
Details of a former non wholly-owned subsidiary BAEXFEREREZMIIFZRMELT
that had material non-controlling interest ZHEE (&)
(Continued)
Ultimate Elite Group (Continued) Ultimate Elite 558 (4 )
2017
HK$'000
FET
Revenue WA 651
Profit for the year F N K 6,039
Other comprehensive income for the year FRNEMEEKE -
Total comprehensive income for the year FAREENE LR 6,039
Profit attributable to owners of the Company XA & A A FEAG % K 3,624
Profit attributable to the non-controlling FE 20 A% 4 25 PR A i
interest 2,415
Profit for the year F R 6,039
Total comprehensive income attributable to RN QA BB A JE(h 2 k5 4258
owners of the Company 3,624
Total comprehensive income attributable to  FEIZ I AE S FE(E 2 UK 4250
non-controlling interest 2,415
Total comprehensive income for the year FAZHER=BEE 6,039
Dividend paid to non-controlling interest BB ERRE =
Net cash outflow from operating activities LSRR L FEE (22,090)
Net cash outflow from investing activities KREESHFAENIR ML FEE -
Net cash inflow from financing activities MEEEFENRESRAFE 22,886
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents R4 &84 S EW1E hiH5E 796
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FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 & £2018F6A30H I-F[E

45. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS 45. B iEFIEHE

The Group operated a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(“MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance.
The assets of the MPF Scheme were held separately
from those of the Group in funds under the control of an
independent trustee. Under the rules of the MPF Scheme,
the employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the scheme at rate specified in the rules.
The only obligation of the Group with respect of MPF Scheme
was to make the required contributions under the scheme.
Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees and
each required to make contribution to the scheme at 5% of
the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of HK$30,000 effective from 1 June 2014 for
the MPF Scheme. No forfeited contribution was available to
reduce the contribution payable in the future years.

The employees employed in the PRC are members of the
state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated by the
PRC government. Each of the PRC subsidiaries is required
to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll to the
retirement benefit schemes to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit
schemes is to make the required contributions under the
schemes.

The total cost charged to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income of approximately
HK$1,578,000 (2017: approximately HK$1,601,000)
represented contributions payable to the above schemes by
the Group during the year ended 30 June 2018.

AEERBARGUERESFAEGOIREERA
BEBEERLATEAEETE (BB
g RELFENEEEB —RBIUITEA
E%MW%@E@ZS%FE%EEQ%%H R R

‘EJri'JEI’J%EH‘J'{E‘E&E{EE BRI AET
HﬂE’Jtl:Yﬁ”rilH‘EﬁT Ko AR E L RIRS A S
E’UH’E—TEZ%NFETEE%J%M’E&FEWHT e Rz
Bertdl BERERESAAREERBUWA
(XB2014F6 A1 RAMN T ABBRAZ £
FR30,000/8 TTAT IR ) 2 5%[A T &It 5R - W /| E
SR UL R AT AR FRUR SR F R A R -

R EZENERAZEFBEBNRINERE
ERREFIEE - & lﬂﬁ% AAREBENR
IR E T B O AR RENE IR B
EFRMEHRES - AEEERIRBNGH B A HE—
BEERRBEEL B HZK-

B3R A2 KGR PG 2 2B AL
007 7T (20174 : 491,601,000/ 7T ) 5 7R
i 701556 A0 L 1 L 58
#
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME

For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

The Company’s statement of financial position was approved
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on
26 September 2018 and are signed on its behalf by:

Yip Chung Yin Jeffrey
AR
Director

BF

236 Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited E&#E (R )& EE AR QA

46. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 46. ELFIMBERARERE
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Non-current assets EMEEE
Investment in subsidiaries RB AR ZIRE 322 322
Current assets MEEE
Prepayments and other deposits FENREREMES 438 786
Amounts due from subsidiaries AR NETE 248,231 470,761
Bank balances and cash IRITEHREIRS 9,750 7,498
258,419 479,045
Current liabilities mENEE
Accruals JEETE R 306 360
Amounts due to subsidiaries FES B B~ R FRIE 23,712 1,351
Loan notes BERERE = 150,500
24,018 152,211
Net current assets mEEEFE 234,401 326,834
Net assets BEFE 234,723 327,156
Capital and reserves B K
Share capital &% < 27,379 27,379
Reserves (Note) & (Hat) 207,344 299,777
Total equity Ry e 234,723 327,156

AR BRRREN2018FIA6HEES
SRERRETE YHTIALTRRES:

Tsang Ka Wai
BxE
Director

BEF



46. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME

For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F /&

46. FLTFIMBRRAR REME (&£

Note: HeE -
Movement in the Company’s reserves are as follows: AARIMFEESLESOT
Share
Share Contributed Merger options  Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserve losses Total
B iRE ERE aHtEE  BRERE L4 0] it
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET FHET FHET
At 1 July 2016 M2016%F7A1R 349,499 386,954 (28,079) = (170,488) 537,886
Loss and total comprehensive ~ FEBERZERS B
expense for the year - - - - (305,366) (305,366)
Issue of ordinary shares BTk 55,940 = = = = 55,940
Transaction costs attributable to ~ B/THTE @R EE R ZHA
issue of new ordinary shares (2,251) - - - - (2,251)
Grant of share options R E - = = 13,568 = 13,568
At 30 June 2017 and 201746308 &
1 July 2017 2017%7A18 403,188 386,954 (28,079) 13,568 (475,854) 299,777
Loss and total comprehensive ~ FEBERZER B
expense for the year - - - - (92,433) (92,433)
Share options lapsed BRI R - - - (13,568) 13,568 =
At 30 June 2018 R2018%6A308 403,188 386,954 (28,079) - (BBATIY) 207,344

At 30 June 2018 and 2017, the Company had no reserve
available for distribution in accordance with the Company Law

of Bermuda.

20184 201746 A308 » A A 7] I £ 4 # 7]
HBEBREQREETOIR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 # Z=2018F6H30H It F/E

47. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial
statements, the following significant events took place
subsequent to 30 June 2018:

(1)

(2)

Termination of contract with an independent
consultant

On 10 August 2018, Modern Education (Hong Kong)
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
served a notice of termination on Double Stars Limited
(“Double Stars”) and Mr. Siao Chi Yung Weslie
(“Mr. Siao”) to early terminate a contract for services with
Double Stars and Mr. Siao (“Contract”) dated 9 June
2015 and the ancillary agreements thereto with effect
on 10 August 2018 (“Termination”) due to Mr. Siao’s
alleged role in certain offences as charged by the Hong
Kong Independent Commission Against Corruption. The
Group has carried out measures to minimise the impacts
to students and the Group’s operations. The Directors
currently assess that the contingent loss in relation to the
Termination will not have any material adverse impact on
the Group’s financial results and operations. Please refer
to the announcements of the Company dated 17 August
2018 and 22 August 2018 for further details of the
Termination.

Loan disposal

On 7 September 2018, Rosy Lane (as vendor), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a
loan disposal agreement with Mr. Wong, as purchaser,
pursuant to which Rosy Lane has conditionally agreed
to sell and assign, and Mr. Wong has conditionally
agreed to purchase and be assigned, Rosy Lane's
rights, titles, benefits and interests in and to a loan
(including the aggregate outstanding principal sum
and the interests accrued thereon in the amount of
approximately HK$54.48 million owing by Mr. Poon
Chun Yin (“Mr. Poon”)), the promissory note issued by
Mr. Poon (as debtor) to Rosy Lane dated 30 December
2016 and the share mortgage (executed in favour of
Rosy Lane over the shares of Seasoned Leader Limited)
at the consideration of HK$48 million. Completion of the
loan disposal took place on 17 September 2018 and
the Group has ceased to have any interest in the said
loan. Please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 7 September 2018 and 10 September 2018 for
further details of the loan disposal.

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited &&#E (B KEEEER A A

47. BEMEER

BRZEEAVBREREGCEDBEESE I B
2018F6A30H BB EUTEAREE:

(1)

(2)

RIERBIFBOHEH

R2018F8A10H AR A ZEE 2 EN
BARBERHE (H%F) BRI MDouble
Stars Limited ([Double Stars | ) M EE&EB

E(ERERERERANE RATKILE
BiDouble StarsRk# AT HEA20154F
6A9R MR AL ([E4)])) REMN20185F
SAI0R MM B ([&1E]) REA
B ESRBABHIENE TRITHRAT
BERENACHHR - AEECFIUEERER
BHBERAEEERNTE - EEH I
HEATBEEANKABBETEHAEED
S EE R EEBKENERTFFE-H
BEIERE—FHE F2HAAREHA
2018F8A17H K2018F8A22H B A fff o

ERHE

MR2018F9R7H A AR 2 EM B AR
Rosy Lane (tFEAE )BT 44 (EAE
FI)FTUERHE W B itRosy LaneE
ERMHRERNEREZ MELEEEHK
HREEETEX#EERosy LaneRE R
(RIEEEELRE([FBLEEDMRMEAE
BEXS B REZFF B 454,480,000
BIL) EEE (IEREMH A)R20164F
12H30H [ Rosy Lane® 17 #) & i Z &
B 1D %8 (LARosy Lane& & 25 A 8T 4
Seasoned Leader Limited) %15 537 ) #) #8
A HEEHE - FZE Kbz - {8 A48,000,000
BT BERHER2018F9A17R A - M
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERME
For the year ended 30 June 2018 & £2018F6A30H I-F[E

47. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 47. BEMEER (&2

(Continued)

(3) Disposal of GET Shares (3) HEBR KM

On 7 September 2018, the Group through Fastek,
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
disposed of 9,570,000 shares of GET (“GET Shares”) on
the market through the Stock Exchange for an aggregate
consideration of HK$3,971,550 (excluding stamp duty
and related expenses). On 18 September 2018, the
Group through Wise Action, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, disposed of 12,288,235 GET
Shares under the terms and conditions of the conditional
mandatory cash share offer made on 31 August 2018
by Get Nice Securities Limited for and on behalf of
Mr. Wong Jing Shong (as offeror) for an aggregate
consideration of approximately HK$5,161,000. After the
completion of the transfer of the said shares under the
offer, the Group will cease to hold any interest in GET.
Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
18 September 2018 for further details of the disposal.

M2018F9R7H  REBFEBA N R 2 M
2B B A ] FastekiEBE X FrfE s EH &
9,570,000 8 Z M tn (B S5 MH]) - Br
853,971,550/ 70 (N IEENER MA@ E
F) - 201849 A 180 » REEFE BA QA
ZHE2ENBARSBRELTESFR
NER2018F8A3IHREEE F AL (1F
BRENR)RENEEEATRESRMHEL
AR A 55 12,288,2350% 5 5 % 15
BAREH5,161,000/8 7T - RIREBEBZ TR &
MR NERE AEERESBTHERBR
= - BRALENE— B FHL2HA
AR HEIA2018F9 A 18A KA/ °
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Five-Year Financial Summary

AFEHMBEE

The following is a summary of the published results and assets and

liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years prepared on

the basis set out in the notes below.

AT BAREEIE T X EMBEERRBEEDEIEK
FENCDTIRXENEEEBEHRE-

RESULTS XS
Year ended 30 June
B FE6AS0ALLEE
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FET FET FET FET
Revenue A 109,027 153,859 189,778 208,439 235,805
(Loss) profit before tax BELRT (BB ) R T (9,670) (330,112) (144,802) 34,078 (66,312)
Income tax credit (expenses) FTiSF#E % (FX) 1,438 (814) (321) (1,147) (195)
(Loss) profit for the year FE (E1E) & (8,232)  (330,926) (145,123) 32,931 (66,507)
(Loss) profit for the year AR AL
attributable to: FE(EE)RM:
Owners of the Company ZAN/NSIEZFS N (8,246)  (333,326)  (144,718) 33,028 (66,517)
Non-controlling interests IEVE R R 14 2,400 (405) (97) 10
(8,232) (330,926) (145,123) 32,931 (66,507)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES SERER
As at 30 June
"6HA30H
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FETT
Total assets EEE 316,062 586,837 798,521 364,954 233,393
Total liabilities FES=R (27,806) (221,964)  (189,649) (28,337) (21,200)
288,256 364,873 608,872 336,617 212,193
Equity attributable to: AT AT B
Owners of the Company KAREEAN 288,766 314,272 560,702 336,489 211,968
Non-controlling interests JEIE RS (510) 50,601 48,170 128 225
288,256 364,873 608,872 336,617 212,193

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HEH A (BE)REEEER A F
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